
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 
 
 
 

City of Westminster 

                                                              
 

 
Title: 

 
 Health & Wellbeing Board 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Wednesday 5th February, 2020 

   

Time: 
 

 4.00 pm 

   

Venue: 
 

 Walford-Crofton Room, Kensington Town Hall 

   

Members:  Cllr Tim Mitchell (Chair) WCC - Cabinet Member for Adult 
Social Care and Public Health 

  Cllr Sarah Addenbrooke 
(Chair) 
Cllr Tim Barnes 
Councillor David Lindsay  
 
Cllr Nafsika Butler-
Thalassis 

RBKC - Lead Member for Adult 
Social Care and Public Health 

WCC – Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services 
RBKC – Lead Member for Family 
and Children’s Services 
WCC - Minority Group 

  Saran Newman Bi-Borough Children's Services 

  Olivia Clymer 
Angeleca Silversides 

Healthwatch Westminster 
Healthwatch RBKC 

  Bernie Flaherty Bi-Borough Adult Social Care 

  Houda Al-Sharifi 
Toby Hyde 

Interim Director of Public Health 
Imperial College NHS Trust 

  Philippa Johnson Central London Community 
Healthcare NHS Trust 

  Dr Andrew Steeden 
Dr Naomi Katz 

Chair of West London CCG 
West London CCG 

  Robyn Doran 
 
Detective Inspector Iain 
Keating 
Detective Inspector Seb 
Adjei-Addoh 

Central and North West London 
NHS Foundation Trust 
Metropolitan Police 
 
Metropolitan Police 

  Borough Commander 
Darren Tulley 

London Fire Brigade 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 

Dr Neville Purssell Chair of Central London CCG 

  Hilary Nightingale Westminster Community Network 

    

  Jennifer Travassos 
Angela Spence 
 
Iain Cassidy 
Sara Sutton 
 
Andrew Durrant 
 
Sue Harris 
 
 

WCC - Head of Rough Sleeping 
Kensington and Chelsea Social 
Council representative 
Open Age representative 

WCC – Executive Director for City 
Management and Communities 
WCC – Director of Community 
Services 
RBKC – Executive Director for 
Environment and Communities 
 

  Cllr Heather Acton (Chair) WCC - Cabinet Member for Family 
Services and Public Health 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting 
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda 
 
If you have a disability and require any special assistance 
please contact the Committee Officer (details listed below) in 
advance of the meeting. 
 

   

T
 

 An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone 
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.  If you require 
any further information, please contact the Committee 
Officer, Tristan Fieldsend Committee and Governance 
Officer. 
 
Tel: 7641 2341; Email: tfieldsend@westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 



 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of 
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact 
the Director of Law in advance of the meeting please. 
 

AGENDA 

PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  

1.   WELCOME TO THE MEETING  

 The Chair to welcome everyone to the meeting. 
 

 

2.   MEMBERSHIP  

 To report any changes to the Membership of the meeting. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the 
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other 
significant interest in matters on this agenda. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES AND ACTIONS ARISING (Pages 5 - 12) 

 To agree the Minutes of the joint Royal Borough of Kensington & 
Chelsea and Westminster Health & Wellbeing Board meeting on 
16 December 2019. 
 

 

Part A - Health and Wellbeing Board Priorities  

5.   DEMENTIA PLAN (Pages 13 - 54) 

 To receive a report from Andrew Carpenter, Bi-Borough Adult 
Social Care. 
 

 

6.   LOCAL ACCOUNT GROUP UPDATE (Pages 55 - 80) 

 To receive an update from Rachel Dickinson, Bi-Borough Adult 
Social Care. 
 

 

Part B - Other Important Items Sponsored by the Board  

7.   NHS LONG-TERM PLAN RESPONSE UPDATE (Pages 81 - 94) 

 To receive an update from the Central London and West London 
CCGs. 
 

 



 
 

 

8.   CNWL CAMHS EDUCATION AND HEALTH CARE PLANS 
UPDATE 

(Pages 95 - 
106) 

 To receive an update from Katy Millard, London Community 
Services Director at CNWL & Jackie Shaw, Service Director for 
CAMHS at CNWL. 
 

 

Part C - Monitoring - Statutory Items / Other  

9.   SAFEGUARDING REPORTS (Pages 107 - 
172) 

  Adults Safeguarding – presentation of the SAEB Annual 

Report (Louise Butler & Independent Chair Aileen 

Buckton)  

 

 Children’s Safeguarding – Annual Children's Report 

(Emma Biskupski)  

 

 

10.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
 
Stuart Love 
Chief Executive, Westminster City Council 
 
Barry Quirk 
Chief Executive, RB Kensington & Chelsea 
 
 
28 January 2020 
 



 
1 

 

 

 
CITY OF WESTMINSTER 

 
 

 
Health & Wellbeing Board  

 
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
Minutes of a joint meeting of Westminster City Council’s and the Royal Borough of 
Kensington & Chelsea’s Health & Wellbeing Boards held on 16 December 2019 at 
4pm in the Lord Mayor’s Parlour, 19th Floor, Westminster City Hall, 64 Victoria Street, 
London, SW1E 6QP. 

 
Present:  
 
Councillor Heather Acton (WCC - Cabinet Member for Family Services and Public 
Health) 
Councillor Sarah Addenbrooke (RBKC – Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public 
Health) 
Councillor David Lindsay (RBKC - Lead Member for Family and Children’s Services) 
Councillor Jim Glen (WCC – Deputy Cabinet Member for Family Services and Public 
Health) 
Councillor Nafsika Butler-Thalassis (WCC - Minority Group Representative) 
Bernie Flaherty (Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Health) 
Angeleca Silversides (Healthwatch RBKC) 
Toby Hyde (Imperial College NHS Trust) 
Philippa Johnson (Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust) 
Neil Hales (Central London CCG) 
Robyn Doran (Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust) 
Houda Al-Sharifi (Interim Director of Bi-Borough Public Health) 
Jennifer Travassos (WCC – Head of Rough Sleeping) 
Sarah Newman (Director of Family Services) 
Jeff Lake (Deputy Director of Bi-borough Public Health) 
James Partis (Programme Lead – Better Care Fund) 
Hilary Nightingale (Westminster Community Network) 
Etiene Steyn (Head of Commissioning – Children’s Services  
Simon Hope (Deputy Managing Director – West London CCG) 
Iain Cassidy (OpenAge) 
Jon Daly (Bi-borough Strategic Commissioner for Children’s Services) 
Simon Brauner-Cave (Children’s Commissioner - Central London CCG) 
Ruth Davoll (West London CCG – Urgent Care Team) 
Angela Spence (Kensington & Chelsea Social Council) 

MINUTES 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
2 

 

 
 
 

 

 
1. WELCOME TO THE MEETING 
 
1.1 Councillor Heather Acton welcomed everyone to the meeting. The joint Board 

confirmed that as the meeting was being held within Westminster, Councillor 
Acton would Chair the meeting in line with the agreed memorandum of 
understanding.  

 
1.2 The Chair explained that the Joint Board had chosen three Health and 

Wellbeing priorities with this meeting themed around mental health and 
resilience and dementia. 

 
2. MEMBERSHIP 
 

2.1 Apologies for absence were received from, Dr Neville Purssell (Chair of the 
Central London CCG), Jules Martin (Executive Director – Central London 
CCG), Louise Proctor (Managing Director of the West London CCG), Senel 
Arkut (Bi-Borough - Head of Health Partnerships and Development), Sara 
Sutton (WCC - Executive Director of City Management and Communities), 
Lesley Watts (Chelsea & Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust), Claire 
Wise (RBKC – Head of Homelessness), Rachel Sharpe (RBKC – Director of 
Housing Needs and Supply), Sue Harris (Executive Director Environment & 
Communities), Sebastian Adjei-Addoh (Metropolitan Police), Dr Andrew 
Steeden (Chair of West London CCG), Paul Kavanagh (London Fire Brigade) 
and Darren Tulley (London Fire Brigade). 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
3.1 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
4. MINUTES 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
4.1 That the minutes of the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea and 

Westminster City Council joint Health & Wellbeing Board meeting held on 10 
October 2019 be agreed as a correct record of proceedings. 

 
5. MENTAL HEALTH AND PERSONAL RESILIENCE 
 

Children’s Mental Health and Wellbeing in Kensington and Chelsea and 
Westminster 

 
5.1 Jeff Lake (Deputy Director of Public Health) provided the Board with an 

overview of the services and activities that promoted emotional health and 
wellbeing and prevented mental ill health in children and young people.  

 

Page 6



 
3 

 

5.2 The Board was interested to note how a person’s physical and mental health 
and wellbeing was influenced throughout their life by the wider determinants 
of health, which were a diverse range of social, economic and environmental 
factors, alongside behavioural risk factors. A life course approach was being 
adopted which meant identifying key opportunities for minimising risk factors 
and enhancing protective factors through evidence-based interventions at key 
life stages; from preconception, to early years and adolescence, working age 
and into older age. An overview was then provided of the variety of local 
prevention and promotion services that contributed towards improving mental 
health and wellbeing and how these services were funded. 
 

5.3 The Board held a detailed discussion on the following aspects of the paper: 
 

 Analysis of data for the local population indicated that deprivation, poverty 
and homelessness were particular challenges across Westminster and 
Kensington and Chelsea. It was explained that more than half of 
temporary accommodation provided to those families at risk of 
homelessness were located outside of the borough. The Board was 
pleased to note that the needs of these families had been mapped and 
there was a good understanding of the pre-birth to 5 pathway. Work was 
underway to redesign the service and target those families at an early 
stage who required additional support. 

 

 In response to a question over weaknesses identified in the current 
system it was explained that overall the situation was very positive. It was 
recognised that residents and patients did identify the complexity of the 
offer as an issue but the implementation of the Family Hubs was helping 
to link together services and increase awareness amongst residents of 
what services were available.  

 
5.4 The Board endorsed the coordination of provision in order to improve 

outcomes and ensure the best use of resources in addressing mental health 
concerns. It was requested though that the paper reflect the trauma informed 
systemic training being undertaken at the Family Hubs and the positive impact 
it was having on emotional wellbeing. Also, given the increasing levels of 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children within the boroughs it was 
suggested that this element, and the challenges it posed, should potentially be 
reflected in the paper. 
 
Joint CCG and Bi-borough Children and Young People’s Emotional 
Wellbeing and Mental Health Plan 

 
5.5 Jon Daly (Strategic Commissioner for Children’s Services) and Simon 

Brauner-Cave (Children’s Commissioner - Central London CCG) introduced a 
report summarising the key elements of the Joint CCG and Bi-borough 
Children and Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Plan. It 
was explained that the Plan reflected the strength and importance of 
partnership working. It was an ambitious plan which set out the current 
provision and key next steps to improve the offer over the next 18 months. It 
focused on children and young peoples emotional wellbeing and mental 
health needs in the ‘coping’ Thrive category and above. The importance of 

Page 7



 
4 

 

early intervention was stressed as 10 years was the average delay between a 
young person first showing symptoms of mental ill health and receiving help. 
The Chair explained that a schools mental health event had been held in 
November 2019 which had received very positive feedback from those 
participating. The Board congratulated all those involved with organising the 
event and expressed its thanks to the partner organisations Place2Be and 
Young Minds. 

 
5.6 The Board was provided with an overview of the following key areas: 
 

 Specialist CAMHS Services – These services were delivered by CNWL 
NHS Trust who worked in supporting children, young people and their 
families with complex mental health difficulties. 

 

 Trailblazer Mental Health Support Teams – The Teams operated across 
both boroughs providing support for mild to moderate mental health needs 
in schools and colleges. The Teams also supported pupil resilience 
helping to deal with issues around academic pressure and self-
confidence. The Board was pleased to note the recent successful bid to 
become a Wave 2 Trailblazer site in the Central London CCG. This would 
result in a further 33 schools and colleges receiving support through this 
programme. 

 
5.7 An update was provided to the Board on key challenges faced including 

CAMHS productivity, services provided to 0-5 and 18-25 year olds and 
support provided to teachers as part of a whole school approach. It was 
recognised that the complexity of the overall service offer was confusing and 
this was an area which required developing for users. In response to a 
question from the Board it was also explained that the situation regarding 
autism diagnosis was developing however it still required significant 
improvement. The importance of early identification (age and stage) was 
highlighted to ensure the correct services and support were delivered 
effectively. The Board was informed that a parallel piece of work concerning 
autism diagnosis was being undertaken between Imperial College NHS Trust 
and the CCGs and welcomed a suggestion that this be brought to a future 
Board meeting. 

 
5.8 The Board was pleased with the work undertaken on the Plan and noted that 

one of the priorities related to vulnerable groups. Concern was expressed 
over the CAMHS contribution to Education, Health and Care Plans, both in 
terms of timeliness and the quality of the information provided. It was 
acknowledged there was an action plan to tackle this issue going to the 
Children and Family Act Board in early 2020 but the Board also requested 
oversight due to the importance of the work. The Board asked that an update 
be provided at its next meeting.  

 
 RESOLVED: 
 

That the Joint CCG and Bi-borough Children and Young People’s Emotional 
Wellbeing and Mental Health Plan be approved and published. 

 

Page 8



 
5 

 

 
 
6 DEMENTIA UPDATE 
 
6.1 Bernie Flaherty (Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Health) provided 

a verbal update on the Dementia Strategy. The Board was advised that the 
drafting of the Strategy was nearly complete with some final ongoing work 
being undertaken with key stakeholders to help further inform it. It was 
planned to bring it to the Board in February 2020 for comment with formal 
approval expected in April 2020. 
 

7 WINTER PRESSURES PLANNING 
 

7.1 James Partis (Programme Lead – Better Care Fund) and Ruth Davoll (West 
London CCG – Urgent Care Team) introduced papers setting out winter 
preparation plans for 2019/20. 

 
7.2 James Partis informed the Board that there had been substantial partnership 

working involved in developing the Bi-borough plan and it represented a 
significant development on last year’s winter plan. This positive direction was 
a result of more security in terms of the government commitment to funding 
winter pressure planning. This provided better visibility on potential short to 
medium term interventions that could potentially need to be implemented 
going forward. The following areas of the Plan were then highlighted for the 
Board’s attention: 

 

 Increasing reablement capacity; 

 Investment in 24/7 home care; 

 Investment in step down nursing beds; 

 Additional capacity for occupational therapy and significant support for 
the social care team at St Mary’s Hospital. 

 
The Board was advised that it was anticipated that the Plan would provide 
positive measurable outcomes and contain a high level of detail over the 
winter period on the effectiveness of the plan. This would then provide a solid 
basis on which to continue to build future winter plans. 

 
7.3 Ruth Davoll introduced the Chelwest AEDB system winter preparation plan for 

2019/20 which was a collaboration of partners across both systems that sat 
around both the Chelsea and Westminster and West Middlesex sites. It was 
explained that the plan aimed to support operational resilience leading up to 
and throughout the winter period. The highlights of the Plan included: 

 

 Reducing demand at A&E departments; 

 Supporting the flow of discharged patients in a timely way by ensuing 
patients received the right care at the right time in the right place; 

 Providing an outline of how pressure was managed in the system; and 

 Information on how infection was managed, along with details on flu 
vaccinations and a communication plan. 

 

Page 9



 
6 

 

7.4 The Board welcomed the significant amount of partnership working that had 
been undertaken to produce the very detailed plans and welcomed receiving 
comparable data in future from the Imperial College NHS Trust. It was 
considered that the plans were very comprehensive and provided a significant 
improvement on previous years.  

 
8 YOUTH UPDATE 
 
8.1 Sarah Newman (Bi-Borough Interim Executive Director of Children’s Services) 

provided a verbal update on current issues in the Children and Young People 
portfolio. The Board noted that Ofsted had recently carried out an inspection 
of Local Authority Children’s Services in Westminster and Kensington and 
Chelsea. The report had recently been published and had rated the service 
‘Outstanding’ in all areas. The Board welcomed the news and expressed its 
its congratulations and thanks to all involved on this outstanding achievement. 

 
8.2 The key challenges facing Children’s Services were detailed and these 

included: 
 

 Serious Youth Violence (SYV) – Part of this involved tackling school 
exclusions and continuing the primary health work being undertaken in 
schools to help address this issue. Exclusion levels formed part of the 
SYV performance dashboard which had been produced and the Board 
discussed the potential of bringing this to a future Board meeting as 
part of the SYV update. 

 

 Youth Offer – It was encouraging that the youth offer was now being 
connected to the Family Hubs with networks of services working 
together to tackle local issues. 

 

 SEND – It was believed that an Ofsted inspection would be carried out 
in either Westminster or Kensington & Chelsea shortly and therefore 
specific work, particularly around the autism pathway, was being 
prioritised. 

 
9 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 
9.1 Councillor Acton provided an update with regard to the proposed bi-borough 

Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) arrangements as work would be continuing 
with partners to develop a bi borough ICP. 

 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 5.47 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIR:   DATE  

 

Page 10



 
7 

 

 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Westminster Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 

RBKC Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 
Date: 5th February 2020 

 
Classification: General Release 

 
Title: 
 

Dementia Plan  

Report of: 
 

Bernie Flaherty, Bi-Borough Exec. Dir. ASC and Public 
Health  

 
Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

Andrew Carpenter, Dementia Programme Lead, 
acarpenter@westminister.gov.uk  

 
 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1. This report sets out the draft Dementia Plan (2020-2025) for  Kensington and 
Chelsea and Westminster.  The plan, co-designed and co-authored by service 
users and our communities, sets out an ambitious and practical realisation of 
Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster as Dementia-Friendly Communities for 
now and for the future. The plan is also intended to be a practical guide for all those 
who live with the condition, and for their families, friends and carers. 

1.2. The plan takes a whole-systems approach to supporting people living with 
dementia and has been developed in partnership between the Royal Borough of 
Kensington & Chelsea, Westminster City Council, CLCCG and WLCCG.   

1.3. Around 170 residents living with dementia and unpaid carers have been involved 
in developing the Plan, including via the Dementia Partnership Group and the Local 
Account Group.  This engagement was supported by community, voluntary, and 
service user groups.  Engagement took place in a variety of ways, from larger 
groups to smaller focus groups and one-to-one interviews, to ensure that the plan 
has been genuinely co-produced.   

1.4. The plan is currently being shared with governance bodies across both boroughs 
in draft for input before being finally signed off in Spring 2020.  Both RBKC’s 
Leadership Team and WCC’s Cabinet have been engaged in this process. The 
joint Kensington & Chelsea and Westminster Health and Wellbeing Board, as the 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5

mailto:acarpenter@westminister.gov.uk


formal body endorsing the plan across both areas, is being presented with the draft 
plan for input before the final version is presented for approval in Spring 2020. 

 

2. Key Matters for the Board 

2.1 The Kensington & Chelsea and Westminster Health and Wellbeing Boards are 

asked to review, discuss and share feedback on this document, so that any final 

changes can be made to it before it is next presented to the Boards for final 

agreement and sign-off in Spring 2020.   

 

3. Background information about dementia (including updated statistics 

released November 2019) 

3.1 The word ‘dementia’ describes a set of symptoms that may include memory loss 
and difficulties with thinking, problem-solving or language. A person with dementia 
may also experience changes in their mood or behaviour.  

3.2 Dementia is caused when the brain is damaged by diseases, such as Alzheimer’s 
disease or a series of strokes. Alzheimer’s disease is the most common cause of 
dementia. Other common types of dementia are vascular dementia, mixed 
dementia, dementia with Lewy bodies and fronto-temporal dementia.  

3.3 Dementia is a progressive condition. As such, these changes are often small to 
start with, but they can become severe enough to affect daily life for someone with 
dementia. This progression will vary from person to person and each will 
experience dementia in a different way – people may often have some of the same 
general symptoms, but the degree to which these affect each person will vary. 

3.4 In November 2019, The Alzheimer's Society released a new report in conjunction 
with the LSE.  This report found that in 2019 the total cost of dementia in the UK 
was estimated to be £34.7 billion.  Of this, approximately £4.9 billion consists of 
health care, and approximately £15.7 billion consists of social care. The remaining 
£19.9 billion accounts for estimated unpaid care contributions.  

3.5 Statistics from this report are quoted directly below, as the most up-to-date 
available.  These statistics demonstrate a growing issue with cost implications and 
in the context of a predicted significant change in demographics.  The need to take 
action now and consider the different needs arising is clear.  

3.6 Further information about the national, regional and local context of dementia can 
be found in the January 2019 HWBB Dementia Report attached.   

 
 
Estimated population prevalence and estimated costs of care 
  

Page 14



In November 2019, The Alzheimer’s Society published work by the London School of 
Economics that provided Local Authority level estimates of dementia prevalence by severity 
and the estimated cost of dementia care by sector. This information is presented below. 
  
Table 1: Estimated Prevalence of Dementia in the population aged 65+  - Kensington and Chelsea 
(2019-2030) 

Borough 
Severity 2019 2020 2025 2030 

Change 
2019-2030 

RBKC 

Mild 236 242 279 328 39.2% 

Moderate 458 451 503 573 25.1% 

Severe 877 942 1,233 1,537 75.3% 

All 1,570 1,630 2,020 2,440 55.2% 

  
Table 2: Estimated cost of Dementia (All severities) - Kensington and Chelsea (2019-2030) 

Borough 
Severity 2019 2020 2025 2030 

Change 
2019-2030 

RBKC 

Healthcare £8.6M £8.9M £11.7M £15.5M 80.8% 

Social Care £35.3M £38.4M £52.3M £70.9M 100.9% 

Unpaid 
Care 

£24.9M £26.3M £34.6M £45.6M 
83.2% 

Other £0.3M £0.4M £0.6M £0.8M 146.2% 

Total £69M £74M £99M £133M 92.3% 

  
Table 3: Estimated Prevalence of Dementia in the population aged 65+  - Westminster (2019-2030) 

Borough Severity 2019 2020 2025 2030 Change 
2019-2030 

WCC 

Mild 310 317 356 413 33.3% 

Moderate 595 582 648 749 25.9% 

Severe 1,158 1,233 1,599 1,975 70.6% 

All 2,060 2,130                           2,600 3,140 52.1% 

  
Table 4: Estimated cost of Dementia (All severities) – Westminster (2019-2030) 

Borough 
Severity 2019 2020 2025 2030 

Change 
2019-2030 

WCC 

Healthcare £11.3M £11.7M £15.2M £19.9M 76.1% 

Social Care £46.7M £50.3M £67.6M £90.4M 93.6% 

Unpaid 
Care 

£32.6M £34.3M £44.9M £59.2M 
81.5% 

Other £0.4M £0.6M £0.8M £1.0M 141.2% 

Total £91M £97M £128M £170M 87.3% 

  
GP data 
Locally, the number of residents recorded with a diagnosis of dementia in the population aged 
65+ is available from GP registers. The latest data, published on the Public Health England 
Fingertips pages provides the following information: 

 Kensington and Chelsea: In 2019, 1,017 residents registered with a diagnosis of 
dementia. This register is estimated to represent 67.7% of the total population of those 
living with dementia (diagnosed and undiagnosed) 

Page 15



 Westminster: 1,275 residents registered with a diagnosis of dementia. This register is 
estimated to represent 77.2% of the total population of those living with dementia 
(diagnosed and undiagnosed) 

  
Based on London-wide estimates, Table 5 shows the estimated percentage of the population 
aged 65+ that will be of Black And Minority Ethnic (BAME) by year. Table 6 shows the 
adjusted rates for the years considered. Table 7 the results of applying these estimates to the 
LSE estimated prevalence of dementia (Tables 1 and 3 above). 
  
Table 5 Estimated change in the percentage of the population (London) that is of BAME 
origin (2019-2051) 

%BAME 2016 2026 2051 

Population 
aged 65+ 

5.1% 8.1% 20.5% 

  
Table 6 Estimated change in the percentage of the population (London) that is of BAME 
origin (2019-2030) 

%BAME 2019 2020 2025 2030 

Population 
aged 65+ 

5.86% 6.14% 7.73% 9.40% 

  
Table 6 Estimated Prevalence of dementia BAME and Non-BAME (2019-2030) 

Borough Ethnicity 2019 2020 2025 2030 

RBKC 

BAME 92 100 156 229 

Non-
BAME 

1,478 1,530 1,864 2,211 

All 1,570 1,630 2,020 2,440 

WCC 

BAME 121 131 201 295 

Non-
BAME 1,939 1,999 2,399 2,845 

All 2,060 2,130                           2,600 3,140 

 
 

 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 

Background Papers please contact:   

Andrew Carpenter, Dementia Programme Lead 

Email: acarpenter@westminster.gov.uk   

Telephone: 07817 055093 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16

mailto:acarpenter@westminster.gov.uk


APPENDICES: 

Appendices being attached are: 

 

1) The draft Dementia Plan 

2) The draft Pull-out section of the plan, with local contacts and details.  This section 

can be updated regularly 

3) The HWBB Dementia report from January 2019, with comprehensive background 

information, statistics and references to the commitments in WCC’s City for All 

plan. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:   

As above 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

DEM
ENTIA  FIRST  HAND

w
w

w
.w

estm
inster.gov.uk

DEMENTIA PLAN 
2020-2025

SHAPING OUR DEMENTIA JOURNEY TOGETHER

CHANGING 
LIVES

Page 19



DEM
ENTIA  FIRST  HAND

2 3

CONTENTSTHE  DEM
ENTIA  JOURNEY

2

“I have chosen to be open about my diagnosis, or as 
open as I can be, because not everyone finds a diagnosis 
easy to accept or deal with. The way we think and talk 
about dementia needs to change. I want to be open with 
everyone, without feeling any stigma. I want people to 
understand that I am still me.   

I am pleased to be part of creating this document, along 
with many other residents. Any dementia plan needs not 
just to consult with us, but to actively involve us. We are  
all different, with different needs and different interests,  
and our voices need to be at the heart of what  
happens next, too. 

Language matters. I am living with dementia. I 
want that life to be as full and active as possible, 
driven by my choices, within a community 
that works together to understand dementia 
better and removes the stigma. I am pleased 
that this document reinforces that message 
and shows how we can work better 
together to make this a reality.”

ALISON DOW  
Resident living  with dementia

“I WAS DIAGNOSED 
WITH DEMENTIA A 
COUPLE OF YEARS AGO.”

DID YOU KNOW?
We’ve involved residents from the start to  
help us create our ‘Dementia Plan’. Over 170 
people, made up of those living with  
dementia and their carers, came along to 
workshops and one-to-one interviews.

We gave a commitment to produce a plan  
that was both for and by people living with 
dementia and their carers. 

CONTENTS
FOREWORD........................................................................................................ 02

THE DEMENTIA JOURNEY............................................................................ 06

WHAT IS DEMENTIA?..................................................................................... 08

PREVENTION AND EARLY INTERVENTION......................................... 10

GETTING A DEMENTIA DIAGNOSIS......................................................... 12

WHAT TO EXPECT FROM A DIAGNOSIS................................................. 13

KEEPING SAFE.................................................................................................. 14

LIVING WITH DEMENTIA.............................................................................. 16

WHAT’S GOING ON IN OUR BOROUGHS................................................. 18 

CARING FOR SOMEONE WITH DEMENTIA............................................ 20 

LIVING AT HOME WITH DEMENTIA.......................................................... 21 

HOME CARE....................................................................................................... 24 

CARE HOMES AND SUPPORTED LIVING............................................... 28  

PLANNING AHEAD.......................................................................................... 30

OUR DEMENTIA PLAN................................................................................... 36

WHAT WE WILL DO......................................................................................... 37 

OUR COMMITMENTS..................................................................................... 38

JARGON BUSTER............................................................................................. 40

THANK YOU....................................................................................................... 42

P
age 20



DEM
ENTIA  FIRST  HAND

4 5

DEM
ENTIA  FIRST  HAND

To do that, we’ve called on lots of people 
who live in our community to tell us what’s 
important to them and how we can help 
provide them with the support they need. 

Working with local residents, we have had the 
privilege of meeting and supporting many 
families going through all stages of dementia, 
from pre-diagnosis to end of life. 

We’ve seen first-hand how frightening a 
dementia diagnosis can be, and what a 
significant impact it can have on the person, 
their friends and family. Each of us have also 
personally experienced supporting family and 
friends during their dementia journey.  

In our Kensington and Chelsea ‘Council Plan’ 
and Westminster ‘City for All’ manifesto, we 
commit to improving the lives of people living 
with dementia and their carers. The quality of 
care and improving the experiences of those 
with dementia is also a priority of the NHS’ 
Long-Term Plan. This is in line with the Mayor 
of London’s ambition that London will be a 
dementia-friendly capital city by 2022.

We’ve worked with residents and local 
organisations across both boroughs to 
explore how we can all act to ensure every 
aspect of living here in Kensington and 
Chelsea and Westminster enables people 
with dementia to live fulfilling and active lives 
for as long as 
possible. 

We know that the 
illness does not 
define a person. 
Living well with 
dementia is about 
much more than 
just getting the 
right health and 
social care – it’s about ensuring community, 
transport, shopping, sports, arts and leisure, 
housing and more are all dementia-aware and 
can support people living with the illness to 
continue to live in our communities. 

Last but not least, we want to thank everyone, 
particularly our residents, who gave up their 
valuable time and energy to share their 
stories and shape our plan to become leading 
dementia-friendly boroughs. 

DEMENTIA
FIRST HAND

Dementia is probably the biggest health care challenge we face today.  
We want to tackle the issue with commitment and focus making sure that 
Westminster and Kensington and Chelsea are leading the way as two of the  
most dementia-friendly boroughs in the country.

Dr Neville Purssell 
Chair – Central London CCG

Dr Andrew Steeden 
Chair – West London CCG

Cllr Sarah Addenbrooke 
Lead Member for ASC and 
Public Health – Kensington 
and Chelsea City Council

Cllr Heather Acton 
Cabinet Member for Family 
Services and Public Health – 
Westminster City Council

CO-WRITTEN BY:

I was talking to a group of young graduate trainees recently 
who had joined the councils and I asked them to put their 
hands up if they knew someone who had dementia. 19 out of 
20 did. 

We will all know someone who has the condition.  
Dementia is a real and present concern for us as a society 
and, as a representative of social care and health, I want to 
draw on that personal experience to make sure all our work 
and our plan is totally person-centred and people-focused, 
drawing on the experiences of our residents to enact policies 
and commitments that will directly influence and improve 
their lives. 

Our boroughs are making the commitment to be  
leading ‘dementia-friendly’ communities and, as Executive 
Director for Adult Social Care, I want to make sure that the 
conversations we have with and about our friends and  
loved ones diagnosed with dementia are open, engaging 
and honest. 

This document is part of enabling these kinds of 
conversations and demonstrating what we are currently 
doing to support people living with dementia in the next 
few years. I am proud to say that this document has been 
created by, for and with our residents over a number of 
creative, lively and engaging consultation sessions, and I am 
delighted that so many residents’ voices can be so clearly 
heard through these pages.”
 

“I’M EXCITED TO BE INVOLVED 
IN THIS DEMENTIA PLAN IN  
BOTH OUR BOROUGHS.”

BERNIE FLAHERTY,  
Kensington and Chelsea  
and Westminster’s Executive 
Director of Adult Social  
Care and Health 

‘LIVING WELL WITH 
DEMENTIA IS ABOUT 
MUCH MORE THAN 
JUST GETTING THE 
RIGHT HEALTH AND 
SOCIAL CARE .’

P
age 21



How can I get a diagnosis?

Getting the most from dementia
-friendly spaces and support groups

What is dementia and how to prevent it?

Getting extra help at home

How to make an 
‘end of life’ care plan

DEM
ENTIA  FIRST  HAND

6 7

DEM
ENTIA  FIRST  HAND

No matter which stage you’re at, we are 
working towards making our boroughs  
a place where you can still live a happy  
and fulfilled life. We’re also on a journey  
of our own, to develop and implement a 
whole range of initiatives to truly make 
Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster 
‘dementia-friendly’. 

This is our plan of what we’re going to do to 
make sure that happens. You’ll notice that lots 
of things have already been implemented, 
and also spot what’s still on our ‘to-do’ list. 
One thing you can be assured of, is that we’re 
putting dementia at the top of our agenda. 

TO GET THE MOST OUT OF OUR GUIDE, 
SIMPLY FIND THE SECTION BELOW THAT 
APPLIES TO YOU AND TURN TO THAT 
COLOURED PAGE: 

I’VE GOT EARLY 
SYMPTOMS

PAGE 12

I’M LIVING  
WITH DEMENTIA

PAGE 14

I’M FIT  
AND WELL

PAGE 10

THE LATER STAGES  
OF DEMENTIA

PAGE 30

I’M LIVING WITH 
DEMENTIA AND 

NEED MORE HELP
PAGE 27

THE DEMENTIA
JOURNEY

We want to support you on your own personal journey with dementia. It 
may be that you have noticed differences in your mental sharpness that 
you want to check with your GP, or you may be caring for someone in the 
later stages of dementia.

DID YOU KNOW?
Residents living with 
dementia and their  
carers worked on all 
aspects of the final plan, 
including the design of 
this Dementia Journey.

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
Smart speakers are like having your own  
personal assistant. They can tell you the  
latest weather forecast and news, read  
you a story and even switch your lights  
and heating on or off.

“THE GP RECEPTIONIST 
RINGS TO REMIND ME ABOUT 
APPOINTMENTS, SHE CHECKS  
IN ON ME REGULARLY - ABOUT 
EVERY 5 TO 6 WEEKS.”

P
age 22



W
H

AT  IS  DEM
ENTIA?

8 9

W
H

AT  IS  DEM
ENTIA?

IN THE UK

A person with dementia may also find that 
their mood or behaviour changes. It’s a 
progressive condition which means that 
changes are often small to start with but will 
gradually become more obvious over time. 
How quickly this happens varies greatly from 
person to person.

If you or a family member has developed 
dementia, it’s always worth asking your GP if 
they can give you an indication of what might 
have contributed to it.

There are many diseases that result in 
dementia. The most common types are:

 Alzheimer’s Disease

 Vascular Dementia

 Dementia with Lewy bodies 

 Frontotemporal Dementia  
(including Pick’s disease)  

There is currently no cure for dementia, 
although research continues to make strides 
to improve new treatments and drugs. 

Many people go on to live with dementia 
for many years after their diagnosis. Early 
intervention is the key to finding a treatment 
and medication that can reduce the 
symptoms and delay development. We also 
know from research that leading a healthy 
and active lifestyle can also help to delay the 
onset of dementia.

LEADING THE WAY  
IN TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
We’re proud to say that when it comes to new technology 
and innovations that can improve our lives, we are often 
leading the way. And this will continue to be the case 
when we look at new products and technology to support 
people living with dementia and their carers. Examples of 
Assistive Technology can be found at atdementia.org.uk 
For more information contact the Adult Social Care team in 
Kensington and Chelsea or Westminster.

“DEMENTIA IS CHANGEABLE,  
LIKE THE WEATHER. WHEN 
IT’S A SUNNY DAY, I CAN  
HOLD A CONVERSATION 
EASILY BUT ON A FOGGY DAY, 
FINDING THOSE WORDS IS  
A REAL CHALLENGE.”

1 in 6 
PEOPLE OVER THE 

AGE OF 80 HAVE 
DEMENTIA

225,000 885,000
PEOPLE WILL DEVELOP  
DEMENTIA THIS YEAR 

PEOPLE ARE  
LIVING WITH DEMENTIA 

EVERY                                                     MINUTES SOMEONE DEVELOPS DEMENTIA3

* Statistics correct as of 1st January 2020.

THE NUMBER OF PEOPLE OVER  
65 LIVING WITH DEMENTIA

1,045,000 
PEOPLE WILL BE LIVING WITH DEMENTIA

2,440
Kensington and 

Chelsea

3,140
Westminster2030

BY THE YEAR

73.5%
Kensington and 

Chelsea

70.5%
Westminster

WHAT IS
DEMENTIA?

We’re all unique and will each experience dementia in our own way. ‘Dementia’ 
is an umbrella term that describes a set of symptoms that may include memory 
loss and difficulties with thinking, problem-solving or language. 

DID YOU KNOW?
Over 3,100 people are living  
with dementia in Kensington  
& Chelsea and Westminster.  
By 2030, this figure is expected 
to rise to over 5,500.

DIAGNOSIS 
RATES FOR 
DEMENTIA

P
age 23



PREVENTING  DEM
ENTIA

10 11

PREVENTING  DEM
ENTIA

Dementia is now the leading cause of death 
in the UK, with 1 in 8 people currently dying 
from the condition. Here in Kensington and 
Chelsea and Westminster, we’ve set up a 
variety of services to help you stay healthier 
for longer:

 Lower the risk of dementia by taking 
part in our smoking cessation service, 
which can protect you from heart 
disease and poor oral health. Take part 
in our cardio-vascular disease prevention 
programme and the alcohol service.

 Our Community Champion projects 
support physical activity, healthy eating, 
and wellbeing. To find out more or to 
become a Community Champion, visit 
www.communitychampions.uk.org

 If you’re feeling lonely, depressed or 
want to do more physical activity,  
we may be able to help. Come along  
to one of our befriending sessions,  
supper clubs or exercise classes. 

 Take part in regular physical exercise - 
brisk walking, cycling and swimming are 
all great ways to get your heart pumping.

 Eat a healthy, balanced diet to maintain 
a healthy weight.

 Look after your teeth. Make sure you 
brush twice daily after meals. Limit 
sugary or acidic drinks and sugary food 
and see your dentist regularly for check-
ups

 Stay mentally active – learn a new skill, 
read the paper, do the crossword or play 
Sudoku. 

 Keep a good social life – visit family 
and friends, volunteer with a local 
organisation, join a choir or visit a  
place of worship - whatever you think 
you’ll enjoy.

 Stop smoking – your local GP will  
talk you through lots of ways to make  
it easier.

 If you drink alcohol, do so in moderation.

 Don’t be on your own – we know this 
may be easier said than done, but read 
on to find out some of the initiatives you 
could be part of.

 Have your hearing checked regularly.  
Research shows that using a hearing 
aid, if you have one, reduces your risk of 
getting dementia.

Research suggests up to one in three cases 
of dementia are preventable. Modifiable risk 
factors include:

 Diabetes

 High blood pressure

 Obesity

 Poor physical health

 Poor oral health

 Hearing impairments

There are also certain factors you can’t 
control that can affect your risk of developing 
dementia. These include:

AGE 
Dementia is not a natural part of ageing. 
Although it is possible to develop the disease 
at a younger age, you’re more likely to be 
diagnosed with dementia once you turn 65.

GENETICS 
Some genes do not directly cause the illness, 
but affect your risk of developing it. Other 
genes do directly cause dementia, but 
these are rarer than the risk genes. Having 
a parent or sibling with Alzheimer’s disease 
increases your chances of developing it very 
slightly, but it does not mean that dementia is 
inevitable for you.

ETHNICITY 
Certain ethnic communities appear to be 
at higher risk of dementia than others. For 
example, South Asian, African or African 
Caribbean people seem to develop dementia 
more often than white Europeans. 

GENDER 
More women are affected by dementia than 
men. Worldwide, women with dementia 
outnumber men two to one.

I’M FIT AND WELL  

DID YOU KNOW?
65% of dementia risk is due  
to factors you can’t change.  
We can address 35% of overall 
dementia risk factors.

“THE EXTRA HELP AND SUPPORT I’M 
GETTING HAS MADE MY FUTURE  SEEM 
MUCH  BRIGHTER.”

PREVENTING DEMENTIA 
EARLY INTERVENTION

We all know the things we need to be doing to stay healthy and happy. The great 
news is that if we can try and stick to these, our chances of developing dementia 
reduce and it can help to slow it down too. Here are our top tips.

SOCIAL PRESCRIBING
Many factors affect a person’s health 
and wellbeing, from their financial 
background and social interactions to 
their education and environment. 

In London, 1 in 5 patients go to their GPs 
about social problems, such as housing 
or loneliness. Often a patient needs a 
service which does not come in a bottle 
or a tube; for example getting rid of 
mould or joining an art class might  
work better. Social Prescribing refers 
patients to relevant support or activities 
in the community to improve their health 
and wellbeing.

It can’t take away the symptoms of 
dementia, but it can help to improve 
general wellbeing. Talk to your  
GP to find out more. 

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
We’ve partnered with King’s College London and 
University College London (UCL) to become a  
‘research ready’ borough to improve care, treatment  
and, ultimately, find a cure for dementia. 

P
age 24



GETTING A DIAGNOSIS

12 13

W
HAT TO EXPECT FROM

  A DIAGNOSIS

‘I run a business where you have to be on your toes. I noticed things  
that worried me and I thought, “I must get this checked.” My GP was 
fantastic. He said: “Don’t panic!” and he’s very supportive.  He looks  
at things very positively. I did feel a bit bereaved, but was very  
grateful that I had shared it with someone; that made me feel better.

People don’t want to know, they look away. I get a huge amount of 
encouragement from my children but as a society we’re not very  
good with people getting older. There’s a stigma around  
diagnosis. The message should be – “don’t be embarrassed,  
go to your doctor.” 

You have to live well. Just because you can’t remember  
stuff, it doesn’t mean you’re boring and uninteresting.  
It’s important to keep your self-esteem. I can do such  
a lot but I have to allow for things. Even so, many  
people don’t realise I have dementia.’

JACKIE, PATIENT

It’s normal to forget things every now and 
then. But if you, or someone else, have 
noticed that you’re becoming increasingly 
forgetful or issues with your memory are 
affecting your everyday life, it’s a good idea 
to visit your GP. 

Do you know someone who you think  
may have dementia?

It can be difficult to bring up the issue of 
memory loss and the possibility of dementia 
with someone you love. They could be 
confused, unaware there is a problem, 
worried, anxious or in denial. We would 
encourage you to start the conversation, 
choosing a place that is familiar and non-
threatening. Allow plenty of time, so it isn’t 
rushed and you can listen carefully to them.

GETTING A  
DEMENTIA  
DIAGNOSIS

We understand that talking about memory loss, or another symptom you’re 
concerned about, can be frightening. However, it is important to get an accurate 
diagnosis as early as possible. 

WHAT TO 
EXPECT FROM  
A DIAGNOSIS

CASE STUDY

FARUKH MALIK  
A local GP

“Getting a diagnosis gives you and your family the best 
chance to prepare and plan for the future. If the diagnosis 
is dementia, it may come as a shock. You may not know 
what to think or feel, or what to ask at the time. Make sure 
you ask to have another conversation once you are a little 
more settled. 

We’ll keep in touch and arrange to see you from time-to 
-time to see how you’re getting on. We might prescribe 
medication that may be helpful in treating some of the 
symptoms. With treatment and support from healthcare 
professionals, family and friends, people with dementia 
can still lead active and fulfilling lives.”

DID YOU KNOW?
Only 75% of people living  
with dementia in our  
boroughs have a formal 
diagnosis. That means lots of 
people might not be receiving 
the care and support they need.

If you get to the stage where you have 
decided to visit your GP to get a diagnosis, 
there are several things they should do:

 Talk about your symptoms and worries. 

 Rule out other conditions with similar 
symptoms (like depression or urinary 
tract infections).

 Rule out other possible causes of 
feeling a bit confused (e.g. poor sight 
or hearing), emotional changes and 
upsets (e.g. moving to a new house or 
bereavement), or the side effects of 
certain drugs.

 Provide you with an explanation for your 
symptoms, removing uncertainty and 
allowing you to begin to adjust.

 Allow you to access treatment as well 
as information, advice and support 
(emotional, practical, legal and financial).

 Allow you to plan and make 
arrangements for the future.

Dementia can be difficult to diagnose. Your 
GP may make a diagnosis or refer you to the 
Memory Service for a specialist assessment. 
Your doctor or specialist will explain to you 
and your family:

 What care and support services are 
available in your area.

 How to get in touch with your local 
Dementia Advisor.

 What advocacy services are in your area.

 Where you can get advice about 
continuing to drive or your employment 
(if this applies to you).

 Where you can find financial and legal 
advice.

Don’t forget, emotional health is just as 
important as physical health. If you feel 
depressed, worried or anxious, talking to 
your GP can help identify if you need any 
additional support.

USEFUL 
NUMBERS
Call 999 if you or someone 
else is in immediate danger, 
or risk of harm.

Call 111 for general health 
enquiries. This is the 
number for non-emergency 
advice. 

You can also contact your 
GP or local pharmacist for 
advice. 

“MY PARTNER NOTICED 
I WAS GETTING MORE 
FORGETFUL, NOT QUITE 
MYSELF, AND HAVING 
PROBLEMS FINDING THE 
RIGHT WORD.”

P
age 25



DRUG TREATMENTS
There are no drug treatments that can cure 
dementia. However, there are medicines that 
can help with the symptoms of dementia, 
or that in some cases may stop them 
progressing for a while.

A person with mild to moderate Alzheimer’s 
disease or mixed dementia in which 
Alzheimer’s is the main cause may be 
prescribed one of three different drugs: 
donepezil, rivastigmine or galantamine.  
These may give temporary help with memory, 
motivation, concentration and daily living. 

In the moderate or severe stages of 
Alzheimer’s disease someone may be offered 
a different drug called memantine. This may 
help with attention and daily living, and 
possibly ease distress and behaviours that 
challenge.  

Donepezil, rivastigmine and galantamine can 
also be helpful for someone with dementia 
with Lewy bodies who has distressing 
hallucinations or delusions, or who has 
behaviours that challenge (for example, 
agitation or unusual levels of anger).

For a person with vascular dementia, drugs 
will be offered to treat the underlying 
medical conditions that cause dementia. 
These conditions often include high blood 
pressure, high cholesterol, diabetes or heart 
problems. Controlling these may help slow 
the progression of dementia.

A wide range of other drugs may be 
prescribed at different times for a person 
with dementia. These include drugs for 
depression or anxiety, sleeping tablets or 
antipsychotics. Please be aware that some 
of these drugs can have severe side effects 
and not all are recommended for all types of 
dementia. Health professionals will generally 
recommend that a non-drug approach is tried 
first before prescribing medication, unless a 
person’s symptoms are very severe.

STAYING SAFE

14 15

STAYING SAFE

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
We’re looking at early intervention technology solutions 
to help people to manage their lives as the condition 
progresses. For example, this could involve learning a range 
of coping strategies. 

DID YOU KNOW?
An estimated 1,400  
people living with 
dementia could be living 
alone in our boroughs 
– we want to make sure 
that they are active and 
independent at home for 
as long as possible.

FIRE SAFETY
Fitting community alarms linked to smoke 
alarms and checking home appliances can 
reduce the risk of fire. London Fire Brigade 
offers free fire safety checks and they can 
fit smoke alarms for free. To book a free fire 
safety visit, simply call free on 0800 028 
4428 or fill in the form at www.london-fire.
gov.uk. Alternatively, you can ask a friend or 
relative to do it for you.  

APPLIANCE SAFETY
Have your gas appliances (gas boiler, gas 
cooker or gas fire) regularly serviced and 
safety-checked every year by an engineer 
who is on the Gas Safe Register. Just call 
Freephone: 0800 408 5500 to find a 
registered business near you. 

Carbon Monoxide alarms cost around £15  
and can be purchased from your local DIY 
store, supermarket or from your energy 
supplier. Ask your Gas Safe registered 
engineer if you are not sure which alarm  
to buy or how to fit it. 

PRIVACY
Nobody likes unwanted calls or junk mail, but 
it can be particularly confusing for someone 
with dementia. 

You can avoid unwanted marketing by:

 Registering for free with the official 
Telephone Preference Service to stop 
cold calls. Just call 0845 070 0707 

 Registering with the official Mail 
Preference Service to be taken off junk 
mail listings. Just call 0207 291 3310  
or go to www.mpsonline.org. 

Other technologies to help you stay  
safe include:

 ’Hive’ home heating system, which 
allows family and friends to monitor 
the property temperature remotely and 
change it via an app.

 Lifestyle monitoring programmes, such 
as Alcuris, which help family and friends 
to understand behaviour patterns when 
a person is home alone. It can let them 
know if anything seems unusual.

We also have a dedicated Technology 
Development Officer, who works closely with 
technology suppliers to develop products to 
support people with dementia. 

To find out more contact Adult Social Care on:

Kensington & Chelsea - 0207 361 3000 

Westminster - 0207 641 2500

STAYING SAFE  
LIVING WITH  
DEMENTIA AT HOME

It is important to feel safe in your own home and this becomes even more  
important with a diagnosis of dementia. Dementia does not mean you cannot live  
at home independently, but there are things you can do to help you stay safe.

P
age 26



LIVING W
ITH DEM

ENTIA

16 17

LIVING W
ITH DEM

ENTIA

A trip back to the family home town in Italy 
doesn’t sound like a major achievement. Until 
you take into account that the gentleman 
on holiday was 92 year old Otto, a resident 
in ‘extra care’ accommodation who has 
dementia, and that those accompanying him 
were care staff from Leonora House.

Otto had been talking of going to San Remo 
to visit his sister for some time. Care assistants 
Sylvia and Noria worked with his social worker 
to make it happen for him. From arranging 
the trip to getting his documents prepared 
and even taking him on a test train trip to 
Brighton, the professionalism and attention 
to detail shown by Sylvia and Noria is a great 
example of how care staff are dedicated to 
personalising care for residents.

LIVING WITH
DEMENTIA

Meet Otto, he desperately wanted a trip 
down memory lane, to visit his home 
town of San Remo, Italy.

“OLDER RESIDENTS ALL HAVE DIFFERENT 
NEEDS AND WE TRY OUR BEST TO MEET THEM.”
SYLVIA, CARE ASSISTANT

In the early stages of dementia, it is likely  
that a person will be fairly independent.  
They should still be able to do most things 
with a little bit of extra help or by doing it  
a little differently. 

There is no reason why you, or anyone around 
you, should dramatically change your life 
or stop enjoying activities you love. In fact, 
it’s quite the opposite. It’s important to stay 
active, keep practising the skills you’ve learnt 
in life and get out to see your friends and 
family as much as possible.

DID YOU KNOW?
In Westminster there is a 
day centre open 7 days 
a week to offer support, 
therapies and activities 
including gardening, arts & 
crafts and exercise (0203 
905 6982). In Kensington 
and Chelsea, Chamberlain House are 
running a weekly surgery where you can 
pop in for advice, support and guidance 
(020 8206 8628).

Otto and Sylvia

“WE’RE GOING TO 
POTTERY TOGETHER - 
I’VE ALWAYS WANTED 

TO DO THAT!”
“I MAKE SURE I 

TALK TO TWO TO 
THREE PEOPLE  

A DAY.”

“SEEING THE HAPPY 
FACES OF PEOPLE AT AN 
EVENT BRINGS ME JOY, 

MORE THAN THE EVENT 
ITSELF.”

P
age 27



GETTING OUT &
 ABOUT IN OUR BOROUGHS

18 19

GETTING OUT &
 ABOUT IN OUR BOROUGHS

 Community hubs and centres offering 
free and low-cost activities for people 
over 50.

 Monthly memory cafés, offering a 
mixture of talks, information, advice, 
activities and group support for people 
in the early stages of dementia and 
their carers. The Rainbow Memory Café 
hosted by Open Doors is specifically 
aimed at people living with dementia 
and their carers from the LGBTQ+ 
community. 

 A number of local organisations offer 
a variety of arts and culture-based 
reminiscence, drama or music activities 
that are accessible to people with 
dementia and their loved ones. 

 Some art galleries run free or low-cost 
adapted tours and monthly interactive 
sessions for people in the early stages 
of dementia. For example, the Wallace 
Collection and the Victoria & Albert 
Museum offer dementia-friendly tours. 

 There are various choirs across the 
boroughs that are suitable for people 
living with dementia. 

 Some of our places of worship offer 
various events and activities for people 
with dementia that are open to non-
members too. Your chosen place of 
worship might have its own programme 
of events. 

 Reminiscence can stimulate your brain 
and preserve memories. Lords Cricket 
Ground run regular arts and sporting 
reminiscence sessions that are open to 
everyone.

 Charities, such as Age UK, Octavia 
Foundation, One Westminster or 
Neighbourcare offer befriending services 
to people who might feel lonely.

To find out more about what’s going on  
in your local area, go to  
www.peoplefirstinfo.org.uk/events

LIBRARIES
If you’re living with dementia, or caring for 
someone who is, the councils’ library services 
have created spaces that are dementia-
friendly. All library staff are Dementia Friends. 
Library archives are housed in a dementia-
friendly building, and they offer quiet rooms 
and a home library service so you can read 
in peace. They also have a Reading Well 
prescription service.

Libraries also work closely with the Memory 
Assessment Service and local arts and 
wellbeing dementia services. They recently 
displayed art by people living with dementia 
and they hosted Resonate Art’s artists and 
poetry sessions. 

To find out more about what’s going on for 
people living with dementia, visit your local 
library, which will display a monthly calendar 
of activities.

LORD’S CRICKET GROUND, HOME OF 
MARYLEBONE CRICKET CLUB
Marylebone Cricket Club (MCC) is committed 
to Lord’s becoming a dementia-friendly 
ground. For the last five years, MCC has 
enjoyed hosting monthly reminiscence 
sessions. This is in addition to the annual 
Memories Match, when Lord’s Cricket Ground 
opens to people living with dementia.

MCC’s match day volunteers are Dementia 
Friends, trained to provide support to people 
attending major matches at Lord’s. Visitors 
are able to have dementia lanyards, which 
help staff to identify people living with 
dementia so that they can provide them with 
the help they need.

LIVING WITH
DEMENTIA 
GETTING OUT  
AND ABOUT

There are some great activities in our boroughs  
that are ideal for people living with dementia  
and their carers. 

“WHATEVER YOU 
DO IT HAS TO 
WORK FOR YOU.”

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
In partnership with the Metropolitan police and Buddi we are 
offering a safer walking service to people who wish to go 
out but may be at risk of getting lost or confused when out.  
This is the first service of its kind in London.

Interested? To find out more contact Adult Social Care on:

Kensington & Chelsea - 0207 361 3000  
Westminster - 0207 641 2500  

P
age 28



CARING FOR SOM
EONE W

ITH DEM
ENTIA

20 21

CARING FOR SOM
EONE W

ITH DEM
ENTIA

LOCAL SUPPORT SERVICES

The Carers Hub Service 

The Carers Hub Service provide support, 
information and advice to carers living in our 
boroughs, including:

 Completing in-depth carers assessments 
that consider the individual circumstances 
and specific needs of each carer. It is 
important you have an assessment 
so your needs are known and can be 
supported practically and financially.

 A dedicated information, advice and 
guidance service for unpaid carers 
covering carer-related benefits and 
services. 

 Supporting carers to access additional 
support from a range of sources.

 Support groups and drop-in sessions that 
allow carers to come together for face-
to-face support from their peers or a 
trained support worker.

 Social, training and information events 
and activities in the local area. These 
include IT training, mindfulness workshops 
and organised trips to local attractions.

Open Age ‘Time for Me’ project

A free weekly support and activities group 
for carers aged 50 and over living in North 
Kensington, South Kensington and Chelsea, 
and Westminster. A diverse programme 
is organised to provide carers with an 
opportunity to have some time for themselves, 
improve their health and well-being, feel less 
isolated and make new friends. 

If you would like to find out more, just get in 
touch by calling 0208 962 4141.

Admiral Nurse Service 

The Admiral Nurse Service provide 
information, practical advice and emotional 
support for people living in Westminster 
or Kensington and Chelsea who care for a 
relative or friend who has dementia.

Nurses can assist in obtaining professional 
assessment, support services, welfare 
benefits and relief care.

CARING FOR  
SOMEONE WITH  
DEMENTIA

When someone living with dementia can no longer carry out daily tasks for 
themselves, you may find yourself deciding to become their carer.  It is a big 
commitment, and can be mentally and physically challenging, so make sure you’re 
aware of all the support and financial help available to you. 

What are Admiral Nurses? 

Admiral Nurses are specialist dementia 
nurses who work to support, both 
practically and emotionally, the family 
carers of people with dementia.

How can an Admiral Nurse help me?

 If communication gets hard, an 
Admiral Nurse is on hand with skills 
and techniques to help you stay 
connected to the person you love.

 If someone with dementia is  
showing signs of fear or distress, an 
Admiral Nurse will work with you to 
find the best ways of preventing or 
managing this. 

 If your family is struggling to cope,  
an Admiral Nurse will be there to  
help you get the best possible 
additional care and support. 

 If you have questions you can’t get 
answered, an Admiral Nurse will take 
time to really understand the problem 
and give you the expert support you 
need to tackle it. 

We know that caring for somebody with 
dementia can sometimes be a hard and 
lonely experience.

If you wish to see an Admiral Nurse, please 
call 020 3317 3667 and request you are 
referred to the Admiral Nursing Service.

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
We’re looking at early intervention technology solutions 
to help people to manage their lives as the condition 
progresses. For example, this could involve learning a range 
of coping strategies. 

USEFUL CONTACTS
Admiral Nurses: 020 3317 3667 

Independent Age: 0800 319 6789

Age UK 
Westminster: 0203 004 5610 
Kensington & Chelsea: 020 8969 9105

Westway Community Transport: 020 
8964 4928

Memory Service: 020 3219 0910

Adult Social Care 
Westminster: 0207 641 2500 
Kensington & Chelsea: 020 7361 3013

DID YOU KNOW?
200 people are confirmed 
as caring for someone with 
dementia in our boroughs – 
but the true figure is likely 
to be higher.

P
age 29



Bringing together different 
generations gives great health 
benefits for both young and old. It’s 
worthwhile finding ways to involve 
your child, grandchild, niece, nephew 
or friend in providing care for the 
person living with dementia, or just  
allow them to spend time with  
the person. 

This will help make the situation seem 
more normal for them, and will prevent 
them from feeling left out. However, it’s 
important that they continue with their 
normal lives, so don’t give them too much 
responsibility, or let these tasks take up too 
much of their time.

 Let the child or young person know 
that simply being with the person 
living with dementia and showing 
them love and affection is the most 
important thing that they can do.

 Try to ensure that the time they spend 
with the person is enjoyable. Activities 
could include going for a walk, playing 
games, sorting objects, or making a 
scrapbook.

 Talk about the person’s life and 
interests and show the child or young 
person photographs and mementos.

 Take photographs of the child or 
young person together with the 
person you care for, to remind you all 
that there can be good times, even 
during the illness.

 Don’t leave a child or  
young person alone in  
charge, even briefly,  
unless you are sure that  
they are happy about  
the situation.

 Make sure that the child or young 
person knows that you appreciate 
their help, and show them how they 
are helping the person with dementia.

 Be aware of things that the  
person with dementia may find 
upsetting or confusing, and be 
prepared to provide reassurance if 
these occur when a child or young 
person is present.

 Talk to the child or young person 
afterwards if the person does become 
upset or confused, to help them 
understand why this happened.

We have worked with schools to deliver 
Dementia Friends Awareness sessions 
for children and young people and we’re 
encouraging young people to volunteer 
with older people in care homes through 
the Duke of Edinburgh award scheme. 

CHILDREN AND  
YOUNG PEOPLE  
AND DEMENTIA 

CARING FOR SOM
EONE W

ITH DEM
ENTIA

CARING FOR SOM
EONE W

ITH DEM
ENTIA

22 23

ARTS EVENTS CALENDAR
Find out about all the activities open to 
residents and carers in the borough, at  
www.peoplefirstinfo.org.uk/events

SUPPORTING OUR STAFF WHO ARE 
CARERS
We are establishing a support group for 
council staff caring for someone with 
dementia and reviewing our policy on respite 
care for staff too. If this is of interest to you, 
just get in touch with your Human Resources 
team to find out more.

END OF LIFE CARERS SUPPORT 
The Carers Network run a specialist project 
supporting older carers (65 and over) who 
are caring for a loved one who is approaching 
the end of their life. They offer one-to-one 
support to the carer through this difficult 
time in their life, as well as specialist advice 
on writing a will, Lasting Power of Attorney 
and lots more.  

FORMER CARERS PROJECT
The Carers Network run a project supporting 
former carers’ who are no longer looking after 
someone. They can help people understand 
their identity beyond being a carer, provide 
practical approaches to manage their physical 
and mental health and advise on housing and 
financial changes. 

If things are getting to be too much and 
you’re thinking of moving someone into 
residential care, it can have a big impact 
on you too. It’s not unusual to feel lonely 
or experience guilt, so make sure you seek 
support from your GP. 

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
Digital Personal Assistants (PAs), such as Alexa and Google, can 
help to tackle loneliness and isolation by helping groups of like-
minded people interact, especially useful for those diagnosed 
with dementia who may not be able to get out. Digital PAs also 
provide entertainment. For example, you can instruct them to read a 
favourite author or put on a much-loved music track.

USEFUL CONTACTS
Carers Trust 
Helping unpaid carers access the help 
they need to live their lives. 
www.carers.org.uk 

Carers Network 
T: 020 8960 3033 
E: carers@carers-network.org.uk 
www.carers-network.org.uk

Open Age - Time for Me  
Free or low-cost leisure activities for 
people over 50 who look after a family 
member or friend as an unpaid carer.
T: 020 8962 4141 
www.openage.org.uk/carers  

People First 
Supporting independent living and  
health in your borough.
www.peoplefirstinfo.org.uk/looking-
after-someone www.peoplefirstinfo.org.
uk/looking-after-someone 

Marie Curie Nurses 
T: 0800 090 2309  
www.mariecurie.org.uk

“My experience in Westminster of being a carer for 
someone with dementia is very positive, especially 
with the range of services and activities provided, 
which have helped to give both my parents fuller 
lives. A dementia plan is important as it looks at 
achieving a long term aim in different areas, from the 
initial diagnosis of dementia to providing appropriate 
care, support, transport and dementia awareness in 
the community. All of which are important for those 
living with the illness and their carers.”

CARER STORY

WEI ROSE
Wei Rose looks 
after her elderly 
parents, in 
particular her 
father who has 
dementia. 

P
age 30



LIVING AT HOM
E  W

ITH DEM
ENTIA

24 25

LIVING AT HOM
E  W

ITH DEM
ENTIA

LIVING AT HOME  
WITH DEMENTIA

We’ve created our own dementia-friendly home, looking at changes you can make 
to each room in the house: 

DID YOU KNOW?
Between April 2018 and  
February 2019, roughly  
400 empty properties 
in Westminster were 
refurbished to dementia-
friendly specifications. 

We are also exploring how to make our 
buildings low-stimulus environments, which 
will benefit not just people living with 
dementia, but others too, such as autistic 
people. This involves including dementia-
friendly planning policies in Westminster’s 
City Plan and Kensington and Chelsea’s 
Older People’s Housing Design Guidance. 

THE LIVING ROOM

 Make sure there are no trip hazards – 
glass furniture can be harder to see;  
rugs may need an anti-slip mat to ensure 
they stay in place and get rid of any 
trailing wires.

 Don’t forget music and the radio – people 
tend to find it easier to follow the radio, so 
don’t be afraid to turn the television off. 
Music can be a great mood and memory 
booster.

 Display your photos – they can help 
bring back happy memories and have 
a comforting effect. You may find it 
helpful to label the location, people and 
relationships so you can always remind 
yourself of a special moment.

THE KITCHEN

 Safety first – if you have a gas cooker, you 
can get an automatic shut-off mechanism 
installed. You can also ask your Gas 
supplier to fit a gas detector so you’ll 
always be alerted if you ever happen to 
leave it on.

 Pin important information to the fridge – 
it’s somewhere you’ll go to often, so stick 
up useful details you don’t want to forget. 
We’ve included a pull-out poster with lots 
of helpful advice that you could use.

 Use labels to remind you where things 
are kept – whether it’s your cutlery, food 
cupboard or pots and pans, having each 
cupboard labelled will save time and 
confusion.

 Avoid clutter – where possible, try to 
keep your surface areas clear of too many 
things, as these can add to confusion. 

THE BEDROOM

 Plug in a night light – this will help you 
see where you’re going, and you can get 
motion-sensored lights that only come on 
when you move around.

 Install a pressure sensor – these can 
either be fitted in to or beside the bed 
and can detect someone getting out of 
bed and not returning within a certain 
time. An alert can then be sent directly 
to an emergency response or chosen 
contact, such as your neighbour or carer. 

 Contrasting bed linen – choose a duvet 
cover that is bright and bold, so it’s easier 
to see your bed.

THE BATHROOM

 Talk to us – it may be that your local 
council can make some small changes to 
your bathroom, like installing a bath seat 
to help you get in and out safely, or a 
hand rail next to the toilet.

 Prevent flooding – you can buy a ‘flood 
prevention plug’ that lets water out of the 
bath when it becomes too full. Some of 
them will also change colour if the water 
gets too hot.

 Contrasting tones – try and make sure 
important things in the bathroom like the 
soap, towel or toilet seat are in a different 
colour to the floor and walls. This will 
make them much easier to recognise.

 Traditional taps – lots of the new, modern 
mixer taps can be very confusing to 
master. It might be worth opting for 
separate hot and cold taps if you can.

 Store medicines safely – keep them stored 
away in the same place. Check with your 
local chemist if they can arrange to collect 
any out-of-date or unwanted medication, 
so they can dispose of it safely. 

MAKING A DEMENTIA-FRIENDLY HOME

MAKE SURE 
THERE ARE NO 
TRIP HAZARDS

CONTRASTING 
BED LINEN

PREVENT 
FLOODING

PIN IMPORTANT 
INFORMATION 
TO THE FRIDGE

P
age 31



PATIENT STORY

AISHA’S HOME CARE 
PROVIDER

There were some very important things in 
Aisha’s life before she had dementia that we 
continue to help her with. We take her every 
week to the hairdresser and nail salon. She 
used to spend a lot of time and effort on 
her appearance, but when we first started to 
support her she wasn’t doing this anymore. 
Now she has got this back into her routine 
and is really enjoying it.

We take her on reminiscence walks in Hyde 
Park as this is a very special place for her; 
lots of important events happened in her life 
there and she regularly remembers these. 
We support her in reading the Quran in her 
home. These activities are person centred and 
structured around her health and wellbeing, 
rather than purely doing tasks for her.

“We see a high standard of care in 
the best services and we need to 
make sure every service achieves 
the best outcomes for people living 
with dementia. We are pleased to 
work closely with the Royal Borough 
of Kensington and Chelsea and the 
City of Westminster to drive up 
standards for everyone who’s using 
the services.”

Our Care Quality Commission  
(CQC) local team

GETTING EXTRA HELP AT HOM
E

26 27

GETTING EXTRA HELP AT HOM
E

GETTING EXTRA 
HELP AT HOME

Home care is an option for people when they need a little 
extra help at home to manage day to day tasks. It’s also called 
‘domiciliary care’ or ‘care at home’. Home care support can be as 
little as a quick check that someone is OK or to make sure they 
have taken their medication, to 24 hour live-in care.

DID YOU KNOW?
85% of people would  
like to remain in their  
own homes for as long  
as possible if diagnosed  
with dementia.

It is estimated that the  
number of people living with dementia 
will rise by 40% for Kensington and 
Westminster between 2017 and 2050.  

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
In partnership with London Fire Brigade, we offer fire safety 
assessments, smoke alarms, extreme temperature sensors 
and misting towers. These are active 24 hours a day and 
send out a message to the fire service if activated.

P
age 32



CARE HOM
ES SUPPORTED LIVING

28 29

CARE HOM
ES SUPPORTED LIVING

EXTRA CARE 
Extra Care, also known as assisted or 
supported living, is a type of ‘housing with 
care’. People in extra care housing are able to 
keep their independence while being assisted 
with tasks such as washing, dressing, going 
to the toilet or taking medication. Residents 
usually have their own self-contained one-
bed flat or studio where they are encouraged 
to live as independently as possible, whilst 
receiving care tailored to their individual 
needs. This could include 24-hour care and 
planned social events in a safe and secure 
environment.

RESIDENTIAL AND NURSING  
CARE HOMES
Care homes will have staff 24 hours a day, 
with a key number of qualified care assistants. 

Nursing homes provide all the support that  
a care home would but registered nurses  
are also on-site throughout the day and  
night. Residents usually have a medical 
condition that needs regular attention  
from nurses or doctors.

COVERING THE COST OF ‘CARE’
The cost of extra care housing will be 
different depending on the type of care  
you need. Nursing homes usually cost more 
than residential homes as they provide 
nursing care.

FINANCIAL HELP FROM YOUR 
COUNCIL
Before deciding how to pay, it’s worth asking 
your local authority for a needs assessment. 
The council can then help you look at all  
your options. Just get in touch with Social 
Services:

Kensington and Chelsea residents go to  
rbkc.gov.uk or call 020 7361 3000

Westminster residents go to  
westminster.gov.uk  or call 020 7641 2500

PAYING FOR YOUR OWN CARE  
(SELF-FUNDING)
You can choose to pay for care yourself if 
you’re able to afford it or you don’t want 
a financial assessment. Read more about 
paying for your own care at www.nhs.uk

Need help or advice with finding a care 
home? Just go to cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/
services-we-regulate/find-care-home

CASE STUDY

LIAM HALLETT,  
Specialist Older Adult 
Psychologist and 
Psychotherapist 

Liam has been working  
with people living with dementia and other 
mental health difficulties for the last 13 years. 
He’s leading on an exciting and innovative 
new project. 

‘The Care Home In-Reach project is a 
year-long pilot in four care homes in the 
two boroughs focused on working with 
residents as individuals and their specific 
needs. It’s very person-centred. We look at 
each resident’s life story, experience and 
personal journey and work with a range of 
professionals to tailor support around that 
individual person’s needs. 

We want to promote improved quality of life, 
wellbeing and safety of care home residents, 
and improve the skills and capabilities of the 
staff who care for them. It’s about passing 
on knowledge and good practice and being 
collaborative. We collaborate across several 
big organisations and focus on every single 
individual’s experience. Every person’s 
journey matters.’

CASE STUDY

MOTITECH BIKES  

We were some of the first boroughs to pilot 
the innovative Motitech Dementia Bikes in 
four care homes. Residents can explore over 
350 locations, all from an exercise bike that 
hooks up to a televisual experience; so you 
might be riding through the mountains in 
Tuscany or going off-road in New Zealand. 

“THIS WAS MY SEVENTH 
TIME. MOSTLY I’VE BEEN 
DOING ROUTES ALONG THE 
NORTH AFRICAN COAST,  I 
HAVE REALLY ENJOYED IT.”

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
Soon we’ll be introducing interactive game tables into a 
number of care settings. These provide cognitive stimulation 
through fun games that entice children, adults, and older 
people to get moving and have fun together. 

DID YOU KNOW?
We’re developing a new care 
home at Beachcroft that will 
include dementia friendly 
designs, including a dementia-
friendly garden. The home will 
open in mid-to-late 2020 and 
is one of a number of dementia friendly 
settings being planned.

CARE HOMES AND 
SUPPORTED LIVING

For lots of people living with dementia, or their carers, there may be a time  
when further help is required. This can be provided in your own home or within  
a residential care home.  

DID YOU KNOW?
We’ve created a new 
team called Quality 
Assurance (QA) to act as 
an ‘independent eye’ on 
the standards of our local 
services.  

P
age 33



PLANNING  AHEAD

30 31

PLANNING  AHEAD

LEGAL AND FINANCIAL

 Set up a Lasting Power of Attorney (LPA) 
- in the event you are not able to make 
decisions, you will have enabled a family 
member or trusted acquaintance to do so. 

 Make a will – it ensures that when 
you die, your money, property and 
possessions go to the people you 
choose. If you die without making a  
will, the state decides who to apportion 
your assets to. A person with dementia 
can still make or change a will, provided 
you can show that you understand its 
effect. Your will must be signed and 
formally witnessed. It should also be  
kept in a safe place where others can  
find it, either at home or with a solicitor. 
It’s always a good idea to consult a 
solicitor who specialises in writing wills. 
The cost of a solicitor will vary – ask what 
the fee will be and what this includes 
before going ahead. Some charities offer 
a free will writing service, so it’s worth 
checking with them.

MEDICAL

 In the event that you are hospitalised, 
you may want to consider what your 
wishes are about treatment. This is only 
invoked where the medical situation is 
critical. A person living with dementia 
may express their wishes using:

 • ‘Advance decision to refuse treatment’, 
which is a legally binding document or

 • ‘Advance statement of wishes’, which is 
not legally binding, but will be taken into 
account.

 Sometimes doctors make a medical 
decision that if a person’s breathing or 
heart stops, there should be no attempt 
to resuscitate them. This is known as a 
DNR (do not resuscitate) or DNAR (do 
not attempt resuscitation) order. It is a 
good idea to talk about these situations 
with your loved ones or a trusted friend 
or someone like a solicitor when you are 
well, so that your wishes are known if 
this situation arises and you know the 
full implications. This often gives people 
peace of mind.

“We wanted to carry on with life as long 
as we could, knowing that it would change 
over time, but also knowing that it was 
important for my husband to have his 
independence. We have made Powers of 
Attorney both medical and financial in 
favour of our daughter”.

CARERS 
It’s never an easy conversation to have but 
understanding the wishes of someone living 
with dementia means they can get the care 
they want in the later stages of dementia. 

If they’re not ready to talk about the specifics, 
trying to get to know their values, wishes and 
beliefs more generally can help in the future 
when decisions need to be made on their 
behalf.

It’s also worth considering making plans 
for care in case you’re not able to continue 
your role, for example If you (the carer) are 
admitted to hospital.

You can get advice on how to find the right 
care home at cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/
services-we-regulate/find-care-home

PLANNING AHEAD 
END OF LIFE CARE

When someone is living with dementia, it’s important to make sure that certain 
financial and legal decisions are put in place. Here are our recommendations of 
what you should do.

CASE STUDY

MANDY ANDREWS  
AND TEREZIE 
WICKENDEN,  
Our Dementia Advisors,  
explain their roles.

“As Dementia Advisors we support people who have received a 
diagnosis of dementia. In our role we usually visit service users at 
home, and also provide telephone and email support. We are a 
continuous point of contact for as long as they need us. 

Our work involves providing information, advice and support to 
help people feel informed and able to access appropriate help 
when needed. 

We can help people understand and manage their symptoms, 
provide tips on living well and strategies on how to maintain a 
quality of life. We provide information and signposting to support 
people to stay living independently at home, accessing suitable 
social activities and care options if necessary. 

We support people living with dementia in a person-centred way 
to feel in control and plan their future using tools such as the 
Lasting Power of Attorney and Advance Statements.

“WE RUN REGULAR MEMORY  
CAFÉS THAT OFFER SUPPORT, 
INFORMATION AND  
STIMULATING ACTIVITIES.”

P
age 34



PLANNING  AHEAD

32 33

PLANNING  AHEAD

PALLIATIVE CARE 
Palliative care is for anyone diagnosed with 
a life-limiting illness, including dementia. It 
focuses on maintaining a person’s quality 
of life by relieving discomfort or distress 
(whatever the cause). Any palliative care in 
place continues alongside end of life care.

Palliative care professionals at a local hospice 
or hospital may give specialist input if this 
is needed. This team of professionals should 
keep you updated on any changes in the 
person’s condition and involve you in any 
decisions.

The person should always have an up-to-date 
care plan that includes end of life plans  
and is shared with those involved in the 
person’s care. 

END OF LIFE CARE
End of life care involves treatment, care  
and support for people who are nearing the 
end of their life. It’s an important part of 
palliative care. 

It’s for people who are thought to be in  
the last year of life, but this timeframe can  
be difficult to predict. Some people might 
only receive end of life care in their last  
weeks or days. 

CARERS
Everyone reacts and copes with bereavement 
in their own personal way. 

How you feel following a bereavement may 
be affected by different things, such as your 
relationship with them and your situation and 
personality. Sometimes, you may find that 
you can’t grieve and it can take a long time 
for your feelings to come out. 

Some carers may feel a sense of emptiness 
after bereavement. This can be for different 
reasons, including struggling to come to 
terms with the loss of the person, missing 
their defined role as a carer, feeling like 
they have too much free time - especially if 
they’ve lost past interests and hobbies and 
they’ve not been in touch with other people 
while caring. All of this can add to feelings of 
loneliness and isolation.

Some people find it hard to adjust to living 
without the person. It can help to talk 
through these feelings with someone you 
trust or a professional.

END OF 
LIFE CARE

When a person with dementia is approaching the end of their life, it 
can be a very difficult time for them and the people around them.

TECHNOLOGY & INNOVATION
Pressure mats linked to pagers 
These can help support family or a carer who is living with 
someone who is at risk when getting in or out of bed or a 
chair. The mat is pressure-activated and an alert is sent to 
a family member’s pager. This allows them to be in another 
part of the house or garden, giving everyone the space 
they may need.

PLANNING FOR A FUNERAL 
It has become more common to 
plan and even pay for a funeral 
in advance. The advantages of 
doing this include being able to 
plan the funeral that you would 
like. It can also make it easier 
for your family and friends to 
arrange the details. Undertakers 
or funeral service companies 
should be able to provide you 
with more information about 
funeral planning.

USEFUL CONTACTS
Marie Curie 
Care and support through terminal illness  
www.mariecurie.org.uk/help or call 0800 090 2309 

Macmillian Nurses 
Care and support for cancer  
www.macmillan.org.uk or call 0808 808 0000

Cruse Bereavement Care  
National Helpline 0808 808 1677  
Local 020 8964 3455

P
age 35



WORKING TOGETHER 
Our ambition to become a leading dementia-friendly 
borough is shared with other public, private and third 
sector organisations. 

Both directly, and through the Dementia 
Action Alliance, we work closely to ensure our 
services work effectively for people living with 
dementia, our environments are dementia-
friendly and our staff are Dementia Friends. 
We also share best practice and resources. 

For example, we’re working with the Met 
Police, London Fire Brigade and many other 

public sector 
partners to deliver 
the Mayor’s 
ambition to make 
London the first 
dementia-friendly 
capital in  
the world. 

34 3534 35

COMMUNITY NHS SERVICES 
There’s a great range of local NHS services in 
Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster. 
This includes Admiral Nurses (specialist dementia care nurses), 
the Memory Assessment Service, which assesses and diagnoses 
dementia and provides other dementia support services, 
through to talking therapies for all patients and carers with 
low-levels of cognitive impairment or with caring responsibilities. 
Speak to your local GP to find out more.

INTEGRATED CARE 
Both the West London CCG and the 
Central London CCG work with the 
councils and local health, care and 
community organisations. They provide 
services to meet the needs of older  
people with multiple physical, mental 
health and care needs, including people 
with dementia. 

Though not yet available in the whole  
of Westminster, the Integrated Care  
Teams work to create a single care 
plan that is monitored by a range of 
professionals, benefits patients and staff 
and means you only need to tell your story 
once. Talk to your local GP to see how you 
can be part of these services.

CASE STUDY

ANDREW CARPENTER, 
Dementia lead, Kensington 
and Chelsea and Westminster 
councils

“I’ve enjoyed getting to know so many lovely 
people and working with them to make 
our boroughs leading dementia-friendly 
communities. It’s been amazing to see how 
keen people are to help make things better 
and do their part.  

To raise awareness of dementia, I worked 
closely with the local Dementia Action 
Alliance to put scarves on famous statues 
around our boroughs. We did this during 
Dementia Action Week and followed it up 
with a social media campaign.

With my 
colleagues, 
I’ve also 
set up the 
Dementia 
Partnership 
Group 
alongside 
Bernie 
Flaherty, 
our Kensington and Chelsea and 
Westminster Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Health, as a way of involving 
local people in the long-term. Made up of 
residents living with dementia, and their 
carers, the group gives us direct feedback 
on our services, from adult social care to 
housing, leisure and transport. It’s vitally 
important that residents really do inform  
how we do things in Kensington and Chelsea 
and Westminster”.

MAKING OUR BOROUGHS 
DEMENTIA-FRIENDLY

CASE STUDY

SUPT. MARK 
LAWRENCE,  
Lead for Mental Health

“Every year MPS Officers complete over 
10,000 ‘Merlin’ reports about adults who may 
be vulnerable through dementia. That’s an 
average of over 27 reports completed every 
day across London. 

Responding to dementia in all of its guises, 
whether it’s looking for missing people or 
investigating crimes that take advantage 
of vulnerability, represents a significant 
safeguarding issue for the police, its partners 
and the community it serves.  And of course, 
most officers and staff will have friends or 
relatives touched by dementia. This is why 
the MPS is committed to supporting the 
Mayor in his ambition to make London the 
first dementia-friendly capital city in the 
World by 2020.  

As part of this commitment, the MPS is 
encouraging as many of its staff as possible 
to be Dementia Friends, and is actively 
engaged in 
Dementia 
Action Alliances 
across London, 
working in 
partnership 
with initiatives 
like the Herbert 
Protocol*. We 
applaud the 
work being 
conducted in 
Kensington and 
Chelsea and 
Westminster 
and we look 
forward to working with partners across 
both boroughs to help people live well with 
dementia and improve the service  
we provide to both those experiencing 
dementia and the carers and relatives that 
support them”.

“THE MPS IS 
COMMITTED TO 
SUPPORTING 
THE MAYOR IN 
HIS AMBITION TO 
MAKE LONDON THE 
FIRST DEMENTIA 
FRIENDLY CAPITAL 
CITY IN THE WORLD 
BY 2020.”

DEMENTIA FRIENDS 
Small changes make a big difference, 
and we will lead the way by introducing 
many new ideas and initiatives across 
our councils, helping others to become 
dementia-friendly. We will support shops, 
galleries and leisure centres to train their 
staff as Dementia Friends, so you know 

there’s always a welcome anywhere you 
go. All council staff will become Dementia 
Friends by 2020, with 70% by Christmas 
2019. We are pledging real changes to the 
way we work to become more dementia-
friendly. For example, we already ensure 
any building we build is designed, 
constructed and finished in a dementia-
friendly way.

DEM
ENTIA FRIENDLY BOROUGHS

DEM
ENTIA FRIENDLY BOROUGHS

*The Herbert Protocol is a national scheme introduced by the police. Working with other organisations, it encourages carers to fill out a form 
of useful information that could be used if a vulnerable person goes missing.

P
age 36



TECHNOLOGY & INNOVATION
The Memrabel 2 is a clock that displays the day, time 
and date.  It also has 20 alarms which can be set up with 
pictures, written prompts and recorded videos to help 
remind people to do things. This could be when to eat a 
meal, exercise or a prompt about a GP appointment.

OUR DEM
ENTIA PLAN

36 37

OUR DEM
ENTIA PLAN

People are living longer, and the 
number of those developing dementia 
is increasing. This means the cost of 
care is increasing and putting pressure 
on our services. We want to enable 
people to live life to the full by creating 
dementia-friendly communities. We also 
know people with dementia want to  
live at home for as long as they can, so 
we want to help provide the extra care 
they need. 

We know that there’s great work going on 
already to transform our boroughs into 
leading dementia-friendly communities, but 
there’s a lot more we plan to do. 

 Raising awareness of dementia  
and ways to help prevent it.

 Providing personalised, timely  
and high-quality services.

 Creating a community that is  
dementia-friendly.  

 Giving unpaid carers good support. 

We’ll know we’ve been successful if:

 Through The Dementia Action 
Alliance, we achieve Dementia Friendly 
Community accreditation by 2020.  

 6,000 Dementia Friends are created 
from public, private and third sector 
organisations across both boroughs  
by December 2020.

 The percentage of short-term dementia 
acute care admissions is reduced to 
below the national average by 2025. 
Short-term dementia acute care 
admissions currently represent 32% of all 
hospital admissions of people living with 
dementia in Kensington and Chelsea 
and 33% in Westminster. This will show 
community care and support is working.

 Our new, targeted survey of dementia 
carers shows an increase in carer 
satisfaction with council services  
by 2025. 

OUR DEMENTIA 
PLAN

“YOU KNOW A PLACE IS 
DEMENTIA FRIENDLY 
WHEN, AS SOON AS YOU 
WALK IN THE DOOR, 
THERE’S A WELCOME.”

WHAT 
WE’LL DO

PRIORITY 1  
Raising awareness of dementia and  
ways to prevent it  

 

Launching an awareness-raising 
dementia campaign in 2020.

 

Making all our staff Dementia 
Friends with 70% already trained 
– and helping others to do the 
same.

 

Having an easy-to-find dementia 
area on our website. 

PRIORITY 3  
Creating a community that  
is dementia-friendly    

 

Providing a toolkit for businesses 
and other local organisations to 
help them become dementia-
friendly. 

 

Working with the Salvation Army’s 
Central London venue to pilot a 
quiet space and community hub.

PRIORITY 4 
Giving unpaid carers good support   

 

Establishing a support group for 
council staff caring for someone 
with dementia. 

 

Reviewing respite care to ensure 
it is fit-for-purpose and takes into 
account people’s individual needs.  

PRIORITY 2  
Providing personalised,  
timely and high-quality services   

 

Piloting a holistic single plan to 
ensure that people living with 
dementia can properly plan 
for the future they want from 
diagnosis onwards.

 

Incorporating more specialist 
adjustments for people with 
learning disabilities into our home 
support services. 

 

Arranging bespoke training for 
health and social care staff to 
best support people living with 
dementia and their carers with 
partners.

There’s already some great stuff taking place across our 
boroughs. We will continue to ensure we’re leading the way 
to create dementia-friendly communities by:

“OUT IN THE STREET 
THEY DON’T KNOW I HAVE 
DEMENTIA; EVERYONE 
IS A SPECTATOR  AND  NO 
ONE HELPS. PEOPLE ARE 
DETACHED.”

“WE NEED MORE INFORMATION 
ON DEMENTIA FOR THE GENERAL 
PUBLIC TO OVERCOME FEARS  
AND STIGMA.”

P
age 37



OUR COM
M

ITM
ENTS

38 39

OUR COM
M

ITM
ENTS

PRIORITY 1  
Raising awareness of dementia and  
ways to reduce the risk

WE COMMIT TO:

 

Encouraging residents to take 
action to reduce the risk of 
dementia and to seek a timely 
diagnosis.

 

Promoting understanding, 
acceptance and support within 
the community for people living 
with dementia.

 

Raising awareness of dementia 
and the needs of people living 
with dementia amongst public 
and private sector partners.  

 

Increasing awareness of dementia 
and the needs of people living  
with dementia amongst council 
and NHS staff.

OUR COMMITMENT 
TO YOU

“ALTHOUGH I’M GLAD TO BE 
THERE FOR HIM, IT WAS SO 
HARD TO GIVE UP MY LIFE TO 
CARE FOR MY DAD.”

PRIORITY 3  
Creating a community that  
is  dementia-friendly    

WE COMMIT TO:

 

Embedding dementia design 
across all council services. 

 

Working with local public, private 
and third sector organisations 
to create a holistic, dementia-
friendly community.

 

Ensuring that communities are 
aware of and make the most 
of the services and activities 
available to them.

 

Using technology and digital 
solutions to support people 
to live independently in their 
communities for as long as 
possible.

 

Making available the latest 
memory devices and technology.

 Doing everything we can  
to support you to stay where  
you are.

 Ensuring the suppliers we work 
with to deliver our dementia 
strategy are aligned with our 
Corporate Social Responsibility 
strategy.

PRIORITY 4 
Giving unpaid carers good support   

WE COMMIT TO:

 

Giving carers personalised support, 
including respite care. 

 

Ensuring carers are well informed 
about dementia and the needs of 
people living with it.

 

Providing carers with information 
about services, networks and 
activities for carers, as well as 
those for people living with 
dementia.

 

Supporting carers of people with 
dementia in the workplace and 
encouraging others to do the same.

“I HAVE LEARNT THAT WE 
CAN ADJUST TO CHANGES IN 
OUR RELATIONSHIP. WE DO 
HAVE VERY HAPPY TIMES.”

PRIORITY 2  
Providing personalised, timely and  
high-quality services   

WE COMMIT TO:

 

Ensuring that services are easy 
to use and support is joined up 
(including for multiple health 
needs), recognising that people 
are more than their diagnosis.

 

Creating services that are 
personalised and relevant, 
because we acknowledge that 
everyone is different. 

 

Providing residents with the right 
information and advice, in the 
right place and at the right time.

 

Continuing to innovate and 
provide high-quality services, 
exploring new technology to give 
people living with dementia the 
best care. 

 

Making sure good quality staff 
receive the necessary training  
to best support you.

“MY WIFE MAKES ME FEEL 
SAFE. SHE WRITES DOWN 
FOR ME WHERE I AM GOING 
BECAUSE AS SOON AS I GO 
OUT OF THE DOOR, I HAVE 
NO MEMORY OF WHERE I AM 
GOING OR WHY.“

P
age 38



JARGON BUSTER

40 41

JARGON BUSTER

WORD OR 
PHRASE

EXPLANATION

Acute Care

Short-term health care that you receive in hospital following an injury, 
operation or illness. It is different to any care you may receive for an 
ongoing health condition from your GP, community nurse or other 
professionals in the community where you live.

Advocacy

Help to enable you to get the care and support you need that is 
independent of your local council. An advocate can help you express 
your needs and wishes, and weigh up and take decisions about the 
options available to you. They can help you find services, make sure 
correct procedures are followed and challenge decisions made by 
councils or other organisations.

Intergenerational People of many different ages and generations coming together.

Lasting Power  
of Attorney  
(LPA)

A legal agreement where you allow someone to make decisions on your 
behalf about your property and finances or health and welfare, if the time 
comes when you are unable to make these decisions for yourself.

Dementia Action 
Alliance (DAA)

The DAA is a local network of people and organisations, working 
together to improve the lives of people living with dementia

Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group (CCG)

CCGs are responsible for planning, designing and commissioning (paying 
for) health services in their local area.

We understand that dementia can open up a whole new vocabulary 
of medical and legal words that you might not know. So, we’ve tried 
to list them below with their meaning. We hope it helps.

JARGON BUSTER

Co-ordinate  
My Care  
(CMC)

CMC keeps an online ‘urgent care plan’.  These plans are personalised to 
the patient and can be accessed by different emergency care services, so 
the information is easy to find and all in one place.

Court of 
Protection 
(COP)

The COP makes decisions on financial or welfare matters for people who 
can’t make decisions at the time they need to be made (they ‘lack mental 
capacity’).

Dementia 
Partnership 
Group (DPG)

A group of residents living with dementia and their carers in Kensington 
and Chelsea and Westminster, who advise and inform council services.

Co-production

Where residents and users of services act as equal partners with 
professionals in designing care and support services you receive. Co-
production recognises that people who use social care services (and 
their families) have knowledge and experience that can be used to help 
make services better, not only for themselves but for other people who 
need social care.

Health and 
Welfare  
Deputy

A Health and Welfare Deputy is appointed by the Court of Protection. 
They can make certain decisions on behalf of a person who doesn’t have 
the mental capacity to do so themselves.

Whole-systems 
(or Holistic) 
Approach

Looking at every aspect of how a system works – such as the health, 
social care and housing system – and understanding what each part 
does, where the connections are and how it all fits together. Looking 
at the system in this way should help show how things can be done 
differently and better, working with the whole community together.

Psychiatrist
A medical doctor specialising in the diagnosis and treatment of mental 
illness, including dementia.

Statutory 
Services

Organisations that have a legal responsibility to do something, and 
whose role and powers are defined by law. They are different to 
voluntary organisations, which may provide some of the same services 
but which are not set up by law. Your local council is an example of a 
statutory organisation, as is the NHS.

P
age 39



DEM
ENTIA  FIRST  HAND

THE  DEM
ENTIA  JOURNEY

CASE STUDY

42 43

CASE STUDY

Living with dementia has it’s challenges – not everyone 
understands it or how it affects people living with 
it, like me, or people caring for someone living with 
dementia, like my partner Kathie. 

It’s also not just about being understood. Because of my 
dementia, my partner and I have different needs – my sight 
could be affected, so I might avoid black mats at entrances.  
I have confused them before for a big black hole! 

“I WANT TO BE ABLE TO CONTINUE TO 
LIVE AT HOME FOR AS LONG AS POSSIBLE 
IN A COMMUNITY THAT CONTINUES TO 
UNDERSTAND AND SUPPORT ME.”

This plan highlights some of the great initiatives that are 
already in place across Kensington & Chelsea and Westminster.  
I’m thrilled that it’s not just focused on health and social care 
but thinks about a person’s whole life. 

I’m really glad to have been involved in developing this plan 
with other people, like me and Kathie. However, there’s more to 
do. Now that people living with dementia have outlined what 
they need to live well, we are calling on everyone – neighbours, 
businesses, doctors – to do their bit to put this into action. 

So I am pleased to be able to close this document as the first 
step towards transforming my home boroughs into leading 
dementia-friendly communities. Join me in starting this  
journey together.

MICK ,
lives with dementia and is cared for by his partner, Kathie.

“LIVING  WITH   
DEMENTIA HAS  IT’S  
CHALLENGES – NOT  
EVERYONE UNDERSTANDS  
IT OR HOW IT  AFFECTS  
PEOPLE  LIVING WITH  IT,   
LIKE ME.”

HELP BEAT DEMENTIA
Vital studies into early diagnosis, prevention and  
new treatments for dementia are taking place in the  
UK – but more volunteers are needed. Anyone over 18, 
with or without dementia, can register their interest  
as a volunteer. To sign up, or find out more, just go to  
www.joindementiaresearch.nihr.ac.uk 

We are also working together with local research groups 
and will keep you posted about any study opportunities 
you can take part in.

P
age 40



DEM
ENTIA  FIRST  HAND

44

We want to thank the Abbey Centre, the Advocacy 
Project, Age UK RBKC, Opening Doors, Resonate 
Arts and Musawa for facilitating workshops and 
one-to-one interviews with residents. Without your 
help, it would not have been possible to reach out 
to so many residents, ensuring that the plan is 
genuinely co-produced with residents who reflect 
our boroughs’ diversity.  

We also want to thank everyone from a wide 
variety of organisations who have inputted into 
our strategy, including representatives from health 
and social care professions as well as the worlds 
of design, architecture, business, culture, sport 
and more. Your advice and support during the 
development of the plan has been invaluable and 
we look forward to working with you again to 
implement it. 

THIS PLAN WAS WRITTEN WITH THE SUPPORT AND ADVICE  
OF OVER 170 RESIDENTS. THANK YOU FOR GIVING UP YOUR  

TIME TO INFORM AND SHAPE OUR THINKING. 

A GREAT BIG 
THANK 

YOU!

The Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea
Tel: (020) 7361 3000  |  Email: SocialServiceLine@rbkc.gov.uk  |  www.rbkc.gov.uk

The City of Westminster
Tel: (020) 7641 6000  |  Email: adultsocialcare@westminster.gov.uk  |  www.westminster.gov.uk

www.nhs.ukPage 41



This page is intentionally left blank



SHAPING OUR DEMENTIA JOURNEY TOGETHER

CHANGING  LIVES
We’ve put together a handy little 
guide that’s jam-packed with lots of 
helpful stuff. On one side, you’ll find 
a list of useful contact details where 
you can get advice on everything 
from staying safe to financial support.

And on the other side, we’ve come 
up with our top tips on ways to make 
living at home a bit easier.

It’s a good idea to pop me in your 
purse, or stick me up on the fridge as 
a useful reminder.

Age UK 
Advice on dementia care, funding care 
provisions and entitlements to benefits

Kensington and Chelsea - T: 020 8969 
9105, or go to www.ageuk.org.uk/
kensingtonandchelsea

Westminster - T: 020 3004 5610 or go  
to www.ageuk.org.uk/westminster

BME Health Forum 
Health advice for members of the  
black, Asian and minority ethnic 
communities. T: 07958 479217  
or go to bmehf.org.uk

Marie Curie 
Care and support through  
terminal illness. T: 0800 090 2309

Macmillian Nurses 
Care and support for cancer.  

T: 0808 808 0000 

GENERAL ADVICE 
AND INFORMATION  
ON DEMENTIA 
Age UK 
Freephone 0800 678 1602  
or go to www.ageuk.org.uk

Alzheimer’s Society 
Advice for people affected by dementia. 
Freephone 0300 222 1122 or go to  
www.alzheimers.org.uk

Dementia UK 
Provides specialist dementia advice and 
support for families through its Admiral 
Nurse service

Freephone 0800 888 6678 or go to  
www.dementiauk.org

Young Dementia UK 
Support, information and guidance for 
those who are effected by young onset 
dementia. www.youngdementiauk.org

NHS 
Need medical attention? Call 111 or dial 
999 in an emergency. For general medical 
information and advice, go to www.nhs.uk

THINGS TO DO IN 
YOUR AREA
Open Age 
Activities for all older people.  
T: 020 8962 4141 or go to  
www.openage.org 

Rainbow Memory Café 
For members of the LGBTQ+ community 
living with dementia. T: 020 7239 0400 or 
go to www.openingdoorslondon.org.uk/
rainbow-memory-caf

Arts4Dementia - T: 020 7239 4954  
or go to www.arts4dementia.org.uk

Creating with Dementia

T: 07775 784520  
E:creatingwithdementia@gmail.com

ADVICE  FOR  CARERS
Carers Network 
Advice and support on: carer’s assessment, 
benefits, legal rights and wellbeing.  
T: 020 8960 3033 
E: carers@carers-network.org.uk 
www.carers-network.org.uk 

Carers Trust 
Helping unpaid carers access the help  
they need to live their lives. 
www.carers.org.uk 

Carers UK 
Advice and support to anyone looking after 
a family member or friend with dementia.  
T: 0808 808 7777

Open Age - Time for Me  
Free or low-cost leisure activities for people 
over 50 who look after a family member or 
friend as an unpaid carer.  
T: 020 8962 4141 
www.openage.org.uk/carers

Revitalise 
Respite holidays for carers.  
T: 0303 303 0145

Westway Community Transport 
A local charity providing transport for those 
who find it difficult to get around. 
T: 020 8964 4928

Admiral Nurses 
Information, practical advice and support 
for people who care for a relative or friend 
who has dementia. T: 020 3317 3667

People First 
Supporting independent living and health in 
your borough. 
www.peoplefirstinfo.org.uk/looking-after-
someone  

Dementia Advisors 
Practical support, advice and guidance  
on services and local activities

Kensington and Chelsea - T: 020 3181 0002 

Westminster - T: 020 3905 6981  

Kensington and Chelsea and  
Westminster Adult Social Care Services  
Local social care, information, advice  
and support. www.rbkc.gov.uk and  
www.westminster.gov.uk

STAYING  SAFE
The Metropolitan Police 
In an emergency call 999  
If you want to report a crime call 101

The London Fire Brigade 
For information on fire prevention & safety 
advice, or to get a free fire alarm fitted, call 
020 8555 1200 or go to london-fire.gov.uk 

DID YOU KNOW? 
Lots of arts and cultural  
organisations host events aimed  
at people living with dementia and  
their carers. The Victoria & Albert  
Museum, the National Gallery, the  
Museum of Brands, The Royal Albert Hall  
and Marylebone Cricket Club to name a few.

LOCAL  HEALTH  AND  CARE  SERVICES

FOR MORE INFORMATION 
ABOUT DEMENTIA, LOCAL 

SERVICES AND WHAT’S 
HAPPENING  IN YOUR 

AREA, GO TO 

www.peoplefirstinfo.org.uk

Page 43



TOP TIPS 
LIVING AT HOME  
WITH DEMENTIA

SAVE MONEY 
You might qualify for a 
discount or an exemption 
on your council tax. To find 
out more just go to:

Kensington and Chelsea – Call 020 7361 
3005 or go to  www.rbkc.gov.uk/council-
tax/discounts-and-exemptions 

Westminster – Call 0343 178 2743 or go to  
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/
discounts-and-exemptions-0 

MAKE EATING 
AND DRINKING 
EASIER
Try using clear containers to 
store your food, so you can see 
what’s inside.

KEEP 
IMPORTANT 
ITEMS IN ONE 
PLACE  

If you’re having trouble remembering 
where you’ve put things like your purse, 
mobile phone or keys, try and get in the 
habit of keeping them in the same place.

USE A 
CALENDAR 
OR DIARY
Get into a routine of 

checking a diary, calendar or noticeboard. 
Cross off each day from your calendar 
before you go to bed, so you know 
what date it is when you wake up in the 
morning. You could also use an automatic 
calendar clock which reminds you of the 
date and day of the week too.

GET A DAILY 
NEWSPAPER
Consider buying a 
newspaper each morning, 

or getting one delivered. That way you will 
always know what the day and date are.

TV & RADIO
It can be enjoyable to 
watch your favourite 
show or listen to music, 

however consider switching them off if you 
need to concentrate on something.

GET A SMOKE 
ALARM 
INSTALLED
If you haven’t got one 

already, or want to test an existing alarm, 
this can be done free of charge by the 
London Fire Brigade. Just call them on  
020 8555 1200.

SHOPPING 
LIST 
Take a list out with you 
when you go shopping 

and cross things off as you put them into 
your basket. At home, keep a list of items 
that have run out so you can easily add 
them to your shopping list. If you find it 
difficult to write, you could keep part of 
the packaging of items you’ve run out of. 

Alternatively, talk to your local supermarket 
about getting your shopping delivered.

STICKY 
NOTES  
(POST-ITS)
You can use sticky 
notes in your home 

to remind you to do something. Stick 
one on the freezer to remind you to take 
something out to defrost or stick one on 
your bookshelf so you don’t forget to 
return a library book.

YOUR NOTES
Write down important details you don’t 
want to forget. It could be the telephone 
numbers you call most often or important 
dates like birthdays or a doctors 
appointment.

Remember NEVER write down any 
passwords or personal security 
information.

Page 44



APPENDIX 1 – Feb 5th 2020 

 

 
 

Westminster Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 

RBKC Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 
Date: 24 January 2019 

 
Classification: General Release  

 
Title: 
 

Dementia Overview 

Report of: 
 

Bernie Flaherty, Bi-Borough Exec. Dir. ASC and 
Public Health  
 

Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

Anne Pollock, Principal Policy Officer 

 

Submitted as an Appendix – 5th Feb 2020 – 
as background information 

 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1 This paper aims to provide an overview of the issue of dementia in the two Boroughs, and 

to encourage a discussion on what actions the Health and Wellbeing Boards, and their 

constituent organisations, can take to collectively prevent this disease, as well as 

supporting those with dementia and their carers, friends and families to secure a timely 

diagnosis, to live well and to die well. 

 

1.2 Feedback from the discussions will be used to inform the developing dementia strategy 

for the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea (RBKC) and the City of Westminster. 

 

2. Key Matters for the Board 

2.1 The RBKC and Westminster Health and Wellbeing Boards are asked to  

 

 Consider dementia health and care support in RBKC and Westminster, as set out in 

this paper 

 Discuss and share feedback using the following guiding questions: 

Page 45



2 
 

o What is your experience of supporting people with dementia and their carers, 

friends and families in your organisations or service areas? 

o Do you know of any local success stories for supporting dementia?  

o What global/national/international best practice in whole-systems dementia care 

and support are you aware of? Can any of these initiatives be implemented in 

RBKC and Westminster?    

o Have you any particular areas or groups of concerns about dementia locally? 

 Share an organisational commitment that will support a whole-systems approach to 

dementia. Examples of commitments could include 

o Rolling out dementia friends training to staff in your organisation 

o Committing to providing a dementia-friendly environment e.g. through clear 

signposting in buildings.  

o Introducing dementia-related requirements in contract specifications 

 

3. Background Information about Dementia 

3.1 The word ‘dementia’ describes a set of symptoms that may include memory loss and 
difficulties with thinking, problem-solving or language. A person with dementia may also 
experience changes in their mood or behaviour.  

3.2 Dementia is caused when the brain is damaged by diseases, such as Alzheimer’s disease 
or a series of strokes. Alzheimer’s disease is the most common cause of dementia. Other 
common types of dementia are vascular dementia, mixed dementia, dementia with Lewy 
bodies and frontotemporal dementia.  

3.3 Dementia is a progressive condition. As such, these changes are often small to start with, 
but they can become severe enough to affect daily life for someone with dementia. This 
progression will vary from person to person and each will experience dementia in a 
different way – people may often have some of the same general symptoms, but the 
degree to which these affect each person will vary. 

3.4 The specific symptoms that someone with dementia experiences will depend on the parts 
of the brain that are damaged, the disease that is causing the dementia and how far the 
disease has progressed. However, common symptoms can include 

 day-to-day memory – e.g. difficulty recalling events that happened recently, 
 concentrating, planning or organising – e.g. difficulties making decisions, solving 

problems or carrying out a sequence of tasks (such as cooking a meal), 
 language – e.g. difficulties following a conversation or finding the right word for 

something, 
 visuospatial skills – e.g. problems judging distances and seeing objects in three 

dimensions, 

 orientation – e.g. losing track of the day or date, or becoming confused about where they 
are. 

 changes in mood – e.g. becoming frustrated or irritable, apathetic or withdrawn, anxious, 
easily upset or unusually sad.  

 

With some types of dementia, the person may hallucinate or strongly believe things that 
are not true (delusions). 

Page 46



3 
 

 
3.5. The Alzheimer's Society report found that in 2013 the total cost of dementia in the UK was 

estimated to be £26.3 billion. Of this, approximately £4.3 billion consists of health care, 
and approximately £10.3 billion consists of social care. The remaining £11.6 billion 
accounts for estimated unpaid care contributions. 

3.6. Dementia mainly affects people over the age of 65 (one in 14 people in the UK in this age 
group have dementia), and the likelihood of developing dementia increases significantly 
with age. Dementia can also affect younger people too. There are more than 42,000 
people in the UK under 65 with dementia. 

 

3.7. Risk factors for dementia include  
 

 Ageing 

 Gender (higher prevalence 
amongst women) 

 Ethnicity (BAME people are 
more likely than white 
Europeans to develop 
dementia) 

 Genetics 

 Cardiovascular factors (Type 
2 Diabetes, high blood 
pressure/cholesterol levels 
and obesity) 

 Other medical conditions e.g. 
Parkinson’s, Multiple 
sclerosis, HIV 

 People with Down’s syndrome 
and learning disabilities 

 

In addition, the latest research suggests that other factors are also important. These 

include: 

• hearing loss 

• untreated depression 

• loneliness or social isolation 

• a sedentary lifestyle 

 

3.8 Currently there is no certain way to prevent all types of dementia as researchers are still 

investigating how the disease develops. However, there is good evidence that a healthy 

lifestyle can help reduce an individual’s risk of developing dementia. It can also help 

prevent cardiovascular diseases, such as stroke and heart attacks, which are themselves 

risk factors for Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Research indicates that by 

modifying the risk factors people are able control, our risk of dementia could be reduced 

by up to 30%. 

 

4. Strategic context 

National 

4.1 In March 2012, the government launched a national challenge to fight dementia. This 

programme of action was set up to deliver sustained improvements in health and care, 

create dementia friendly communities, and boost dementia research. 

Page 47



4 
 

4.2 The Prime Ministers’ Challenge on Dementia 2020 (launched February 2015) sets out the 

UK Government’s strategy for transforming dementia care within the UK. The Challenge 

aims to build on the previous programme of action, and, by 2020, see England become  

 the best country in the world for dementia care and support and for people with 
dementia, their carers and families to live; and 

 the best place in the world to undertake research into dementia and other 
neurodegenerative diseases. 

4.3 This will be achieved by 

 Improving diagnosis, assessment and care for people living with dementia 

 Ensuring that all people living with dementia have equal access to diagnosis 

 Providing all NHS staff with training on dementia appropriate to their role 

 Ensuring that every person diagnosed with dementia receives meaningful care 

4.4 The government acknowledged that this cannot be achieved alone and the vision is also 

a call to action for all to show understanding and compassion to those with the disease to 

transform dementia care, support and research. 

 

4.5 The Care Act 2014 created a new legislative framework for adult social care, and also 

gives carers a legal right to assessment and support. NICE has produced guidance, quality 

standards and advice for the health and social care system to drive improvements in 

quality.  

 
Regional  
 

4.6 The Dementia Friendly London ambition sees Alzheimer’s Society, the GLA, London 

Health Board and other partners working together to achieve the following by 2022:  

 2,000 dementia friendly organisations  

 500,000 Dementia Friends  

 Every London borough working to becoming a dementia friendly community  

 Meaningful involvement of people affected by dementia 

 

4.7 As part of this London dementia challenge, Alzheimer’s Society held its first annual 

Dementia Friendly London Summit at the GLA in May 2018, as part of Dementia Action 

Week. Over one hundred delegates from across industries gathered at City Hall to share 

their plans to bring the Mayor of London’s vision of a dementia-friendly capital to life. Key 

speakers included representatives from ADASS, the NHS, the Met Police, TfL, and London 

& Thames Valley CBI.  

 

Local 

 

Page 48



5 
 

4.8 The 2020 Dementia Challenge is in line with the findings of the North West London 

Collaboration of CCGs’ report NWL Strategic Review of Dementia 2015. Details of the 

report’s findings are included later in this report. 

 

4.9 The RBKC Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy priorities include “Good mental health for 

all”, with a specific commitment to “[encouraging] awareness and [improving] the quality 

of local services and support for people living with dementia and their carers.  

 

4.10 The Westminster Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy priorities include “reducing the risk 

factors for, and improving the management of, long-term conditions, such as dementia”. 

Commitments include “[creating] the conditions for dementia friendly communities, where 

an understanding of dementia supports communities to value the contributions of people 

experiencing the condition and their carers. 

 

4.11 Westminster’s City for All vision outlines the Council’s commitment to  

 

 A Caring and Fairer City – where caring and supporting the most vulnerable within the 

community is, and will always remain, the Council’s most important priority. 

 A Healthier and Greener City – the Council will work closely with partners including the 

NHS to encourage individuals and families to enjoy active and healthy lives, while we focus 

our resources on the support needed for the most vulnerable in our city. 

The City for All vision also outlines plans to open a new 84-bed home to provide specialist 

care for people living with dementia as part of a wider dementia strategy to support those 

and their families living with this difficult illness. 

 

4.12 The Bi-Borough ASC and Public Health six priorities are 

 

 Personalisation 

 Market shaping and development 

 Quality Assurance 

 Safeguarding 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 

5. Dementia in RBKC and Westminster 

5.1 Current estimates of the number of people living with dementia in the local population 
are ca. 1,500 in RBKC and 1,800 in Westminster. Approximately 50% of the population 
with dementia are aged 85+. (JSNA) 

 
5.2 Through population projections, the number of people living with dementia is estimated to 

rise by 70% for Kensington & Chelsea; and by 45% for Westminster by 2030. Although 
the rates are not increasing as much predicted in the 2015 JSNA, they are still rising. 
Diagnostic, treatment and care service provision may need to expand proportionately to 
meet this increasing need. 

 
5.3 In March 2015 WL CCG had a diagnosis rate compared with expected prevalence of 73%, 

and CL CCG 72%. This compared with 66% in London and 65% nationally. 

Page 49



6 
 

6. Initiatives to support people with dementia and their carers, friends and families in 

RBKC and Westminster  

6.1 Appendix A provides an overview of some of the current commissioned services available 

for those at risk of developing dementia, those living with dementia and those who care 

for them. Please note that not all are dementia-targeted services and some are general 

services that support people with dementia and their carers, friends and families.  

 

6.2 These services are in addition to: 

 

 The input of the Council’s social work teams and information and advice team; 

 The option of direct payments, when relevant and desired 

 

7. Key Achievements and Upcoming Milestones   
 
Regional 

 
7.1 RBKC and Westminster Officers are working with partners to meet the Mayor’s Dementia-

Friendly London challenge. 
 

7.2 Bernie Flaherty, Bi-Borough Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, is the London 
ADASS Dementia Lead and has been working on improving dementia care and support 
across the capital. Key elements of the London ADASS work programme include:  

 
o Increasing the number of dementia friends across London  
o Enhancing the personalisation of care of those with dementia     

 
7.3 The Mayor has committed the GLA and TfL to work towards becoming dementia friendly 

organisations and committed to partnership working with the Alzheimer’s Society. A Pan 
London working group has been set up to discuss Dementia Friendly London. The group’s 
successes will be presented at the Dementia Summit in May 2019, following on from the 
May 2018 Dementia Summit. 
 

7.4 On 18 December 2018, the London Health Board received a progress update from the 
Alzheimer’s Society and the ADASS dementia lead on making London dementia-friendly 
and creating dementia-friendly communities. Highlights include:  
 

 Recruitment of people with dementia to sit on the Mayoral People’s Panel is on-going 

 The Mayor has appointed a Dementia Champion for the GLA 

 TfL launched a new e-learning Dementia Friends package in December 2018, fronted 
by CEO Mike Brown 

 ADASS’s programme to improve dementia awareness and call to action for all Health 
and Wellbeing Boards and the Dementia Commissioners Network to become dementia 
friends 

 
7.5 London ADASS also presented the London Health Board with an update on their work to 

enable championing a personalised approach. This includes  

 
o Working with a specialist IT company to develop a video profiling the virtual 

character, “Martha’s”, dementia case. Martha is an animation of a 64-year old 

Page 50



7 
 

woman in the early stages of dementia. The animation aims to show how a 
personalised approach can empower and enable Martha to live as independently 
as possible. 

o Exploring developing a second virtual male character – Arthur; and  
o Launching both Martha and Arthur at GLA’s digital event on the 13 February 2019 

and presenting them at the ADASS Dementia Summit in May 2019. 
 
 
 
 
Local  
 
7.6 The table on at Appendix B outlines some recent achievements in progressing dementia 

care in RBKC and Westminster, as well as upcoming milestones for the New Year.  
 
 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the Background 

Papers  please contact:   

Anne Pollock, Principal Policy Officer  

Email: apollock@westminster.gov.uk   

Telephone: 020 7641 2757 

 

APPENDICES: 

Appendix A – Overview of Some Current Dementia Care Services in RBKC and Westminster 
 
Appendix B – Overview of Some Recent Achievements and Upcoming Milestones in Dementia 

Services in RBKC and Westminster 

Page 51

mailto:apollock@westminster.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1 – Feb 5th 2020 

Appendix A – Overview of Some Current Dementia Care Services in RBKC and Westminster commissioned by the local authorities* 
Preventing Well Availability 

Raising public awareness and 
understanding of dementia in the wider 
community. 

RBKC and WCC 

 Community Champions (All Community Champions projects work with older people to support physical activity, healthy eating, wellbeing etc. Although not a 
targeted dementia service, some projects have Dementia Friends-trained Champions) 

 Communications Channels (e.g. information shared via People First, Westminster Plus etc.) 

 Dementia Friends Staff training in RBKC and Westminster 

NHS Health Checks  RBKC and WCC 
 
Dementia is included in as part of the NHS Health Check for people aged 65-74 years.  

Reducing the risk of people developing 
dementia - ASC Commissioned 
Prevention Services  
 

RBKC and WCC 
 
Public Health commissions a range of healthy lifestyle services that will contribute to lowering the risk of vascular dementia, including smoking cessation service, the 
cardio-vascular disease prevention programme and the alcohol service 
 
ASC commissions a range of preventative services that support in targeting the key modifiable risk factors for dementia in older adults; social isolation, lack of physical 
activity, depression  

RBKC  

 Open Age  - Second Half Resource Centre; New 
Horizons Resource Centre; Meet, Eat and Learn; 
Health Lungs; and Phone Club 

 SPID –Older People Supper Club 

 Octavia – Befriending  

 

 Age UK –Exercise at Home; Exercise for the Mind; Health Promotion, Community Engagement and 
Shopping  

 K&C Forum  - Health Talks Support  

 Pepperpot – Day and Drop in Centre 

 Everyone Active – Exercise for those with long term conditions 

WCC  

 Open Age -Osteoblast Bone Health; Churchill 
Hub; Westbourne Hub; and Queens Park and 
Harrow Road Hub 

 

 Bishop Creighton House  - Falls Prevention & Keep Active  

 Notting Hill Genesis - Penfold Hub 

 Octavia - Leonora Hub and Outreach 

Diagnosing Well  

Information and Advice 

 These generic services are often the 
first point of contact for stakeholders 
to receive further info or to be 
signposted to more specialist 
services, as necessary  

RBKC  

 Age UK  - Information and Advice  

 CAB – Information and Advice  

 

 MIND  - Peer Support  

 Action Disability Kensington and Chelsea 

WCC  

 Westminster Advice Services Project 

Diagnosis RBKC and WCC  
The Memory Service - Westbourne Park is joint funded by the Local Authority and the NHS. It comprises of a team of health and social care professionals with 
expertise in working with people with memory difficulties and dementia. They also have close links with the Admiral Nursing Service. 

Supporting Well  

Targeted Carers Services  RBKC  

 Carers  Network  - Hub  

 Age UK  - Carers Alliance  

 Open Age – Time for Me 

 

 Midaye – BME Support for Carers  

 K&C Mental Health Carers Association  

 Everyone Active – Carers 

 CAB – Advice & Information 

WCC 

 Carers Network – Hub  

 CAB – Advice and Information  
 

Targeted Dementia Services  RBKC 

 Age UK – Dementia Advisor; Dementia 
Outreach; Dementia volunteer co-ordinator; and 
Dementia Café 

 

 Octavia – Reed Dementia Day Centre 

 RBKC – Chamberlain House Day Centre  
 

WCC 

 Westbourne Park Dementia Day Centre; and Pullen Day Centre Dementia and Physical Disabilities 

P
age 52



9 
 

Living Well  

Dementia Friendly Communities 
 There are a number of community institutions e.g. museums that run dedicated sessions for attendees with specialist needs and Faith organisations that offer 

support through various methods. 

Accommodation-Based Services   RBKC 

 Octavia - Burgess Field Extra Care Home (ECH); James Hill House ECH; Miranda House and High Level ECH Dedicated Dementia Service 
  

WCC 

 Octavia – Leonora House has a dedicated dementia wing within the scheme.  

 Notting Hill Genesis – Penfold has a dedicated dementia wing within the scheme. 

Residential & Nursing Care Services  

 Resident’s needs resulting from 
illnesses such as dementia may 
mean that they are best met by 
residential and nursing care 
services.  

 Residential and nursing care 
services focus on improving physical 
and mental health, providing 
improved social activity and mental 
and physical stimulation.  

RBKC  

 Care UK – Ellesmere Housing Nursing/Residential 

 Gold Care Homes – Alan Morkhill House Residential  

 Sanctuary Care – Princess Louise Kensington Continuing Health Care 
Nursing 

 

 Bupa – The Kensington Nursing Home 

 Liege The Sisters of the Sacred Heart of  Jesus – St Wilfrid’s Care Home 

 Innovative Aged Care Ltd – New Court Place Nursing  

WCC  

 Sanctuary Care – Westmead Residential; Carlton Dene Residential; 
Athlone House Continuing Health Care Nursing; Butterworth Specialist 
Nursing Care; and Garside House Continuing Health Care Nursing 

 

 Anchor Care – Norton House Residential 

 Elizabeth McManus  - St George’s Nursing Home 

 Care UK – Forrester Court Nursing Residential  
 

Dying Well  

Most residents with a dementia diagnosis 
(and their families) wish to receive palliative 
care their own home.  
 
The services that support residents and help 
them live well also provide palliative care. 
 
 

RBKC 
Advice & Support Services 

 Age UK – Information & Advice on advice care planning  

 Age UK Dementia Advisor – supports re advance care planning  
 

Extra Care Housing Services  

 Octavia – Extra Care Housing supports residents to remain in their own home as long as they wish and is viable including end of life plans.  
 

Residential and Nursing Care 

 Providers work with residents to develop end of life plans to help residents die as they wish. Some residents are very reluctant to engage in this activity.   

 A number of providers are signed up to and accredited with the Gold Standard Framework, an end of life programme to ensure residents received good quality, 
person-centred care 

WCC 
 
Westminster residents are able to use their personal budget to support end of life care. Services can then be tailored to meet their individual needs or circumstances.  
 

More widely  

 Where appropriate, a range of services will encourage residents to engage in advance and end of life planning. 

 

 

* NB this table details all services provided from 31 March 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 53



APPENDIX 1 – Feb 5th 2020 

Appendix B – Overview of Some Recent Achievements and Upcoming Milestones in Dementia Services in RBKC and Westminster 

 

Area of Work Key Achievements  Upcoming Milestones  
Dementia Strategy  Plan and DoT approved by Members 

 Engagement plan signed off by senior officers 
 

 Engagement events signed off by Members 

 Officer-level engagement with frontline health & social care officers and LAG 

 Planning for Dementia Group meeting/Expert Panel 
 

Training & 
Awareness Raising 
 

 RBKC Cabinet and ELT, and RBKC and WCC HWBB trained as Dementia Friends 

 All Community Champions projects undertook a mental health awareness campaign from 
May to July supported by the CCGs and linked with Mental Health Awareness Week.  

 KCTMO committed in principal to training frontline staff as Dementia Friends 
 

 Rollout of Dementia Friends Training across the workforce 

 Community Champions committed to prioritising dementia in the next financial year 
and having a programme for upskilling champions in place in the New Year. 

 

Service 
Commissioning – 
Well Pathway 

 Dementia Friends included in new service specifications and encouraged with existing 
providers;  

 Provider-led workshops on social isolation (key modifiable risk factor for dementia in Older 
People;  

 

 Commence tender exercise for Extra Care Houses – staff dementia and dementia 
friends training and a built environment check list will be included.  

 New contracts issued and services specs for the 56 services being renewed. 

 Dementia friends and built environment check lists will be included in the new 
contracts and service specs.  

Dementia Friendly 
Community 
Initiatives  
 

 Healthy Workplace Charter Businesses now encouraged to become Dementia Friendly too. 

 Built environment dementia checklist rolled out among building based services  
o Dementia Friendly Environment checklists carried out for the new Westminster City Hall 

and in all Westminster Libraries 
o Libraries Health Information Officer trained as Dementia Champion trainer.  
o Maida Vale Library hosting user group sessions for clients of the memory service and 

their carers 

 Dementia Action Alliances 
 

 Libraries meeting with Resonate Arts and the Westminster Memory Service to explore 
devising and loaning memory boxes to community organisations for members to host 
memory cafes. 

 Dementia friends information sessions planned for library staff and customers 

 

P
age 54



LOCAL 
ACCOUNT 
GROUP
ANNUAL 
REPORT2019

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



WELCOME We are so pleased to welcome you to our very first Annual Report. We are 
very proud of this document which we think – and hope – reflects the work 
we have carried out over the last year. This is our first Annual Report, but 
certainly not our last. We have been excited to put it together, you will hear 
about the work we have been doing and also finding out a little more about 
us. We want it to be informative, but also fun and interesting to read.

In the first part, we have asked Council colleagues to set a bit of context and 
background, and outline what happened before the Group was formed. This is the 
part of the report that sets the scene, provides information about the legislative 
background and reasons why we exist as a group and are producing this report.

The second part and the core section of the document is written by us 
and sets out what we wanted to achieve at the beginning of last year 
and what we have achieved since then. You will also find out a bit more 
about us and what we have been up to since the Group was formed.

The third part is also written by us and includes our expectations for 
the future – what we expect the two councils to do. We will be honest 
too, about the things that have not gone so well, or things we still need 
to do as well as the things that have improved. The two councils and 
the Group all acknowledge that there is still a long way to go, but this 
report showcases how far we have come together in the last year.

We do hope you enjoy reading the report, and you get a real sense of how vital we 
think our work has been. We’ll start by asking Bernie Flaherty, Executive Director 
of Adult Social Care and Health (and our chair) and the two Lead Members to 
contribute a few words and then council colleagues set the context for our work.

Part 1

Part 2

Part 3

32

P
age 56



FOREWORD Bernie Flaherty 
Bi-borough Executive Director, 
Adult Social Care and Health
I’m thrilled to be asked by the Local Account Group 
to say a few words to introduce this report.

They have been the most inspiring and charming people to work with and our 
regular meetings – there is always a lively debate – are the highlight of my working 
month. I am determined that the voice and opinions of residents should be integral 
to everything we do, and that the group should be as representative, diverse and 
inclusive as possible. It has been an honour and a huge pleasure to work with such 
engaged, vibrant and dedicated residents. They challenge us in the best possible 
way. Working with these valued members of our community always grounds us 
and reminds us what is important about the work we do. We cannot do anything 
without ensuring that the voice of our residents is heard and integrated into 
the design of our services, not just in Adult Social Care but throughout the two 
Councils. I am looking forward greatly to working with them throughout 2020.

Councillor Sarah Addenbrooke 
Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Health, 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea
I am delighted to introduce this report. The Local Account Group 
has been such an invaluable and unique element of the last year and 
I am delighted by the way the group has developed and grown.

Integrating residents into the planning and design of everything we do is essential, 
and I am grateful that the structure and mechanism has been put into place for 
this to be enabled. I have enjoyed meeting the group and hearing their views 
and ideas and celebrate that they have been involved in integral parts of our 
organisation – even being part of interview panels for senior officers This is very 
much the way the Council should be evolving and developing and we have 
made it very clear in our Council Plan that we should engage more deeply with 
residents and the Group has shown the way in doing so. I’ve also very much 
welcomed and enjoyed the sessions and events which I have attended.

Councillor Heather Acton 
Previous Lead Member for Family Services and 
Public Health, Westminster City Council
I’ve really enjoyed meeting and working with the Local Account Group over 
the last year to help get to the heart of what matters to our residents.

It’s so important that the people who use our services have a voice and can influence 
what those services look like. The group members speak not only for themselves 
but also for people like them in the community. I commend them for this - it is not 
always easy to be a representative and reflect the views of the many. In Westminster 
we continue to try to make sure residents are at the heart of decision-making; 
this group has been an invaluable part of this last year’s work and also great fun. 
I have enjoyed the various events we have participated in together and am so 
pleased their special contribution to the life of the community was recognised 
at the Westminster Staff Awards in July 2019. I look forward to a fruitful 2020.

Councillor Tim Mitchell 
Newly Appointed Lead Member for Family Services 
and Public Health, Westminster City Council
I am really looking forward to working with the Local Account Group 
in my new role and continue their hard work for the next year.

54

P
age 57



Formation
Shortly after joining the 
Department, Bernie Flaherty created 
the group in July 2018.

At the first meeting at the National Gallery, Officers 
presented the plans for the Group and asked for ideas, 
suggestions and a commitment to work closely with 
the two councils. Monthly meetings were agreed.

The Group stabilised with a core membership 
and wrote Terms of Reference in October 2018, 
followed by their Ambition Plan in January 2019. 
The Plan focused on the Department’s six priorities.

The nature and needs of the Group mean that the 
service-user base can change, with some people 
deciding they are not able to commit the time to 
engage or their own needs must take precedent for 
a time, meaning they are unable to attend for a long 
period of time. The Group is understanding of this and 
aims to keep membership at between 12 and 15 with 
flexibility and openness to new members all year round.

Members of the Group are trained to represent not 
only their own views on subjects, but also the views of 
people sharing similar characteristics to themselves.

This training was delivered by Healthwatch, who 
are the “governmental statutory body intended to 
strengthen the collective voice of users of health 
and social care services and members of the public, 
both nationally and locally.” with follow up training 
provided around dementia. Training for the group 
is ongoing and responsive to their requests.

What is a Local Account Group?
Before 2011 the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) who are the independent 
regulator for adult social care in 
England, reviewed the performance of 
all councils and published a statement 
advising the areas they could improve.

In 2011 this function changed and local 
authorities (not providing personal care) were 
no longer regulated in this way. Instead a 
recommendation came from the Department 
of Health that local authorities should do this 
themselves in partnership with Local Residents 
who understand first-hand the way social 
care is delivered. Since then, local authorities 
across the country have all developed and 
published their local account report in different 
ways that suit their local demographic.

In the Bi-borough we have decided to take 
this one step further in line with both councils 
strategic plans and set up a group that will 
not only evaluate how they feel social care 
is working but will also feed directly into 
the key decisions of the department. Rather 
than meeting once or twice a year this 
group decided they would meet monthly 
with the Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Public Health as chair. 

The meetings provide are a closed meeting 
which provide an opportunity to share 
concerns coming from the community, 
feedback on new initiatives and plan smaller 
more focused working groups aimed 
at improving the care delivered to the 
vulnerable people across the community.

“I have been 
delighted to 
work with the 
Bi-borough Local 
Account Group. 
As a Healthwatch 
we welcome 
the initiative 
where local 
peoples voices 
are heard right 
at the heart of 
the Council who 
wants to listen.”
Olivia Clymer, 
Healthwatch Central 
West London

Throughout this document we will frequently abbreviate the name of the group to ‘the LAG’

WHY HAVE 
A LOCAL 
ACCOUNT 
GROUP?

76

P
age 58



Council Plans
The importance of the Local Account Group does not just come from the 2011 
recommendations, but also from both Council’s Plans which set out that:

The Council should provide more 
social and affordable housing for 
local people, and improve and 
repair council homes.

Young people should have the best 
start in life, have a great education 
and should be supported to achieve 
their ambitions.

There is concern 
about rising crime 
and anti-social 
behaviour in the 
borough, residents 
want to feel safe. 

The Council 
does a good job 
of keeping the 
streets clean and 
collecting rubbish, 
these should be 
maintained. Health and 

wellbeing are really 
important, Everyone 
should have access 
to sports and leisure 
facilities, including 
parks and open 
spaces.

Getting a job and the right skills 
is important, especially for young 
people. People need support 
to address barriers to work and 
education.

The Council needs 
to change - it needs 
to communicate 
better with 
residents, involve 
local people 
in decisions, 
be sensitive to 
local needs and 
differences and 
employ more local 
people.

Most people feel Kensington and 
Chelsea is a great place to live and 
work. Residents want to see the 
borough’s unique and attractive 
surroundings maintained and 
businesses supported.

Everyone should have 
access to opportunities 
and services such as 
housing, employment, 
education, health and 
social care. Everyone 
across the borough 
should have the 
chance to fulfil their 
aspirations.

Community 
spaces and public 
buildings are 
important as 
they bring people 
together. The 
Council needs to 
protect them. 

What is most important 
to our communities?

OUR COUNCIL PLAN 2019 to 2023   OUR COUNCIL PLAN 2019 to 2023   8 9

The Council needs to change - it needs to 
communicate better with residents, involve local 
people in decisions, be sensitive to local needs 
and differences and employ more local people

Your Council is 
changing
The way we make decisions is 
becoming more open, transparent  
and accountable.

In Autumn 2017, we asked the Centre for Public 
Scrutiny to undertake an independent review of 
our governance arrangements. They reported 
in March 2018 and we are now in the process of 
implementing their recommendations. Work to 
date has included:

 • A series of public meetings to discuss both 
borough-wide and area governance

 • A series of public meetings of a “Listening 
Forums”, enabling members of the Leadership 
Team to hear directly from residents in an open 
format

 • An internal review of our processes for Forward 
Planning and Key Decisions

 • The consultation and engagement on residents’ 
priorities that has informed this plan.

Ultimately, we aspire to rebuilding trust with our 
communities and reconnecting with our residents 
by being open, transparent and engaging, and 
putting local people at the heart of the decision 
making process. We aim to be ready to propose a 
first set of significant changes to our governance 
arrangements at the Annual Meeting of the Council 
in May 2019.

We have adopted new values to 
underpin our new approach to 
public service

Following the Grenfell tragedy, we have listened 
to residents, engaged with communities and 
looked at how the world has changed around us, 
to understand what we need to do differently. Staff 
from across the Council have worked together to 
develop new values to underpin our new approach 
to public service and drive change through the 
organisation.

Our new People Strategy will include proposals to 
target recruitment of local residents, expand our 
apprenticeship programme, employ more people 
from backgrounds that represent the community 
throughout the organisation, including at a senior 
level. We will also deliver training in equalities, 
disabilities and cultural sensitivity for all staff.

Putting communities first
 • We put local people at the heart of 

decision making in everything we do

 • We seek to include and involve: all 
voices matter

 • We provide quality services that are 
responsive, effective and efficient Our 

new  
values

We are responding to the changing 
expectations of the modern,  
digital age

London is changing, society is changing. People 
want more flexibility and convenience in the 
services they use. They get it in the private sector 
and they expect it from public services. People 
want to be able to pay, apply and report anything 
online, seamlessly, and receive the same high 
standard of service no matter the issue. 

To support the modernisation of Council services, 
we will develop a Customer Access Strategy with 
the twin aims of improving the quality of customer 
experience and reducing the cost of service 
provision. At a minimum, this will include making 
improvements to our website and increasing the 
availability of digital channels for resident self-
service, for example to renew a parking permit or 
pay council tax. 

We are cutting costs to meet the 
deepening financial challenge  
we face

All councils are facing economic and financial 
uncertainty. Nationally, there is a shift in 
local authority funding with less reliance on 
Government support and greater reliance  
on income generated locally, including council 
tax. There will be a new funding formula for local 
government from 2020/21 and there are concerns 
that London, especially central London, may  
lose out.

Due to these changes, the Council will be more 
financially challenged over the medium term. It is 
likely that the Council will have to make savings 
of £40m over the next three years, equating to a 
reduction of 25 per cent of our net revenue budget.

Integrity
 • We listen to everyone and value the 

personal experiences of people in our 
communities and of each other 

 • We adopt a fair, and involving 
approach regardless of any way in 
which an individual is different to us 

Respect
 • We act with openness, honesty, 

compassion, responsibility and 
humility

 • We let people know what we are 
doing and communicate why and 
how decisions have been made

Working together
 • We work together and in partnership 

with everyone that has an impact on 
the lives of our residents

 • We want to understand, learn from 
each other and continually adapt 

OUR COUNCIL PLAN 2019 to 2023   OUR COUNCIL PLAN 2019 to 2023   32 33

We will put local people at the heart 
of decision making in everything 
we do. We will seek to include 
and involve: all voices matter

C
IT

Y
 F

O
R

 A
LL

 2
0

18
/1

9 City that celebrates its communities 
We are proud of Westminster’s vibrant neighbourhoods and mixed communities.  
We want to make sure everybody has a stake in the city and can actively contribute 
to their community. Through our #MyWestminster programme, we celebrate the 
city’s diversity and make sure local people are at the heart of every decision we make.

 More than 3,000 people from all over 
Westminster celebrated the second 
#MyWestminster Day at Paddington 
Recreation Ground on 1 July, cementing  
it as a major annual event to celebrate  
the city’s neighbourhoods.

 We will continue the roll out of the 
#MyWestminster Fund, making up to 
£10,000 available to grassroots organisations 
across the city to help make a difference 
in their neighbourhoods. 

 We will work with our neighbourhoods 
and businesses to make sure our valued 
EU residents remain welcome and the 
local economy continues to thrive as the 
UK prepares to leave the European Union. 

 We will work with residents to develop new 
proposals for the Oxford Street District, 
which includes the reduction of pollution 
levels, control of deliveries, protection of 
resident parking bays, ensuring traffic will 
not ‘rat run’ down residential roads and 
effective management of pedestrian  
areas and surrounding streets.

 We will remove unwanted and misused 
phone boxes from our streets.

 We are consulting on a new markets 
strategy, listening to the views of  
residents, shoppers, visitors and traders  
on how we can keep the city’s eight 
thriving local markets at the heart of  
local neighbourhoods. The new  
strategy will roll out in 2019.

 We are reforming the planning system  
so that, for the first time, members  
of the public will be able to speak at  
planning meetings. This is one of a range 
of measures to make the UK’s busiest 
planning authority more transparent. 

 We will retain and support Westminster’s 
libraries at the heart of our neighbourhoods.

 We will introduce a new licensing policy 
by 2020 to ensure that Westminster 
remains a major night time destination, 
balancing the needs of residents,  
visitors and businesses. 

 We will introduce 20mph speed limits 
where residents tell us they want them.

C
IT

Y
 T

H
A

T
 

C
E

LE
B

R
A

T
E

S 
IT

S 
C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

IE
S

We are proud of Westminster’s 
vibrant neighbourhoods and 
mixed communities. We want 
to make sure everyone has 
a stake in the city and can 
actively contribute to their 
community. We celebrate the 
city’s diversity and make sure 
local people are at the heart 
of every decision we make

The Local Account Group puts these imperatives into action

C
IT

Y
 FO

R
 A

LL 2
0

18
/19

Working with you to build a City for All 
We believe that creating a City for All is everyone’s business. Every single one of  
us – whether council, resident or business, voluntary group or visitor – has a part 
to play in contributing to our local community and improving the place where  
we live and work. Here are just a few ways in which you can do your bit.

 Join Team Westminster and experience new opportunities, meet new people 
and support your neighbours. You can sign up at do-it.westminster.gov.uk 

 Apply for a Westminster Lion business accreditation to demonstrate how  
your corporate social responsibility activity benefits the local community.  
You can find out more at businesswestminster.com/business-enterprise/csr 

 Apply for a #MyWestminster Fund grant to put your local projects into  
action and strengthen community identity. You can find out more at 
westminster.gov.uk/mywestminster-fund

 Get involved in our regular Open Forums to speak directly with the Leader, 
Cabinet and senior officers about the local issues that matter most to you.  
You can find out more at westminster.gov.uk/open-forum-residents

W
O

R
K

IN
G

 W
IT

H
 

YO
U

 T
O

 B
U

ILD
  

A
 C

IT
Y

 FO
R

 A
LL 

We believe that creating a City 
for All is everyone’s business. 
Every single one of us – whether 
council, resident or business, 
voluntary group or visitor – has a 
part to play in contributing to our 
local community and improving 
the place where we live and 
work. Here are just a few ways 
in which you can do your bit

The Westminster Plan states... 

The RBKC Plan states... 

98

P
age 59



THE CONTEXT 
OF OUR TWO 
BOROUGHS

This context is important, it helps to understand the profile of the 
boroughs the Local Account Group operates within. Every local area is 
different, has its own challenges and opportunities and this data helps 
to understand (in summary) the landscape the Group operates in.

Westminster City Council

Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea

Half resident population born 
outside of the UK

% aged 65 years and over with 
a recorded diagnosis of 

dementia in RBKC (2018)

% aged 65 years and over with a 
recorded diagnosis of dementia 
in the City of Westminster (2018)

Highest level of international migration in 
England. Just over half of resident 
population was born outside of the UK 

POPULATION:

159,197

1,639*

ADULT SOCIAL CARE SERVICE USERS – 
CLIENTS RECEIVING LONG TERM CARE 2,555*

4.5% (LONDON) 4.5% (LONDON)

ADULT SOCIAL CARE SERVICE USERS – 
CLIENTS RECEIVING LONG TERM CARE

POPULATION:

255,234

AREA:

4.68
SQ.ML

AREA:

8.29
SQ.ML

ANNUAL NET 
CONTROLLABLE ASC 

BUDGET: £70.879M

ANNUAL NET 
CONTROLLABLE ASC 
BUDGET: £125.483M

5th highest proportion of older 
adults aged 65+ in London 

based on the 2018 estimates

High proportion of younger 
people, 47% of resident population 
aged between 18 and 44 

Source: O�ce of national statistics

*as of April 2019

CITY OF 
WESTMINSTER

ROYAL BOROUGH OF 
KENSINGTON AND CHELSEA

Black, Asian, Arabic and 
other minority ethnic groups 
comprise 36% of population

Black, Asian, Arabic and other 
minority ethnic groups 
comprise 42% of population

4.0% 4.7%

Diagnosis rate in 
RBKC (2019)

Diagnosis rate in the City of 
Westminster (2019)

72.6% (LONDON) 72.6% (LONDON)

67.7% 77.2%

Source: NHS Digital as reported on Public Health England Dementia Profile

Source: O�ce for National Statistics Ethnic Groups by Borough, 2018

1110

P
age 60



OUR STORY 
SO FAR

“We want to understand more about the work of the councils, and 
your challenges, and we want you to listen to our experiences to help 
you make better decisions about people who are seldom heard”

I am Adam, I represent residents with Mental Health issues

WHO ARE WE?

  We are a group of residents and service users who live in 
Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster.

  We represent people like us who live in the two boroughs.

  We are proactive in the community and many of us belong to a number of community 
groups and networks. We are focused on representation and participation.

  We have a lifetime of experience and bring a diverse range of 
backgrounds, faiths and cultural influences to the Group.

  We have a range of skills and professionalism learnt from 
our working lives and from our life experiences.

  We had ‘representation’ training from Healthwatch which was very useful, and means 
we have a clear understanding of our role as voices for those who are seldom heard.

WHO WE ARE NOT
  We are not single voices, behind us are whole sections of the 

community. We humbly act as their mouthpieces.

  We are not representative of any other voluntary organisation, charity or 
group but many of us are connected to services such as: Healthwatch, 
Age UK, Brent Wandsworth and Westminster Mind, Kensington and Chelsea 
Older People’s forum, Westminster Senior Citizens forum and more.

  Not all of our members are featured in this report, some have moved onto other things, 
some do not wish to have their photographs taken and this group is focused on us.

“At first I was nervous and apprehensive, I was not prepared 
to get involved with this programme if it was going to be a 
‘tick box’ exercise, I was looking for genuine commitment to 
improve services for the better. My experience has been that 
there have been real changes and improvements made.”

I am Shiv, I represent older people and people with long term health conditions

“Those 
who tell the 
stories rule 
the world.”
Hopi American Indian proverb “I am a mother in the local community, very invested in the recovery 

of our devastated North Kensington community, physically and 
mentally, particularly following Grenfell. I feel very involved with the 
LAG and my community knowledge and networks tie in with this.”

I am Melanie. I represent people with ‘Invisible Disabilities’ to promote dignity

1312

P
age 61



I am Fay and 
I represent Older Women

I am Adam and I represent 
residents with Mental 

Health issues

I am Melanie and I represent 
people with ‘Invisible 

Disabilities’ to promote dignity

I am Shiv and I represent 
older people and people with 
long term health conditions

I am Aysegul and I represent 
people with Mental Health 

needs, I chose not to have my 
photograph taken and instead 
use this image to represent me

I am Michael and I 
represent people with Physical 

and Learning Disabilities

I am Htay and I represent 
carers, particularly those who 
care for people with Dementia

I am Rose D and I represent 
people with a visual 

impairment and carers

I am Michael W and 
I represent Older People

I am Stephen and I 
represent people with 
Learning Disabilities

WHO 
ARE 
WE? I am Rose H and I represent 

carers, particularly carers 
for people in residential 

or nursing care

I am Elsie and 
I represent older people

We are the authors of 
the report, the group 
is much larger than 
those featured here. 
We are all residents 
of Kensington 
and Chelsea and 
Westminster and 
represent people 
across the Bi-borough.

1514

P
age 62



Why we chose to 
concentrate 
on our six priorities
When we first met, we had lots of ideas 
and things we wanted to achieve, but we 
knew we needed to work with the two 
councils as partners in a structured and 
managed way to be able to achieve them.

We already knew about the six priorities and 
we thought it was very important to tie in our 
work with them. We knew other residents had 
themselves chosen the priorities and we thought 
that it was the right thing to do to pick up on 
their work and hold the Department to account 
on how they are following through on them. It 
also gave a structure and focus to our work.

I am Michael W, 
I represent Older People

This Report
We know that a Local Account report is usually 
based around ‘you said – we did’ style layout. This 
report aims to blur this line, so that it is ‘you said – 
we did together’. We have focused our efforts and 
work around the Adult Social Care six priorities in 
order to prioritise the work we are involved with, 
and ensure that the way the councils execute the 
priorities is in line with the views and wishes of 
the people who use the services they organise.

We have achieved a lot in the year but we 
know there is still much work to be done.

Our 6 priorities  

• People are actively involved in 

designing their own care

• Clear information enables people  

to make choices

• Services provide real choice

• Residents are supported to be 

independent and involved in  

the community  

Personalisation Prevention Safeguarding

• We promote independence  

and wellbeing

• We use robust data and  

evaluate interventions 

• We promote involvement in the 

community, and work closely with 

community groups

• Look for innovative digital solutions

• We make sure people feel safe and 

protect vulnerable residents  

• We support people with dignity  

and respect

• Staff and residents are empowered  

to highlight concerns

• Safeguarding is everyone’s responsility

• Joint working across health,  

social care and other providers  

to create holistic services and  

meet people’s needs

• Services appear joined up to users,  

and they can easily access what  

they need

• Information and data is shared 

between departments 

• We offer the right services for 

residents, that provide variety and 

capture unmet need

• We work closely with providers to  

raise quality and expectations

• Providers listen to and engage with 

service users 

• We actively seek feedback from users, 

and use this to inform decision making 

• We make sure that services are 

meeting people’s needs 

• We have clear systems and 

accountability for quality assurance 

Market ShapingIntegration Quality Assurance

Our 6 priorities  

• People are actively involved in 

designing their own care

• Clear information enables people  

to make choices

• Services provide real choice

• Residents are supported to be 

independent and involved in  

the community  

Personalisation Prevention Safeguarding

• We promote independence  

and wellbeing

• We use robust data and  

evaluate interventions 

• We promote involvement in the 

community, and work closely with 

community groups

• Look for innovative digital solutions

• We make sure people feel safe and 

protect vulnerable residents  

• We support people with dignity  

and respect

• Staff and residents are empowered  

to highlight concerns

• Safeguarding is everyone’s responsility

• Joint working across health,  

social care and other providers  

to create holistic services and  

meet people’s needs

• Services appear joined up to users,  

and they can easily access what  

they need

• Information and data is shared 

between departments 

• We offer the right services for 

residents, that provide variety and 

capture unmet need

• We work closely with providers to  

raise quality and expectations

• Providers listen to and engage with 

service users 

• We actively seek feedback from users, 

and use this to inform decision making 

• We make sure that services are 

meeting people’s needs 

• We have clear systems and 

accountability for quality assurance 

Market ShapingIntegration Quality Assurance

Our 6 priorities  

• People are actively involved in 

designing their own care

• Clear information enables people  

to make choices

• Services provide real choice

• Residents are supported to be 

independent and involved in  

the community  

Personalisation Prevention Safeguarding

• We promote independence  

and wellbeing

• We use robust data and  

evaluate interventions 

• We promote involvement in the 

community, and work closely with 

community groups

• Look for innovative digital solutions

• We make sure people feel safe and 

protect vulnerable residents  

• We support people with dignity  

and respect

• Staff and residents are empowered  

to highlight concerns

• Safeguarding is everyone’s responsility

• Joint working across health,  

social care and other providers  

to create holistic services and  

meet people’s needs

• Services appear joined up to users,  

and they can easily access what  

they need

• Information and data is shared 

between departments 

• We offer the right services for 

residents, that provide variety and 

capture unmet need

• We work closely with providers to  

raise quality and expectations

• Providers listen to and engage with 

service users 

• We actively seek feedback from users, 

and use this to inform decision making 

• We make sure that services are 

meeting people’s needs 

• We have clear systems and 

accountability for quality assurance 

Market ShapingIntegration Quality Assurance

Our 6 priorities  

• People are actively involved in 

designing their own care

• Clear information enables people  

to make choices

• Services provide real choice

• Residents are supported to be 

independent and involved in  

the community  

Personalisation Prevention Safeguarding

• We promote independence  

and wellbeing

• We use robust data and  

evaluate interventions 

• We promote involvement in the 

community, and work closely with 

community groups

• Look for innovative digital solutions

• We make sure people feel safe and 

protect vulnerable residents  

• We support people with dignity  

and respect

• Staff and residents are empowered  

to highlight concerns

• Safeguarding is everyone’s responsility

• Joint working across health,  

social care and other providers  

to create holistic services and  

meet people’s needs

• Services appear joined up to users,  

and they can easily access what  

they need

• Information and data is shared 

between departments 

• We offer the right services for 

residents, that provide variety and 

capture unmet need

• We work closely with providers to  

raise quality and expectations

• Providers listen to and engage with 

service users 

• We actively seek feedback from users, 

and use this to inform decision making 

• We make sure that services are 

meeting people’s needs 

• We have clear systems and 

accountability for quality assurance 

Market ShapingIntegration Quality Assurance

Our 6 priorities  

• People are actively involved in 

designing their own care

• Clear information enables people  

to make choices

• Services provide real choice

• Residents are supported to be 

independent and involved in  

the community  

Personalisation Prevention Safeguarding

• We promote independence  

and wellbeing

• We use robust data and  

evaluate interventions 

• We promote involvement in the 

community, and work closely with 

community groups

• Look for innovative digital solutions

• We make sure people feel safe and 

protect vulnerable residents  

• We support people with dignity  

and respect

• Staff and residents are empowered  

to highlight concerns

• Safeguarding is everyone’s responsility

• Joint working across health,  

social care and other providers  

to create holistic services and  

meet people’s needs

• Services appear joined up to users,  

and they can easily access what  

they need

• Information and data is shared 

between departments 

• We offer the right services for 

residents, that provide variety and 

capture unmet need

• We work closely with providers to  

raise quality and expectations

• Providers listen to and engage with 

service users 

• We actively seek feedback from users, 

and use this to inform decision making 

• We make sure that services are 

meeting people’s needs 

• We have clear systems and 

accountability for quality assurance 

Market ShapingIntegration Quality Assurance

Our 6 priorities  

• People are actively involved in 

designing their own care

• Clear information enables people  

to make choices

• Services provide real choice

• Residents are supported to be 

independent and involved in  

the community  

Personalisation Prevention Safeguarding

• We promote independence  

and wellbeing

• We use robust data and  

evaluate interventions 

• We promote involvement in the 

community, and work closely with 

community groups

• Look for innovative digital solutions

• We make sure people feel safe and 

protect vulnerable residents  

• We support people with dignity  

and respect

• Staff and residents are empowered  

to highlight concerns

• Safeguarding is everyone’s responsility

• Joint working across health,  

social care and other providers  

to create holistic services and  

meet people’s needs

• Services appear joined up to users,  

and they can easily access what  

they need

• Information and data is shared 

between departments 

• We offer the right services for 

residents, that provide variety and 

capture unmet need

• We work closely with providers to  

raise quality and expectations

• Providers listen to and engage with 

service users 

• We actively seek feedback from users, 

and use this to inform decision making 

• We make sure that services are 

meeting people’s needs 

• We have clear systems and 

accountability for quality assurance 

Market ShapingIntegration Quality Assurance

We represent people 
like us and sit on 
a number of other 
community groups. 
We bring knowledge 
and skills from 
our own personal 
experience but 
through participation 
in a range of local 
organisations 
we also have a 
wide-ranging 
understanding 
of the issues and 
experiences of people 
like us. We talk to 
people and use this to 
contribute to the LAG.

1716

P
age 63



THAT WAS THEN... ...THIS IS NOW

I didn’t really understand what councils 
do, they don't bother to tell you

The council felt 
out of touch

Tangible

jargon-busting

learning

ideas

enjoyment
creative

havingan impact

intangible change

Progress

representative
valued and
listened to

involvement

recognition of who we 
are with professionals

personal value as well as professional

acheivement
Decisions were made 

without discussion
There was a ‘them and 

us’ type attitude

The council is interested in PR but 
not genuine consultation

Listening to residents 
was an afterthought

They gave us ‘lip service’ and 
then did what they were 

going to do anyway 

We were brought in to 
‘rubber stamp’ decisions 
they had already made

I thought the whole thing 
might be quite fluffy

1918

P
age 64



OUR 
REPORT

Introduction 
from Htay
I am Htay and I represent carers, 
particularly those who care 
for people with dementia.

I am very pleased to be involved 
in this report and to have been 
with the Local account Group for 
the last year. In the report we go 
through each of the priorities and 
the outcomes we set last year 
that we wanted to achieve, and 
our progress so far in achieving 
those outcomes. You will also see 
information about other things the 
department is doing in that priority 
area as well, to give a bigger picture. 
We do hope that you can see that 
what we are doing is useful and 
valuable. We are very proud of what 
we have achieved so far, but also 
know we have a lot of work to do 
to help the two councils get to 
where they need to be and we all 
appreciate the opportunity to work 
with the councils to improve things.

Introduction 
from Rose H
I am Rose H and I 
represent carers, 
particularly carers 
for people in 
residential or 
nursing care.

This report 
documents 
our first 
year as 
a group, 
some of our 
challenges, 
our successes, 
things we’d like to 
follow up on and our plans for the 
future. It’s very much our report 
but we appreciate the hard work 
of Council Officers, Directors and 
Councillors which has helped us to 
achieve so much within a year, and 
we look forward to working with 
you more over the next 12 months.

Throughout the report 
we will be using the 
following symbols. 

These symbols mean: 

  We have 
achieved this 

  We are still 
working on this

  We have not 
achieved this

2120

P
age 65



Outcomes we set in 
our Ambition Plan:
OUTCOME 1

We will be involved with the Adult Social Care digital innovation programme.

We want to feed into how changes will look, feel and work in practice.

OUTCOME 2

We want to share our stories so that the councils can learn from our 
experiences and other residents can feed their views in too.

PERSONALISATION

“It was great having 
LAG members involved. 
It grounded all the work 
we are doing with real-
life issues and ideas. 
And they are such a 
lovely group of people 
– and not afraid to 
say what they think! 
Exactly what we want”
Sharon Grant, Head 
of Personalisation

“LAG members who 
attended the June 
meetings were 
really enthusiastic. 
I really valued their 
thoughts on the 
Market Development 
Strategy, particularly 
on perceptions of 
volunteering”
Phoebe Carpenter, 
Personalisation Project Officer

Our report for the year on our 
Personalisation work
OUTCOME 1:

Adult Social Care 
Digital Programme

  We fed our views and ideas into the 
Bi-borough digital strategy at a series 
of meetings with the project team and 
other stakeholders, from the start of the 
project and on an ongoing basis. We 
reviewed and gave input into the 
Market Development Strategy regarding 
choice and control in Adult Social Care 
and will continue our involvement as 
this large scale project continues.

  We reviewed and gave feedback on the 
People First website, from the perspective 
of people who would use the website.

  We have set up an intranet page, 
where we can share information about 
our events, photographs, documents 
and generally keep in touch!

OUTCOME 2:
Newsletter

   We regularly share our stories about 
being involved with our local groups 
and communities. However, we are very 
keen to deliver this in a more regular, 
accessible and user friendly way.

    We approached a training provider to 
deliver specialist training to develop 
our newsletter in August 2019, but 
unfortunately we had to postpone the 
training due to the heatwave - it was the 
hottest day of the year! This training will 
now take place in February 2020, and will 
focus on teaching us the skills to design 
our own newsletter to help us share 
our stories with the wider community.

Ongoing Council led Personalisation work
We have included some of the wider council work that we have been told about, 
and ask for regular updates about in relation to personalisation. Knowing about 
what else is going on in the two council helps us to decide where we can help, and 
helps us to check that work being undertaken includes residents just like us.

  The Department are reviewing the assessment 
tools and processes and develop a new tool 
to replace the current ‘FACE’ assessment.

   The Department is developing guidance 
and training for staff, service users and 
providers which will promote a more 
personalised approach across social 
care including Direct Payments.

Promoting the use of Assistive Technology – this 
is something we are very interested in, and at the 
recent staff conference we were lucky enough 
to share a stall with the equipment provider. We 
look forward to working with this side of the 
Department more and finding out more about the 
technological solutions they are working on and 
tracking the progress and developments made.

 Next Year we would like to use our page a lot more and would like to support 
all of our group members to become more confident with using IT.

2322

P
age 66



Elsie’s 
Story
I AM ELSIE, I’D LIKE TO 
SHARE MY STORY.

In September 2019 I had full right 
shoulder replacement surgery and my 
journey back to full health is still ongoing. 

As a member of the Local Account Group i am committed to improving 
services for people in need. The surgery meant that I required support from 
Adult Social Care Providers after discharge. I had a range of experiences from 
the social care market, some of which were excellent but there were pockets 
of poor care and practice, which I bought to the attention of the Council. 

This experience has spurred me on to 
continue the work of the Local Account 
Group, to celebrate the things that work 
well within the system and call out 
areas that clearly need improving.

I am still not back to my usual energetic 
self and I will need more operations and 
more time to get back to where I want to be. 
I am fortunate not to have any other long-term 
health conditions and to have a supportive 
family and friends network. I am very grateful 
for the support and quick action of 
the council officers and hope to 
be back on my feet very soon. 

I am a very active person. 
Throughout this period, despite 
terrible pain, strong painkillers and 
stress I have still kept in touch with 
the Local Account Group who 
have been a source of support 
for me. I am confident that I will 
be back to full health soon and 
look forward to carrying on the 
work with the group with my new 
nickname ‘The bionic woman!’

Dominic Stanton, Head 
of Quality Assurance
I am very familiar with Elsie and her story, she has bravely 

shared her experience with the Council and again in this 
report. I was disappointed by the less than adequate support 

Elsie received at home at a time when she most needed it. 

When we were alerted to Elsie’s difficulties we changed her agency with 
immediate effect and kept in regular contact with her and the agency to ensure 
her service improved. We have made it very clear to all of our contracted providers 
that the safety and wellbeing of our residents is our number one priority. 

We are resolute in our determination to ensure our residents receive 
the best possible care that truly meets their needs. It is by collaborative 
working with residents like Elsie that we secure the quality of services 
both they and we expect. Our ongoing partnership with residents 
will include service users being meaningfully involved in the design, 
commissioning, delivery and quality monitoring of services.

We now use Elsie’s story to drive continuous, sustained improvement 
with all of our Providers. 

I am Elsie, 
I represent older people

2524

P
age 67



Outcomes we set in 
our Ambition Plan:
OUTCOME 1

We would like to meet with Borough Commanders from 
the London Fire Brigade to talk about fire safety.

We would like to have some practical fire safety support from 
front line staff next year about direct fire safety in the home 
that we can share with our community groups.

OUTCOME 2

We will link with staff from both Boroughs and the 
‘Able network’ to do a joint walk around of the two 
major council buildings together – City Hall and 
Kensington Town Hall – to feedback on negative 
experiences around signage and toilets. We 
would like to work with Front of House staff 
to raise awareness of accessibility issues.

PREVENTION Our report for the year on 
our Prevention work
OUTCOME 1:

Meet the Borough 
Commanders for Fire

   This year we with Paul Kavanagh from 
the London Fire Brigade and had an 
interesting and useful meeting, talking 
about fire safety and learnt some 
interesting information about keeping 
safe at home and what to do in the event 
of a fire. There is some more about this 
on page 32. 
  
Next Year we would like to meet with 
the LFB again and see if there are any 
projects relating to vulnerable people 
that we could get involved with. 
The Borough Commanders have 
changed roles, and we have had 
commitment from both of them that 
they will meet with us next year.

OUTCOME 2:
Walk-around of the two 
Council buildings

   This piece of work came after a series of 
negative experiences with the buildings at 
Westminster and Kensington Town Hall.

  The issues included being unable to 
use bathrooms, being unable to sit 
down when waiting to be collected 
from meetings, and lift systems that 
are confusing. We asked if we could 
work with the two councils to identify 
issues around access that go beyond 
the basic disability requirements.

  We have agreed to partner with staff from 
both councils and the Westminster Able 
Staff Network, who we met at the ‘All Staff 
Conference’ in December 2019, we will 
then produce a report of our findings, 
along with some recommendations that 
we hope the two councils will consider 
making the buildings more accessible 
to residents who share our needs. This 
has been booked for January 2020.

Ongoing ASC Prevention work
Members of our group have had experience with the Link Alarm and Key Holding 
Service, which enables people to remain living at home alone, reduces hospital 
admissions and the need for a care package; and Home First aims to prevent 
hospital admission and supports people who are discharged from hospital. We 
are keen to be involved with initiatives relating to this in the coming year.

We are very interested in finding out more about the Self-Neglect and Hoarding 
initiatives that the two councils are leading on and part of.

Public Health Prevention work

Much of the work we have done so far is specifically targeted to Adult Social Care and we are interested 
in the work that Public Health do. We know that there are specific targeted initiatives around:

Sexual health (GUM and sexual and reproductive health), alcohol misuse, substance 
misuse, healthy lifestyles (includes smoking cessation and cardiovascular disease 
prevention), health checks, Community Champions, seasonal flu, mental health and 
wellbeing, suicide prevention, oral health, rough sleeping/homelessness and more.

We are keen to work with the Public Health Team to understand some of these initiatives and 
input into them where possible, or cascade their messages out to our wider networks.

We are very concerned 
about isolation and 
loneliness and the 
way it affects many 
people like us. We have 
attended a number of 
events and given our 
views about combatting 
this issue and keen to 
work on programmes 
that address this.

I am Stephen, I represent 
people with Learning 
Disabilities

2726

P
age 68



Making a difference
When we were first approached to join the Local Account Group, many 
of us were apprehensive and resolute that we would only join the Group 
if it would genuinely make a difference, we did not want to be part 
of a tick-box exercise. We hope this report shows that even in a year 
there have been real changes made as a result of our hard work.

As a group, our priority is making sure that the views of service users are 
at the centre of decision making within the two Councils. We are now 
confident and engage with the Health and Wellbeing Board and other 
political and scrutiny panels. We have lots of contact with local councillors 
and know that our presence at these meetings makes a huge difference. 
Since Bernie joined the department she has ensured users have been 
involved in every one of her recruitments. We feel that we are seen as 
essential element in such important decisions, and feel valued because the 
Department demonstrates we are needed to make important decisions.

We feel empowered to raise our concerns in a way that is helpful 
and not combative but will see real change happen.

Michael’s story...
RECRUITMENT LESSONS

Rachel approached the group about an opportunity to support a recruitment panel 
for the independent Safeguarding Chair, this is something I have done previously 
with the Advocacy Project so I thought this would be an exciting 
opportunity to get involved with. However, as we were walking 
out of another meeting, Rachel said she had never done one of 
these before and was nervous about how to run the session.

I told her not to worry, we had it all in hand all she 
had to do was write some suggested questions and 
we would work through them as a group in the pre 
meeting. Rachel’s questions were terrible! So we 
laughed a lot and instead wrote the questions together 
as a group and she wrote them down. We led the 
session from start to finish and we are confident 
that we recommended the best person for the 
job! Since then we have been involved in the 
recruitment of other senior officers and directors 
and look forward to continuing this next year.

Being part of the Local Account 
Group is different to being part of a 
focus or general residents group. 

Many of us attend formal Council 
meetings as observers and often 
write to Council Leaders. But in the 
LAG we know we can share how 
we feel and pass on the feedback 
correctly and to the right person 
including feedback on difficult and 
sensitive issues, this mechanism 
ensures that the grapevine into the 
community is more accurate. 

We all bring unique skills and 
expertise to the table, but we also 
bring our own needs and difficulties 
too. It is crucial that this is respected 
at all times, and never lost sight of.

I am Michael, I 
represent people 
with Physical and 
Learning Disabilities

I am Rose D, I represent 
people with a visual 
impairment and carers

I AM AYSEGUL AND I REPRESENT PEOPLE 
WITH MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS, I CHOSE NOT 
TO HAVE MY PHOTOGRAPH TAKEN AND 
INSTEAD USE THIS IMAGE TO REPRESENT ME

I was sceptical and hesitant to participate as a representative of 
mental health service users at first, as I assumed this was an ‘exercise’ to 
satisfy the council regulators or a PR exercise. I choose to participate as it was 
important to me to have the views of mental health service 
users expressed, and more importantly implemented.

After the first meeting with the Local Account Group I 
was surprised to find a diverse group of service users 
meeting with me to represent the diversity of the 
boroughs. I was also impressed by the sincerity of the 
Quality Assurance Team and the Executive Director 
to ensure our views directly influence the decision 
makers at the council. I felt appreciated, valued 
and treated with respect and dignity. I felt listened 
too. Being listened too is very important to me.

At the conference in November 2018 I suggested that the 
next event should be solely focused on mental health and 
wellbeing issues. I am very pleased to say the next conference 
in May 2019 was totally devoted to the subject. I felt I had been listened to.

Rachel reads 
my words at a 
staff event

2928

P
age 69



SAFEGUARDING
Outcomes we set in 
our Ambition Plan:
OUTCOME 1

We will work with senior council officers to design a feedback questionnaire for 
service users following a Safeguarding Adults process, once the feedback has 
gathered, we will help to analyse the feedback and present it to the Safeguarding 
Adults Executive Board with identified learning from a service user perspective.

We will link with the chairs of the SAEB engagement and other connected 
groups and share collaborative working and best practice.

We will work with the SAEB user 
group to update their leaflets.

We will be part of the panel 
that will recruit the new 
Independent Chair for 
Safeguarding.

OUTCOME 2

 We will be meaningfully involved 
in the Safeguarding Adults Peer 
review in March 2019.

We will attend the feedback 
session from the Peer Review 
and support the council in any 
way we can to embed the 
findings of the review.

“The contribution and 
support from both the 
Local Account Group 
and The Safeguarding 
Adults Reference Group 
has been invaluable. It 
is inspirational to work 
such a highly motivated 
and enthusiastic group”
Louise Butler – Head of 
Service, Safeguarding and 
Workforce Development Team

I am Fay, 
I represent 
Older 
Women

Our report for the year on our 
Safeguarding work
OUTCOME 1:

Safeguarding materials 
and engagement

   We commented and gave suggestions 
for the Safeguarding Adults (SGA) leaflet 
in partnership with the Safeguarding 
Adults Reference Group (SARG).

   We joined with the SARG to work 
on a video, focused on awareness 
raising around safeguarding and 
we helped design the content 
and appeared in the filming.

  We designed and featured in the SGA 
feedback forms, ensuring they were 
simple and easy to use in order to 
capture the true views of people subject 
to statutory safeguarding processes.

   We were part of the interview panel for 
the new, Independent Safeguarding 
Adults Chair, we also had a follow up 
meeting after she was appointed to 
give her some ideas about the ways 
the Safeguarding Adults Executive 
Board (SAEB) can run going forward.

   LAG member Michael H attended the 
Top 30 Managers Briefing in RBKC. 
Michael says “I wanted to get across that 
they shouldn’t just pay lip service to our 
involvement in council work. What were 
they doing in their departments to involve 
residents? I think they got the message.”

OUTCOME 2:
Involvement in the 
Safeguarding Adults 
Peer Review

   In March 2019 officers from other 
local authorities came along to 
review the safeguarding processes. 
During their week with the councils, 
we attended the Safeguarding 
Adults Executive Board meeting and 
spoke about our involvement in the 
department’s work in front of the Peer 
reviewers and Multi Agency board.

   We met the peer reviewers in a specific 
face to face meeting and discussed 
our experiences of safeguarding and 
what was important to us, reflecting our 
personal experiences and our knowledge 
of safeguarding through other groups we 
have been involved in the community.

  We attended the peer reviewers 
feedback session and heard first-hand 
the recommendations; this was very 
important to us and allows us to help the 
two councils to put these into action.

Ongoing Safeguarding work
The Safeguarding team has told us that they have had an ambitious 
year in which they have combined their approaches to working 
with service users by having a ‘service user by experience’ group 
– the Reference Group – and working with the Local Account 
Group. A few of us attend both groups. The Reference Group 
is now focussed on co-producing safeguarding training and 
delivering events to raise awareness of safeguarding adults. Group 
members say “our views are important, and our voices heard”.

Feedback from service users and carers groups is heard at every Board Meeting 
and through the subgroups. The team have committed to supporting the Local 
Account Group to analyse data from their feedback forms and present the 
findings to the Board, with identified learning from a service user perspective.

3130

P
age 70



Our Achievements
We know that fire safety is very important to the people in 
our communities. People that have been impacted by the 
Grenfell tragedy, people who have sensory impairments 
and people with physical and learning difficulties that 
make them more vulnerable to risk caused by fire. We 
were very keen to have a conversation with senior staff 
within the Fire Service to find out more about keeping safe.

This year we met with Paul Kavanagh, Borough 
Commander from the London Fire Brigade (LFB) who 
talked about the work they are doing to support people 
in their homes and in the community. We asked lots 
of questions about the plans for the future of the 
LFB and how to keep ourselves and our loved ones 
safe, including installing smoke alarms, evacuation 
procedures and simple ways to ensure our homes are safe 
(including not overloading plugs and closing doors).

We met the Grenfell Recovery Taskforce
In April 2019 we met the leads from the Grenfell Taskforce. The Grenfell Tower tragedy 
on 14 June 2017 had a devastating impact on many people and resulted in 72 people 
losing their lives. Many others have experienced trauma, loss and displacement.

When we received the invitation, we were keen to showcase the work we had done to 
date in partnership with officers from Adult Social Care. We had a fantastic meeting, and 
came away impressed with the commitment of the Task Force. Following this meeting 
we were so pleased to be referenced in the letter to the secretary of state in June.

“We have seen pockets of good practice in terms of fostering 
a good relationship with service users and the community. 
One of the best examples has been the Local Account Group, 
made up of residents, service users and people representing 
service users. Set up by Adult Social Care services to help 
them design service, specify new systems, review day-to-day 
work and hold them to account. We observed the group in 
action and were impressed by the excellent joint working, the 
positivity, and drive and ambition to make things better.”

 
4th Grenfell Task Force report July 2019, page 6.

Darren Tulley, 
RBKC Borough 
Commander 
and we look 
forward to 
working with 
him next year

3332

P
age 71



Outcomes 
we set in our 
Ambition 
Plan:
OUTCOME 1

We will support the two councils 
with the dementia agenda. We will 
have the opportunity to become 
‘Dementia Friends’ in partnership 
with the Alzheimer’s Society to 
help create dementia friendly 
communities, we will commit to 
dementia friendly actions and 
promote dementia friendly activities 
across the two Boroughs.

OUTCOME 2

 We will present to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board about the work 
we have been involved in, and 
would like to hear their ideas for 
involving us more in the future. We 
are keen to work with and connect 
with many other agencies and 
organisations to improve the health 
and wellbeing of residents like us.

INTEGRATION
Our report for the year on 
our Personalisation work

OUTCOME 1:
Dementia agenda

  Members of the group attended 
Dementia Friends training and 
information sessions.  
 

 
 
We are really pleased the Bi-borough 
is now officially accredited by the 
Alzheimers Society as Working 
Towards a Dementia Friendly 
Community.

   Although many of us in the LAG 
have experience of relatives and 
friends living with dementia, we 
are now more aware of their 
behaviour and what is important 
for people with dementia, and 
pass on this knowledge.

  We have worked closely with 
dementia leads to create and 
design the Council’s Dementia 
Plan, feeding into content, design, 
style and colours. We really feel 
it is a plan for the people, by the 
people. It is an exciting achievement 
and we look forward to it being 
distributed widely in both boroughs.

  We look forward to further 
raising awareness of dementia 
and supporting the Council on 
its ‘dementia friendly’ journey.

OUTCOME 2:
Presentation

  We hope to present this report 
and all subsequent reports to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.

Other dementia initiatives in 
the Bi-borough area
We have been kept up to date on the dementia bikes initiative between Bi-borough, 
the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS), four residential 
homes in the Bi-borough area and Motitech, a Swedish tech company. Many age-
related disorders are caused by physical inactivity rather than age itself.

Motitech created a product to motivate 
older people and people living with 
dementia to be more physically active. It 
is a video and cycling concept that allows 
participants to ‘cycle’ videos from familiar 
streets and roads to places of childhood 
memories, using a static exercise bike linked 
to a video screen. Competitions between 
residents and themed events are held to 
give prizes to those who cycle the furthest.

We think this is a great initiative and look 
forward to seeing the bikes in action in 2020.

  During Dementia Action Week we saw the Scarves 
campaign. In collaboration with the local Dementia Action 
Alliance the Council put scarves on famous statues 
around our boroughs, during Dementia Action Week 
and followed it up with a social media campaign.

  We have set up the Dementia Partnership Group 
to involve local people in the long-term. Made up 
of residents living with dementia and their carers, the 
group gives the two councils direct feedback on services, 
from adult social care to housing, leisure and transport.

   Andrew Carpenter, Bi-borough Dementia Lead says: “I’ve enjoyed 
getting to know so many lovely people and working with them to make 
our boroughs leading dementia-friendly communities. It’s been amazing 
to see how keen people are to help make things better and do their part”.

“I applaud the Bi-borough’s gumption in 
pursuing the commitment to becoming 
dementia-friendly. Ensuring that people know 
about dementia and encouraging them to 
think about how their work affects people with 
dementia and carers. Well done Westminster 
and Kensington and Chelsea for joining the 
‘Working to Become Dementia Friendly’ 
recognition scheme. We look forward to 
hearing many more positive examples of the 
work of the Councils in the coming years.” 

Esther Watts, Alzheimer’s Society

3534

P
age 72



More of our 
achievements
SPECIAL RECOGNITION AT THE 
WESTMINSTER STAFF AWARDS

We were delighted to be invited to the Westminster Staff Awards on 3 July at 
Porchester Hall. It made us feel like we are really included in the business of the 
councils, including celebrating its staff. We enjoyed dressing 
up for the occasion and had a wonderful time – so much 
fun to see ‘Every Voice Counts’ the Westminster staff 
choir. We also enjoyed the buzz and atmosphere 
in the room and meeting some lovely staff.

We were amazed and surprised to be given our 
own award! A Special Achievement Award, 
which was given for our dedication, energy 
and enthusiasm, and our commitment to 
our fellow residents. We were delighted – 
as perhaps you can see from the photo.

“Don’t say you’re going to listen, 
listen properly and be prepared 
to do things differently”
Patricia

RBKC Top 30 – plus one
Bernie Flaherty was invited to speak 
about community engagement in 
Adult Social Care at the regular RBKC 
Senior Management Forum (known 

as the ‘Top 30’) on 4 April 2019.

Bernie was adamant that a member 
of the Local Account Group 
speak as well, and LAG member 
Michael H asked to attend. After an 
introduction by Bernie, she asked Michael 
to come on stage and speak.

You can see from the 
photos how engaged the 

senior managers were as 
Michael spoke. When he 
asked to use the microphone 
you could hear a pin drop, 
and he offered them a 
challenge – what are you 
doing in your departments 
to make sure the voice 
of residents are heard? 
And don’t just give us lip-
service, but concrete, practical 
ways of involving residents.

You could tell that they were not expecting such a 
direct call-to-action, but they were very responsive. At 
the end of the presentation, two Executive Directors 
made pledges about involving service users and 
residents in their work. We are very proud of Michael 
and his courage to speak in front of those Directors 
to get the message across about the purpose 
and importance of the Local Account Group.

3736

P
age 73



Outcomes we set in 
our Ambition Plan:
OUTCOME 1

We want to ensure that the 
voices of service users are 
never forgotten when the 
two councils purchase or 
design new services.

We would like to work with 
the two councils to make 
this mandatory within Adult 
Social Care and beyond.

OUTCOME 2

We would like to be involved from 
the outset of the Statutory Advocacy 
tender; we want to support the 
councils with the important things that 
should be included with the tender; we 
want to evaluate tender submissions 
and once the contract is in place 
we want to review the quality 
of services delivered.

MARKET SHAPING Our report for the year on our 
Market Shaping work
OUTCOME 1:

Council Change

  With the help of officers, we prepared a 
report to be taken to the Commissioning 
Board for Adult Social Care. This report 
requested that the board change its 
terms and conditions to reflect the need 
to include service users (not always 
the Local Account Group) at every 
point of a commissioning process.

    The Adult Social Care Contracts board 
committed to change their terms of 
reference to make it mandatory for all 
contracts. The design of new services 
to show evidence of service user 
engagement right from the outset.

OUTCOME 2:
Advocacy and Day 
services tender

   We were invited to be part of 
the design and tender of the 
statutory advocacy services.

  We commented on all questions 
included within the tender documents 
and designed one of the questions. 
Once the tender is live, we will be 
evaluating the full tender response.

  We would like to see more people 
involved in this sort of activity to ensure 
that the voices of the people benefiting 
from the service are considered 
as part of the evaluation. This is an 
area the councils definitely need to 
do more work on, and we are very 
happy to be part of this next year.

  We were invited by Adult Social Care 
commissioning, to be part of their 
programme of work to redesign day 
services. The Strategic commissioners 
invited us to a meeting at Westminster 
City Council to talk about some of 
their ideas and some of our own.

Other Market Shaping work
This is an area of the Council that we would like to 
work more closely on, we hear a lot in the news 
about the stability of the market in Adult Social 
Care and we would like to be more involved next 
year in the work Adult Social Care carry out.

We were invited by the Department to contribute to 
the consultation they were carrying out around day 
opportunities. We know that 16 events were held 
across the Bi-borough, seeking the feedback of 
older people and stakeholders. Surveys were 
also issued by day service providers to older 
people across the Bi-borough.

We are keen to find out 
what the plans will be on the 
back of this exercise.

3938

P
age 74



Previously

Outstanding Inadequate

Inspection pending

Not previously inspectedRequires improvement

Currently

WCC

RBKC

Good

Outcomes we set in 
our Ambition Plan:
OUTCOME 1

We will design and implement a Quality Assurance (QA) Charter. A sub-
group of the LAG will meet the QA Team on a monthly basis to define what 
‘quality’ really means to the residents and service users of the Bi-borough.

We would like to get buy-in for the charter at all levels of 
the local authority to make the charter mandatory for all 
service providers in Adult Social Care and Health.

 We will be publishing the Quality Charter booklet in hard-copy and online.

OUTCOME 2

We will be working with the QA Team to “mystery shop” services, 
asking pre-agreed questions and making observations as we go. 
Following a similar format to retail “mystery shopping” of:

• One residential home in each borough

• One nursing home in each borough

• One home care service used 
across the Bi-borough.

We will then be giving feedback on these 
visits to the Council and the providers.

QUALITY ASSURANCE Our report for the year on our 
Market Shaping work
OUTCOME 1:

Charter

  We are working closely with the 
Quality Assurance Team to develop 
a Quality Charter, this is a document 
that all providers across Kensington 
and Chelsea and Westminster will 
be expected to sign up to if they are 
to provide social care services.

   We are sharing our own experiences, 
being in receipt of care, to improve 
things for people like us.

  The Charter will go above and beyond 
the expectations of the regulator or any 
contract they may have in place and is 
about what matters to local residents, 
and we will be working with the two 
councils to implement this and make 
sure that people receiving care are 
treated fairly, with dignity and respect.

   We will be working with designers to 
make our charter exciting, inviting and 
user friendly and expect to see it clearly 
displayed in all services providing care 
across both Boroughs. This has not 
happened as quickly as we would have 
liked! But we do work very closely with 
members of the Quality Assurance 
Team, and representatives from the 
team attend all of our meetings!

OUTCOME 2:
Mystery Shopping

  We are very involved with the QA Team, 
and have worked with the team to 
understand what they do to ensure that 
the safety and wellbeing of the residents 
is at the heart of everything we do.

  We will be joining some of the 
officers on their visits, to help them 
to spot things they may not! Using 
our experiences of caring for loved 
ones in receipt of care or receiving 
care ourselves we can be experts by 
experience to provide a different view. 
We are also excited to deliver this 
message to the providers and the CQC 
to help drive genuine improvement.

Other Quality 
Assurance Work
We know that the LAG has had a huge 
impact on the QA Team. The team are 
newly formed and are putting our views 
at the heart of everything they do.

The team are focusing on the improvements required in 
our residential and nursing homes and the QA officers 
as part of their regularly monitoring visits regularly speak 
to residents and families to get a full picture of the 
service. The team supported Elsie (see page 24 for 
Elsie’s story) when she struggled with a care provider 
and continue to use this case study as a learning tool.

We are excited to work with the team next year 
to help define what ‘quality’ means to us! 4140

P
age 75



THE WAY 
FORWARD
In the third section of the report we want to focus on the way 
forwards, on culture change and how we have made a difference.

If you think of council mechanisms like an engine, then residents 
should be every cog and wheel in that engine, driving it 
and setting the direction. We have re-designed how the 
engine works, re-engineered it to be constructed by the 
voices, needs and experiences of us, the residents.

That’s easy to say, but we feel we can demonstrate this in action.

We feel we are taken seriously by the two councils and that our 
work reaches beyond the boundaries of Adult Social Care.

We feel we have championed the voice of residents in 
the work of the two councils; departments are now 
actively understanding they need to routinely involve 
residents in the design and review of services.

We are proactive and take the initiative. We invited the two 
Chief Executives who came and spoke to us in February 
last year (Valentine’s Day) and we did a presentation to 
them about our work and ambitions to be involved fully 
in the work of the councils. They listened and we had a 
great session. We were so pleased they stayed and chatted 
to us informally for over an hour after our presentation. we 
hope we can meet both Leaders shortly to share our successes 
and discuss how we can become even note involved.

4342

P
age 76



WE SAID WE DID TOGETHER

PERSONALISATION
We want to be 

central to the digital 
innovation programme 

We want to feed 
into changes to the 

department and the IT

PERSONALISATION
We were and 

continue to be highly 

influential in the 
digital development

PREVENTION
We want to meet 
with the Borough 

Commanders 
from the LFB  

We want to see 
improvements in 

the Council Offices 
to make them more 

accessible to residents

PREVENTION
We met with the 

Borough Commander 
from the LFB

We were 

influential 
over the theme of 

the Adult Social Care 
staff conference

SAFEGUARDING
We want to help gather 
feedback from people 
who have been subject 

to a safeguarding

We want to be part 
of the decision 

making around the 
Safeguarding Board

SAFEGUARDING
We interviewed 

the Independent 
Safeguarding 
Adults Chair

We fed into  
the Adult Safeguarding 
Adults peer review and 

designed feedback 
questionnaires

INTEGRATION
We want to support 
the councils in their 

dementia agenda 

We want to present our 
report at the Health 
and Wellbeing board

INTEGRATION
We had the 

opportunity 
to become 

‘Dementia Friends’

We helped design 
the councils 

Dementia Plan

MARKET SHAPING
We want to change the 

way the Department 
considers service 

users and carers when 
designing services

We want to be part 
of the design of 
specific services

MARKET SHAPING
We are actively 

involved with 
tender processes

QUALITY  
ASSURANCE

We want to be part 
of the workings of 

the Quality Assurance 
team and support 

their improvements

We want to give 
feedback on services

QUALITY  
ASSURANCE
We work closely  

with the QA Team  
and have shared 

our stories with the 
team to help them 

improve services

This report details some of the work we have undertaken over the past year, 
some of the projects we have been involved with and the outcomes we have 

achieved. We acknowledge that the councils both have a long way to go but we 
feel there has been a change in the way we are viewed and that our voices and 

the voices of the people we represent are now being listened to and considered. 
We have to continue our work to make sure we are listened to at every point.

4544

P
age 77



As well as attending meetings, workshops and project sessions, we have also 
attended a number of events over the last year organised by the Adult Social 
Care Department and the two councils. We feel this is really valuable because it 
indicates that the councils value our contribution at every level, that we feel part 
of the fabric of the organisation. We have enjoyed them tremendously, but they 
are not just good fun they are ways of showing how the two boroughs feel that 
we are part of the ‘engine’ of local government here in Kensington and Chelsea 
and Westminster. It feels like we are breaking down the walls between officers and 
members – and us, the residents.

Here are some of the events we have been involved in: 

December 2018 SMT Christmas Party
  Bernie, her management team and the lead 

members invited us to celebrate the season 
at a festive party in the last management 
team before Christmas.

October 2018 ASC Staff Conference – 
 It Takes All of Us
  This was an exciting and engaging 

conference focusing on the 
department’s 6 priorities and we 
very much valued being part of 
this lively event, and some of us 
spoke at the event. Our thoughts 
seemed to be very well received.

May 2019 ASC Staff Conference – 
 With Health In Mind
  We enjoyed being part of this 

conference which focused on 
mental health and wellbeing, a 
subject many of us know a lot 
about. There were inspiring stories 
and activities that break down 
stigma about the subject.

October 2019 ASC Staff Conference – 
 Extraordinary People, 
 Extraordinary Lives
  We were pleased to be asked to join 

this conference showcasing the rich 
and rewarding lives staff lead outside of 
work that informs the work they do. So 
important for all of us as well – we all bring 
so much form our lived experiences and the 
things that motivate and inspire us.

April 2019 SMT Easter Party
  Bernie invited us again to an Easter party 

with here management team and lead 
members. This was just after meeting the 
Grenfell Task Force.

February 2019 Meeting the CEOs

April 2019 Peer Review

July 2019 Staff Awards

Summer 2019 
Safeguarding events

December 2019 December to Remember
March 2019 Carers Awards
  LAG member Rose H was a judge on the panel.

Events coming up...
• Continued monthly meetings chaired 

by the Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Public Health

• Adult Social Care Staff Conference 

• Wellbeing Event 

4746

P
age 78



THE 
FUTURE

We feel we have broken down the barriers. In the past, we felt like residents were 
only to be engaged when it suited the council. But we have changed things, not 
by writing manuals, or procedures or policy documents but in a much natural and 
organic way. We have used our instinct, knowledge and experience to cut through 
the red tape, to alter perceptions of officers and members in a constructively 
challenging way. We hope we have always done this with warmth and enthusiasm, 
we don’t seek to be critical without offering suggestions and ideas for doing things 
in a better way. We think we make a virtue of straight-talking, but laughing as well.

The councils have made some mistakes but allowed us to challenge them, and 
the councils have acknowledged they need to take ownership and are committed 
to improve, we really welcome that honesty. We want to be the engine that drives 
the work of the councils – the councils exist to serve the community and we are 
that community. We put a value on the strength of our human experiences rather 
than procedure and protocol. That stuff is important in its own way, but the most 
important thing is that our voices are heard, our views and ideas acted upon, our 
stories listened to, and that we set the agenda and pace for change.

Next year’s area of focus
We will be using our website a lot more.

We will publish a quarterly newsletter, once our training is completed.

We will be doing more work around dementia, and extending our work to include 
increased awareness around autism, diabetes, falls prevention and heart disease.

We would like the opportunity to work with Public Health around some of their 
community-based initiatives. We are keen to branch out work out to the wider councils 
and think this could be an exciting opportunity to set up some projects together.

We will be working closely with the Quality Assurance Team to finalise our Quality 
Charter and roll it out to all residential, nursing and domiciliary care providers.

We will be recruiting more members from both boroughs and will be holding 
recruitment events throughout the year to attract new members to our group.

We would like to focus on a programme related to loneliness and isolation, 
we know it is something that has a huge impact on our communities and we 
would like to work with the two councils to develop a solution together.

We would like to meet with more senior council officers and councillors, including those 
specialising in housing and homelessness, as we are aware that housing and the environment 
people live in is very connected to their overall mental and physical wellbeing.

  Next year we would like to promote our message even more to 
make further meaningful changes to our communities.

We would like to invite representatives from the health services to discuss 
some concerns we have about the overall health of the two boroughs 
and to understand health related systems and processes better.

We have achieved a lot this year, and have lots of ideas for next year, we look 
forward to seeing more improvements as we continue our journey!

4948

P
age 79



THANK 
YOU!

It’s great to be involved with so many people working towards common goals. 
The councils can only improve by us all working together at all levels, not just 
from the top down. That means with us residents as the lead voices and officers 
and members working together to make real change happen. There is still much 
work to be done, and more understanding to be had, and we understand that our 
commitment as a LAG group is that everyone involved in the process understands 
the commitment. We’ve made great headway, and been delighted to meet some 
very talented people from the two councils, but there is room for many more 
improvements and a lot of work still to do. It’s a balance, and about building on 
successes at the same time as identifying areas for improvement.

Barry Quirk 
Chief Executive, Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea
I have thoroughly enjoyed reading the Annual Report of 
the Local Group and delighted to add this afterword.

We made it very clear in RBKC’s 4 year Council Plan that we want to put residents 
at the heart of what we do and build on links in the community to ensure that 
we connect with what really matters to them. The Local Account Group is key 
to this approach. I thoroughly enjoyed meeting them last year in both formal 
and informal settings and was impressed by their enthusiasm, dedication and 
ability to express their opinions in a constructive way. It takes energy and resolve 
to be involved in representing others, and I want to thank them for their time, 
effort, and courage in doing this work so selflessly and with such enthusiasm.

Stuart Love 
Chief Executive, Westminster City Council
It’s been a real privilege to be involved with the 
Local Account Group over the last year.

I was delighted that the Group won a Special Recognition Award at the 
Westminster Awards in July 2019 because this was a tangible way of showing 
how the Council appreciates the work the group does. It also demonstrates 
the council is totally committed to involving the opinions and experiences of 
all members of our communities in a fundamental way. This Annual Report 
points the way forwards, and the ongoing work to be done to create a real 
change in the way we operate. I am delighted to thank all the members of the 
group for their hard work which this report amply demonstrates, and for being 
such stimulating, warm and engaging colleagues on our collective journey.

We’d like to say thank you to all the lovely people we have met over the last 
18 months from all aspects of the community, the two councils and various 
voluntary and private organisations. We’ve also loved all the sandwiches and 
coffee we’ve had – and Shiv’s regular supplies of fresh fruit. We have attended lots 
of meetings, but they have always had the personal touch and people have been 
warm and friendly.

Above all, we’re looking forward to what the future brings.

Some final words from the Chief Executives

5150

P
age 80



2/4/2020

A summary of the 

NHS Long-Term Plan for NW London

January 2020

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 7



2/4/2020

Introduction

01

The NHS Long-Term Plan was published by NHS 

England in January 2019. The aim of the plan is to: 

• support integration of care

• dissolve the divide between primary care and 

community based health services 

• and set out a new service model for the 21st

century

• provide financial sustainability to services 

• reduce unwarranted variation in performance 

and outcomes 

• better support the workforce, 

• improve digital tools to help join up and improve 

care

These slides provide an overview of our Strategic plan and 

how we will achieve these aims in NW London over the next 

five years.

“As medicine advances, health needs change 

and society develops, so the NHS has to 

continually move forward so that in 10 years’ 

time we have a service fit for the future.

“The NHS Long Term Plan will do just that. 

Drawn up by those who know the NHS best –

frontline health and care staff, patients and 

their families and other experts. It will give 

everyone the best start in life; deliver world-

class care for major health problems, such as 

cancer and heart disease, and help people 

age well.” NHS England – Long Term Plan

P
age 82



2/4/2020

Key themes of the Long Term Plan

3

• Supporting women’s health, pregnancy, birth and early care

• Immunisation / vaccination  services

• Focus on population health approach and tackling health inequalities

• Children and young people’s mental health services

• Children and young people with cancer

Making sure everyone 
gets the best start in 

life

• Improving cancer diagnosis and early treatment

• Cardio-vascular disease and stroke care

• Long Term Conditions – obesity, diabetes, respiratory disease

Delivering world-class 
care for major health 

problems

• Urgent community response, re-ablement and recovery support

• Maintaining independence and reducing social isolation

• Better support to people living in care homes

• Pre-hospital urgent care and Same Day Emergency Care

• Cutting delays in getting patients home

• Support to last phase of life; Co-ordinate My Care etc.

Supporting people to 
age well

• Thinking and Working as an Integrated Care System with strong borough-
based partnerships

• Training, supporting, retaining and recruiting our staff

• Primary Care at scale, with Primary Care Networks linking primary and 
community partners 

• Health, local authority, and voluntary sector working on shared aims

• Digitally enabled care

‘Doing things 
differently’

P
age 83



2/4/2020

Our strategic plan also demonstrates how 
we will deliver the London Vision

The Greater London Authority, Public Health England, London Councils and the NHS in 
London are working in partnership to deliver the London Vision. 

4

Working together to make London the healthiest global city and 

the best global city in which to receive health and care services

P
age 84



2/4/2020

NW London an overview (and challenges)

5

P
age 85



2/4/2020

The NW London strategic plan
The NW London plan contains nine chapters that discuss how we will work to improve care 
and services – outlining nearly 200 planned activities over the next five years.

1. Transformed ‘out-of-hospital care’ and fully
integrated community-based care

2. Reducing pressure on emergency hospital services

3. Giving people more control over their 
own health and more personalised care

4. Prevention 

5. Digitally-enabling primary care and outpatient care  

6. Improving cancer outcomes

7. Improving mental health services

8. Shorter waits for planned care

9. Population health

P
age 86



2/4/2020

Our strategic plan is underpinned by our 
clinical strategy

Over the past year we have 

worked with a wide range of 

stakeholders, residents, 

patients, local authority and 

health staff and 

organisational leads to 

develop our clinical 

strategy.

The strategy will be 

delivered through our 

seven interconnected 

programme areas.

7

P
age 87



2/4/2020

Our key priorities for 2020/21
• We have identified 9 key priority areas with strong population health outcomes that will 

improve resident, patient and staff experience as well as financial sustainability

• These are all underpinned by a focus on mental health 

Access to specialist 

opinion

Frailty / last phase of 

life

Care planning High intensity users

Long term condition 

management

Early detection for 

cancer

Social isolation

Safer care - maternity 

Proactive urgent care

Mental Health

P
age 88



2/4/2020

What will this mean for patients

High level 

outcome

Start well Live well Age well

Improved life 

expectancy

I am immunised, my 

parents are informed 

and my teeth are 

healthy

I am empowered and 

supported to be healthy

I can manage my long 

term conditions

effectively

Access to the right 

treatment, at the right 

time, in the right 

place

I get access to the right 

care and support when 

I need it

I get timely access to 

good support, and 

receive compassionate 

care and treatment

I receive advice and 

care from services that 

prevent my worries 

from escalating

People are able to 

recover and stay well

Overall, I am happy and 

supported at home and 

at school

I engage in meaningful 

activities and have a 

safe place to live

As I get older I have I 

have a supportive 

community and 

services around me

9

P
age 89



2/4/2020

We want our services to be followed up 
with more feedback like this:

10

P
age 90



2/4/2020

How have people been involved 
so far and going forward?

Developing the plan

Spoken to more than 1,750 people to 

ensure we are developing services

Healthwatch held 18 events and provided 

a report for inclusion in our planning

500 surveys completed in locations 

including: community events,

in shopping centres, A&E and

outpatient departments, GP

centres and public focus groups

Engagement since 2018 on programmes 

through our seven interconnected 

programme areas.. This will continue

Going forward

To support our 

on-going 

engagement a 

new programme 

is being launched 

in December

EPIC - engaging people in co-design

This is in addition to our other engagement 

channels:

• Out reach programme

• Local engagement

• Citizens panel

• Community voices programme

• Lay partner groups and representatives 

on each of our seven programme teams

The publication of 

our plan is not 

the end or our 

conversations 

with you, our 

communities and 

patients, it is just 

the beginning…

P
age 91



2/4/2020

To get there we need to change the way we work across 
NW London – developing our Integrated Care System

We also need to improve our 

finances to ensure we provide 

sustainable services for the future.

Working together across NW London, 

focussed on our key outcome 

improvement priorities, will help us to 

improve this.

Partnerships around common issues that are

Borough based

Partnerships around common issues that are

Local Authority and NHS Chief Executives are 

working together to develop our joint priorities and 

the underpinning system governance that will 

deliver these for our residents. Building on strong 

borough-based partnerships to ensure consistency 

and continued improvement in care and outcomes 

for all our 2.4 million residents across NW London

P
age 92



2/4/2020

Where to find the plan for NW London

You are able to find and read the five year 

strategic plan - overview document at:

www.healthiernorthwestlondon.nhs.uk/abo

ut/patientsandthepublic/longtermplan

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Westminster Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 

RBKC Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 
Date: 5th February 2020 

 
Classification: General Release  

 
Title: 
 

Update on CNWL CAMHS Education Health and 
Care Plan Improvement Plan 

 
Report of: 
 

 
Robyn Doran 
Chief Operating Officer, Central & North West 
London NHS Foundation Trust 
 

Wards Involved: All 
 

Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

Jackie Shaw 
Service Director CAMHS and Eating Disorders,  
jackieshaw2@nhs.net  

 
 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1 This report sets out progress against the improvements required in the Kensington 

& Chelsea and Westminster CAMHS services in order to ensure that Children and 

Young People who require Education Health and Care Plans receive timely, good 

quality contributions and interventions from CAMHS services. 

 

2. Key Matters for the Board 

2.1 The Board is asked to review and confirm that they are assured that the pace of 

improvements in the Kensington & Chelsea and Westminster CAMHS service is 

adequate and sustainable and that they are satisfied that Children and Young 

People’s needs are met and that any risk to reputation for all organisations involved 

is minimised. 

 

3. Background 

Page 95

Agenda Item 8

mailto:jackieshaw2@nhs.net


3.1 Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster CAMHS completed an audit in order to 

understand how prepared the services were for a SEND Inspection. The results 

showed that there were clear areas where staff lacked knowledge and that the 

systems to quality assure reports was poor. In particular there were clear gaps 

identified that indicated clinicians at all levels of seniority did not understand their 

role in contributing to Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP) and that neither 

team had identified champions or escalation processes in place to support staff in 

this work. Clinicians mistakenly understood this work to be solely the responsibility 

of staff that worked directly with children and young people who have a Learning 

Disability or Autism, as opposed to the framework to support CYP with complex 

presentations.  

 

3.2 The managers at that time developed an improvement action plan was developed 

in May 2019 to address issues, however progress was slow and following 

discussion at the CFA Executive the level of risk to the system and potential for a 

poor rating following an inspection was deemed high. Since then the service 

director has identified key managers and senior clinicians who have worked closely 

with the Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) to make and sustain improvements 

across the service. 

 
3.3 During the past three months the service has undertaken focussed work to improve 

with the support of the Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) on these issues. The 

action plan is attached in appendix 1. The following are the key updates on the 

SEND Action Plan. 

 

3.4 Both CNWL Westminster and K&C CAMHS have identified and developed a local     

clinical SEND Lead role. These clinicians have a responsibility to ensure that: 

 
 

 Staff are aware of the local CAMHS SEND protocol- the service line uses as good 

practice the NHSE Guidance which forms part of the teams Standard Operating 

Procedure 

 Staff are trained in relation to children with SEND and understand their 

responsibilities in contributing the Education and health care needs assessment 

process(EHCNAs)   

 Clinical Leads support and guide staff  when contributing to the EHCNAs and act 

as quality assurance for the process 

 Clinical Leads will attend respective Borough Strategic SEND meetings and 

Clinical reference groups 

 Leads keep a local CAMHS register of children with EHCPs that is available to 

OFSTED and CQC inspectors. 

Page 96



 All members of the Westminster and K&C teams have completed the SEND 

induction training in December 2019 

 There is a quality audit scheduled for the end of January 2020 to monitor progress 

against outcomes and clinical supervision of cases with EHCPs 

 There is an audit on staff training scheduled for January 2020 

 Robust links have been made with the Designated Clinical Officer who has offered 

surgeries in both teams in addition to facilitating the training 

 

The progress made has been good to date and has been shared with CAMHS 

commissioners who have fed back same. The service manager continues to meet with 

the Designated Clinical Officer and in addition the CAMHS SEND leads have joined the 

Local Authorities in SEND preparation meetings. No further concerns are being raised.  

The service is assured that these actions are enough to demonstrate that the services 

have a plan in place to sustain the changes in practice required to support children and 

young people who present with complex needs. 

 

An updated action plan is attached to the appendices in this document. 

 

 

1. Options / Considerations 

Health and Well Being Board members are asked to consider whether the actions 

taken to deliver against the improvement plan are enough assurance that specialist 

CAMHS is contributing to Children and Young People who have specialist and 

complex needs getting their support needs met through Education Health and Care 

Plans (EHCP). 

 

2. Legal Implications 

The Education Health and Care Plan is a legally binding document which sets out 

a child or young persons’ needs in these areas and sets out a plan to support the 

needs. The document is binding for all parties – health and social care – involved 

in the child’s care. Parents have the right to appeal the content. 

 
3. Financial Implications 

None 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 97



If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 

Background Papers please contact:   

Jackie Shaw, Service Director CAMHS and Eating Disorders, Central & North West 

London NHS Foundation Trust  

Email: jackieshaw2@nhs.net 

Telephone: 07989 309208 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDICES: 

 

Appendix 1: CNWL  KCW CAMHS SEND Action Plan 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:   

 

None 

Page 98

mailto:jackieshaw2@nhs.net


SEND Action Plan – Westminster and K&C CAMHS 
 

Theme: Recommendation Action (Required to Achieve 

Recommendation) 

Responsible 

Person(s) 

Action 

Deadline 

Evidence Monitoring Progress: 

RAG Rating 

Organisation There is an 

organisational policy 

that informs services 

of their roles and 

responsibilities for 

SEND 

A CNWL organisational policy which 

specifically includes SEND will be 

written and approved through 

CNWL policy setting processes 

Senior 

Management 

Team & 

Clinical 

Effectiveness 

Group. 

Dec 2019 The Service line 

has developed a 

protocol based 

onthe NHSE 

guidance.https://

www.england.n

hs.uk/wp-

content/uploads/

2018/07/send-

health-services-

children-young-

people.pdf in 

their SOP

KCW SEND protocol 
rev.docx

 

Local KCW 

SEND leads 

and in service 

line CQPMG  

 

 

 Staff are aware of the 

policy within SEND 

Designated Clinical Officer for 

SEND to work with Head of 

Profession for Psychology to create 

CAMHS staff training re SEND 

responsibilities.  

 

SEND Policy to be constructed and 

embedded into the service 

Head of 

Profession for 

Clinical 

Psychology 

June 2019 All CAMHS 

teams have 

designated  

SEND Leads 

who ensure staff 

are kept up to 

date in local 

CQPMG’s about 

SEND for 

children and 

young people 

 

 
SEND Policy to 

be constructed 

and 

embedded 

into the 

service 

 

       

 Responsibilities and 

knowledge / experience 

in relation to SEND are 

included in job 

descriptions and 

person specifications 

All job descriptions throughout the 

CAMHS service line will be revised as 

posts are recruited, ensuring they 

outline responsibilities, knowledge 

and experiences in 

relation to SEND 

Service Manager As posts are 

reviewed 

over the next 

12 months 

Staff made 

aware of role 

in SEND 

processes and 

job plans 

survey in Q1 

2020 
 

P
age 99



 Roles and 

responsibilities, EHCP 

advice process forms 

part of service 

induction process 

To include details of SEND and the 

Local Offer in service induction 

packs 

 
To identify an EHCP lead to support 

team members in completing 

EHCP’s. 

 April 2019 
 
 
 
 
 

April 2019 

Staff made 

aware of role in 

SEND processes 

and job plans 

survey 

in Q1 

2020  

 

      
 

P
age 100



  Training for staff who regularly 

contribute to EHCP’s. 

 
Staff are particularly aware of SEN 

especially those staff who work in 

school settings and have regular 

contact with SENCO in primary and 

secondary schools. 

Head of 

Profession for 

Clinical 

Psychology 

Under way 1st Round of 

training has 

been 

completed. 

2nd Round of 

training in 

planning 

phase. 

clinical leads 

to monitor 

 

Training 

audits 

 

Theme: Recommendation Action (Required to Achieve 

Recommendation) 

Responsible 

Person(s) 

Action 

Deadline 

Evidence Monitoring Progress: 

RAG Rating 

Strategic 

Leadership 

There is strong 

strategic leadership of 

the SEND reforms 

within the 

organisation 

To identify a designated CNWL 

SEND lead / Develop leadership 

within the team via Local Care 

Quality Group 

Head of 

profession for 

Clinical 

Psychology 

Completed Attendance at 

Strategic SEND 

meetings 

Feedback to 

CQPMG 

 

Participation in local 

SEND developments 

and workstreams 

To identify leads who will attend 

the clinical reference groups 

Head of 

Profession for 

Clinical 

Psychology 

Complete JL and SEND 

reps in K&C and 

W attending 

KCW meeting 

Feedback to 

CEG 

 

Theme: Recommendation Action (Required to Achieve 

Recommendation) 

Responsible 

Person(s) 

Action 

Deadline 

Evidence Monitoring Progress: 

RAG Rating 

Local Offer Clinicians signpost 

families to the Local 

Offer 

For all CAMHS Staff to be aware of the 

local offer so they can signpost 

children and young people as 

appropriate. 

Team 

Manager and 

Clinical Leads 

Completed    

   
Posters will be displayed in all 

clinical areas. Fliers are available for 

clinicians to give to families when 

signposting them. 

 
Team Managers 

and Clinical leads 

 
Completed 

  Posters and 

leaflets 

available 

throughout the 

clinics 

Feedback 

from 

CYP/families 

  
Work will be undertaken to design a 

leaflet with CYP who use our 

service to explain SEND 

Participation 

Worker 

July 2019 
  

Theme: Recommendation Action (Required to Meet 

Recommendation) 

Responsible 

Person(s) 

Action 

Deadline 

Evidence Monitoring Progress: 

RAG Rating 

Awareness There is a mechanism CAMHS teams to identify open Team Completed Audit Re-audit Lists  

P
age 101



of SEND to identify C&YP with 

SEND within individual 

case notes E.g. 

question on case 

history re SEND 

cases where EHCP plans have been 

completed and keep a list of these on 

the service shared drive. 

Manager and 

Clinical leads 

 completed of SEND 

highlighting 

those with 

EHCP on a 

regular basis. 

 

There is a mechanism 

to identify and report 

on the number of 

C&YP within the 

service with SEND 

CAMHS teams will hold a list of 

children and young people on 

EHCP’s on the service shared drive 

and update regularly. This will 

enable accurate reporting. 

Designated 

SEND leads 
Completed Audit completed Next audit due 

January 2020 
 

Theme: Recommendation Action (Required to Achieve 

Recommendation) 

Responsible 

Person(s) 

Action 

Deadline 

Evidence Monitoring Progress: 

RAG Rating 

Education, 

Health and 

Care Needs 

Assessment 

Process 

There is a SOP in place 

that outlines the 

service admin 

procedure for provision 

of advice for 

EHCNAs 

Establish a protocol that will guide 

staff and give an overview of the 

health contribution to the 

assessment process 

Service 

Manager 
March 2019 SOP is in place 

and staff are 

following 

Audit through 

LOCAL 

CQPMG 

 

The service centrally 

monitors requests for 

advice and timeliness 

of response 

To be identified within the protocol Service 

Manager 
March 2019 SOP is in place 

and staff are 

following 

Audit through 

Local 

CQPMG 

 

Team leaders / senior 

staff monitor the 

timeliness of the 

provision of health 

advice to EHCNA 

requests 

To be identified within the protocol Service 

Manager 
March 2019 SOP is in place 

and staff are 

following 

Manual 

quarterly return 

to CCG as part 

of the Quality 

Schedule.  

Team training 

completed by 

Dec 2019. 

 

Next audit due 

January 2020 

 

The health advice 

contains high quality 

Training for all staff to ensure they 

are aware of the expectations re 

Head of 

Profession for 

March 2019 Training 

records 

Team training 

completed by 

Dec 2019. 

 

Next audit due 

January 2020 

 

P
age 102



 meaningful outcomes 

(SMART) 

their health contributions to EHCP 

plans 
Psychology  including all 

staff who have 

attended 

  

PfA outcomes are 

included for young 

people in Year 9 and 

above 

An audit will take place January 

19th 2019 

Service 

Manager 
Completed Audit results Re-audit on a 

regular basis 
 

Recommendations for 

provision are limited 

to the clinician’s area 

of expertise. 

Training for all staff to ensure they 

are aware of the expectations re 

their health contributions to EHCP 

plans 

Head of 

Profession for 

Psychology 

February 

2019 

Training 

records 

including all 

staff who 

have attended 

Additional 

training to be 

provided Feb 

2020 

 

Where clinicians 

identify a need for 

provision outside of 

the Local Offer, this is 

clearly identified in the 

advice and is bought 

to the attention of the 

relevant health 

commissioner and 

SEND lead 

Training for all staff to ensure they 

are aware of how to identify the 

need for service provision outside the 

local offer 

 

 
Staff are aware of processes for 

contacting the relevant health 

commissioner 

Head of 

Profession for 

Psychology 

 
 

 
Team manager 

& clinical leads 

February 2019 

 
 
 
 

February 2019 

Training record 

including all 

staff who have 

attended 

 
EHCP’s 

contain 

recommendati 

ons for 

alternative 

services when 

appropriate 

To be audited 

on a regular 

basis 

 
 

 
Quality of 

contributions 

to be audited 

on a regular 

basis 

Additional 

training to be 

provided Feb 

2020 

 

There is a QA process in 

place to monitor the 

quality of service 

advice 

Auditing of EHCP’s to be added to 

the regular audit cycle within 

CAMHS 

Head of 

Profession for 

Psychology 

Completed Audit results Audit in 

February 

2020 

 

Theme: Recommendation Action (Required to Achieve 

Recommendation) 

Responsible 

Person(s) 

Action 

Deadline 

Evidence Monitoring Progress: 

RAG Rating 

Parent / The voice of the child A focus group will be identified for Participation March 2019 Focus group Feedback  

P
age 103



Carer and young person and 

their family is evident in 

assessment and reports 

provided by the service 

including 

advice for EHCNAs. 

the inspection Worker 

Deputy 

Service 

Manager 

  from CYP & Families. 

Focus group to be set 

up 

 

Theme Recommendation Action (Required to 
Achieve 

Recommendation) 

Responsible 

Person(s) 

Action 

Deadline 

Evidence Monitoring Progress: 

RAG 
Rating 

Education, 

Health and 

Care Plans 

Draft plans are reviewed 

to ensure that the advice 

from the service has been 

accurately detailed in the 

plan 

Process to be 

developed and 

implemented by 

leads 

Head of 

Profession for 

Psychology 

supported by 

designated 

SEND leads 

April 

2019 

Review of 

procedures 

K&C and W to be 

initiated in CEG 

with view to audit 

Dec 2019/Jan 

20120 

Next audit due Jan 

2020 
 

There are service 

guidelines in place re the 

annual review process 

and attending meetings 

To be identified  within the 

service protocol 

Head of 

Profession for 

Psychology 

supported by 

designated 

SEND leads 

April 

2019 

Review of 

guidelines K&C 

and W to be 

initiated in CEG 

with view to audit 

Dec 2019/Jan 

20120 

Recommendations 

shared and actions 

agreed to be 

monitored  in local and 

service line cqpmg 

 

A written report detailing 

progress against 

outcomes is provided in 

advance of the annual 

review 

meeting 

To be identified        within the 

service protocol 

Head of 

Profession for 

Psychology 

April 

2019 

Audit results will 

provide the 

progress 

against 

outcomes 

Next audit due Jan 

2020 
 

There is a system in 

place to monitor the 

achievement of 

outcomes for your 

service 

To use existing routine 

outcome measures 

which are already 

embedded within the 

service 

Head of Psychology 

& SEND leads 
April 

2019 

ROM’s are 

used by all 

staff and 

uploaded 

onto our 

clinical 

records 

System alongside 
routine audit  

Audit results will 

provide the progress 

against outcomes 

and clinical 

supervision of 

clinical cases with 

EHCP plan Design  

 

 

P
age 104



 

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

Westminster Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 

RBKC Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 
Date: 5th February 2020 

 
Classification: General Release 

 
Title: 
 

Safeguarding Adults Executive Board Annual 
Report. 
 

Report of: 
 
 

Louise Butler, Head of Safeguarding Adults and 
Workforce Development Bi-Borough. 

Wards Involved: All 
 

Financial Summary:  N/a 
 

Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

lbutler@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The Safeguarding Adults Executive Board Annual Report provides an overview of 

the work the multi-agency board has undertaken during the 2018-2019 year for the 

Bi-Borough. 

 

2. Key Matters for the Board 

2.1 The presentation of the SAEB Annual Report is for information purposes only. 

  

3. Background 

3.1 Local Safeguarding Adults Boards are required to publish an Annual Report of their 

work. 

 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9

mailto:lbutler@westminster.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

4. Options / Considerations 

4.1      The presentation of the SAEB Annual Report is for information purposes only. 

 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 N/a 

 

6. Financial Implications 

6.1 N/a 

 
 

 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 

Background Papers  please contact:   

Louise Butler, Head of Safeguarding Adult and Workforce Development 

 

Email: lbutler@westminster.gov.uk 

 

Telephone: 020 7641 5201 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDICES: 

None. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:   

 

Page 108

mailto:lbutler@westminster.gov.uk


SAFEGUARDING ADULTS  
EXECUTIVE BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT  
2018/19

mistreated?
bullied?
hit?
neglected? 
hurt?
exploited?
silenced?

COURAGE
COMPASSION 
ACCOUNTABILITY

Page 109



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18  1

FOREWORD 2
WHAT THE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS 
EXECUTIVE BOARD IS 3
 Structure and membership  3
 Putting our “house” in order 7
 Safeguarding Strategy “Statement of 

Intent”  10
CREATING A SAFE AND HEALTHY 
COMMUNITY
 Service User Involvement  11
 Community Engagement 13
 Financial Abuse, Better Outcomes for 

People 16
MAKING SAFEGUARDING PERSONAL
 Financial Abuse, Dementia Friends 19
 Creating a Safe and Healthy 

Community 22
 Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) 23
 Community Safety – Violence Against 

Women and Girls 24
 Modern Slavery and Exploitation 25

LEADING, LISTENING AND LEARNING 27
 Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARS) 27

WHAT HAS THE BOARD BEEN DOING? 30
 Adult Safeguarding in Action 2018/19 30

WHAT ARE THE NUMBERS TELLING US? 33
APPENDIX 35
JARGON BUSTER 37
WHAT THE BOARD WILL BE WORKING ON IN 
2019/2020 40

CONTENTSSAFEGUARDING ADULTS  
EXECUTIVE BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT  
2018/19

P
age 110



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      32  SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17

I am very pleased to introduce the Annual Report 
for the Bi-Borough Safeguarding Adults Executive 
Board 2018/19. As the Interim Independent Chair of 
the Board during that year, I was very grateful to all 

partners for their contributions to the Board, and their 
ongoing support. 

During the year, the partnership has reviewed and 
amended its governance structure and developed 
and agreed a practical business plan to deliver our 
shared objectives. The plan includes our commitment 
to working with all agencies, supporting operational 
services to prevent abuse from happening, and when 
and where abuse does happen, be assured that all 
agencies respond appropriately. The Board also held 
a development day which provided an opportunity for 
partners to evidence their work to safeguard vulnerable 
adults. Partners of the Board have continued to support 
each other, meet our collective commitment to keeping 
adults safe across the Bi-Borough, and progress delivery 
of the business plan to support the shared objectives.

In March 2019 a peer review team was invited, through 
the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services 
London (ADASS), to complete a review of safeguarding 
arrangements within the Bi-Borough. The review was 
a stimulating and rewarding experience. The quality of 
the work shared and the conversations with the Peer 
Review Team demonstrated commitment, hard work and 
professionalism regarding safeguarding adults from all 
partners. 

We have continued to look at information about 
safeguarding activity in the Bi-Borough to inform 
our priorities for improvement. We have considered 
recommendations and lessons learned from 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews and where relevant, from 
Children’s Serious Case Reviews and Domestic Homicide 
Reviews to understand what happened, and what needs 
to change. This has informed the business plan this year 
and priorities for the future

We continue to raise awareness of safeguarding 
in the communities of the Bi-Borough, with the 
help of our service user, community and voluntary 
groups, especially the ‘Local Account Group’ and the 
‘Safeguarding Adults Reference Group’.

This annual report is important because it shows what 
the Board aimed to achieve during 2018/19 and what 
we have been able to achieve. It shows that most of 
the business plan was completed during the year. The 
annual report provides a picture of who is safeguarded 
in the Bi-Borough, in what circumstances and why. This 
helps us to know what we should be focussing on for 
the future. It includes the High-Level Statement of Intent 
2019/2022, which says what we want to achieve during 
the next 3 years (see page 10).

There continues to be significant pressures on partners 
in terms of resources and capacity, so we want to thank 
all partners and those who have engaged in the work 
of the Board, for their considerable time and effort. In 
my role as Interim Independent Chair I would like to 
acknowledge the value of the work of the subgroups 
in supporting the Bi-Borough Safeguarding Adults 
Executive Board (SAEB). 

There continues to be a lot to do to reduce the risks and 
experiences of abuse and neglect in our communities 
and support people who are most vulnerable to these 
risks. I sincerely hope that Board partners will continue 
to work together to achieve the Boards objectives with 
the support and leadership of the new Independent 
Chair  

I hope that you will find this year’s Annual Report a 
helpful and informative read. 

Dr Adi Cooper OBE,
Interim Independent Chair, Safeguarding Adults 
Executive Board 2018/19

FOREWORD WHAT DOES THE EXECUTIVE 
BOARD DO?

Our Vision
The strategic objectives and work of the Board is 
based on the following vision:

People in the Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea and Westminster City Council have the right 
to live a life free from harm, where communities:

	● have a culture that does not tolerate abuse

	● work together to prevent abuse

	● know what to do when abuse happens

Structure and Membership
The Bi-Borough Safeguarding Adults Executive Board 
(SAEB) is a multi-agency partnership.

The role of the Board is to assure itself that local 
safeguarding arrangements and partner agencies act to 
help and protect adults in its area. 

This is about how we prevent abuse and respond when 
abuse does occur in line with the needs and wishes of 
the person experiencing harm. 

The Boards’ main objective is to assure itself that local 
safeguarding arrangements and partner organisations 
act to help and protect people aged 18 and over in the 
area who: 

	● have needs for care and support; and 

	● are experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and 

	● (as a result of their care and support needs) are 
unable to protect themselves from either the risk of, 
or experience of, abuse or neglect. 

Our Values and Behaviours 
The Board believes that adult safeguarding takes 
COURAGE to acknowledge that abuse or neglect is 
occurring and to overcome our natural reluctance to 
face the consequences for all concerned by shining a 
light on it.

The Board promotes COMPASSION in our dealings 
with people who have experienced abuse and neglect, 
and in our dealings with one another, especially when 
we make mistakes. The Board promotes a culture of 
learning rather than blame.

At the same time, as members of the Board, we are 
clear that we are ACCOUNTABLE to each other, and 
to the people we serve in the two boroughs.

The Board is responsible for overseeing and leading on 
the protection and promotion of an adult’s right to live 
an independent life, in safety, free from abuse and 
neglect across The Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea and Westminster City Council.

The Board is a partnership of organisations working 
together to prevent abuse and neglect, and when 
someone experiences abuse or neglect, to respond in 
a way that supports their choices and promotes their 
well-being.

The Board does not work in isolation, nor 
is it solely responsible for all safeguarding 
arrangements as Safeguarding is everyone’s 
business!

P
age 111



4      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      5

This Agenda is much wider than when Safeguarding 
Boards were first introduced.

Sub-groups of the Board are chaired by officers from the 
following organisations:

	● Central North West London NHS Foundation Trust

	● Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust

	● Central London Community Healthcare Trust

	● The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust

	● London Fire Brigade

	● Metropolitan Police 

	● Notting Hill Genesis Housing

	● The North West London Collaboration of Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (NWL CCGs)

The Care Act 2014 states that the Board 
can appoint other members it considers 
appropriate with the right skills and experience. 

There are senior representatives on the Board, from the 
following organisations:

	● London Fire Brigade

	● Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust

	● Chelsea and Westminster Hospital Foundation NHS 
Trust

	● The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust

	● Central London Community Healthcare Trust

	● Central North West London NHS Foundation Trust

	● Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC)

	● National London Probation Service

	● Children’s Services (Local Authority)

	● Community Safety (Local Authority)

	● Local Councillors

	● Housing (Local Authority)

	● Mind

	● Genesis Notting Hill Housing

	● Trading Standards (Local Authority)

	● Public Health Community Champions Programme

	● Royal Brompton and Harefield HNS Foundation 
Trust Healthwatch 

Section 43 and Schedule 2 of the Care Act 2014 
outlines local authorities’ responsibilities to set 
up a Safeguarding Adults Board in their area. 

The Act requires a Safeguarding Adults Board to: 

1. Develop and produce a 3-year Strategy and an annual 
Business Plan in order to direct the work of the Board 
that reflects its priorities

2. Publish an annual report/accountability statement 
highlighting the Board’s progress and achievements 
in meeting the objectives in the Strategic 
Safeguarding Plan and ensuring this is widely 
reported across partner agencies and organisations.

3. Learn from the experiences of individuals, through 
undertaking Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR’s) 
in accordance with the national guidance of best 
practice and the Board’s SAR’s protocol.

The Terms of Reference for the board were reviewed in 
January 2019 and can be found here.

The statutory members of the Safeguarding 
Adults Executive Board:

	● The Bi Borough Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Health 

	● The Deputy Director of Quality, Nursing 
and Safeguarding, Central Westminster 
Hammersmith Hillingdon and Ealing Clinical 
Commissioning Groups Commissioning 
Collaborative

	● BCU Commander of Central West, Chief 
Superintendent, Metropolitan Police

Age UK

CCG

Metropolitan 
Police building

DWP

LSCP

Adult 
Social 
Care 

Turning 
Point

Community Champions

Probation 
Services

Adult Social Care (Local Authority)Board 
members are the senior ‘go to’ person in each 
of these organisations or services with lead 
responsibility for adult safeguarding. 

They bring their organisations’ adult safeguarding issues 
to the attention of the Board, promote the Board’s 
priorities, and disseminate lessons learned throughout 
their organisation.

The Board can use its statutory authority also to 
assist members in addressing barriers to effective 
safeguarding that may exist in their organisation, and 
between organisations.  

An even wider group of people, including voluntary 
sector organisations; housing and homelessness 
agencies; advocacy and carers’ groups; and members 
of the public all contribute to the Boards various work-
streams.

Adult Safeguarding now includes such areas as 

	● People Trafficking 

	● Modern Day Slavery

	● Self- Neglect 

	● Domestic Violence

THE SAFEGUARDING 
ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD

P
age 112



6      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      7

Making  
Safeguarding Personal

I am able to make choices about my own well-being

Creating a Safe and  
Healthy Community

I am aware of what abuse looks like  
and feel listened to when it is reported

I am kept up-to-date and  
know what is happening

My choices are important
My recovery is important

You are willing to work with me

Leading, Listening  
and Learning

We are open to new ideas

We are a partnership of listeners

We give people a voice

We hold each other to account

We want to learn from you

The Care Act 2014 says members may make 
payments for purposes connected with the 
Board. Most of the funding for the Board comes 
from the Local Authorities. The North West 
London Collaboration of Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (NWL CCGs) contribute £20,00.00 per 
borough. 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime provides 
an annual contribution of £5,000 to local 
safeguarding adult boards. 
Also, for the third year running, The London Fire 
Brigade has contributed £1,000 per borough, 

to be shared between the Safeguarding Adults 
Board and the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board.
The Care Act 2014 guidance states that all 
members of the Board should have the right 
skills and experience necessary for the Board to 
act effectively and efficiently to safeguard adults 
in its area.
We acknowledge the value of the work of the 
subgroups in supporting the Board. Attendance is 
good and members are committed and work hard 
to progress the Board’s priorities and safeguard 
adults at risk of abuse and neglect.

The North West London Collaboration of 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (NWL CCGs) is 
committed to safeguarding the wellbeing of 
vulnerable adults who access services that 
are commissioned by the NWL CCGs. The 
NWL CCG ensures that staff have appropriate 
policies, procedures, training and access to 
expert advice to ensure that adults at risk 
are identified and, where appropriate, a 
referral is made to adult social care.  
“The Care Act 2014 states that local 
authorities, Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and the chief officer of the local 
police must be members of the Safeguarding 
Adults Board. The CCG is an active member 
of the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board. 
Safeguarding is about making sure everyone 
is treated with dignity and respect and 
does not suffer abuse. This is particularly 
important for those who are unable to 
protect themselves from harm or abuse, 
possibly because of their age, a disability or 
because they are unwell. To ensure this, care 
must be of a high quality in order to prevent 
abuse happening. It also means there is an 
effective response if there is evidence or 
suspicion of abuse.”

“Safeguarding is always our top priority. 
There is a requirement to ensure that 
safeguarding is embedded throughout the 
commissioning process. Safeguarding is 
central to the commissioning strategy in 
North West London.” 

“To keep our communities safe from 
abuse and neglect, it is not enough to 
simply react when a safeguarding concern 
arises. Safeguarding principles need to be 
embedded across organisations’ cultures at 
all levels, and people’s safety needs to be 
considered all the time, whenever a decision 
is made.” 

We are committed to embed learning from 
Serious Case Reviews at a strategic level so 
that learning is shared across the system. 
We anticipate that this will improve the 
experience of patients using the services 
that we commission and makes our 
safeguarding processes more robust.”

Chief Nurse & Director of Quality  
North West London Collaboration of Clinical 
Commissioning Groups

Our “House” model has set the scene for our 
safeguarding adults’ journey: it is valued by our 
service users and experts by experience and is 
recognised at a national level as a framework 
built on the wellbeing principle. 

Residents across the Bi-Borough told us how important 
it is to be in control of the decisions they make about 
their life, even when they have experienced abuse or 
neglect. Throughout this report you will find examples of 
what people told us under the headings “you said” and 
“we did”

“The House strategy has supported the SAEB 
to ensure that all its safeguarding adults work 
is focused on making safeguarding personal, 
prioritising the safety and well-being of all our 
residents and to ensure they are fully listened 
to by incorporating the voice of residents in 
everything we do ”

The Safeguarding Adults Reference Group

Putting our “house” in order

P
age 113



8      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      9

Putting our “house” in order

In March 2019 London Adult Directors of Adult Social 
Services (ADASS) were invited to complete a review of 
our safeguarding adults’ arrangements within the Bi-
Borough.

“Peer challenge is a proven tool for improvement. 
It is a process commissioned by a council and 
involves a small team of local government 
officers and councillors spending time at the 
council as peers to provide challenge and share 
learning”

The outcome of the peer review provided key 
messages on what is working well and some areas for 
consideration, which will be taken forward to inform the 
Board strategy for the next 3 years.

 ● What is working well: Leadership 
Strong leadership and the positive changes over 
the previous 18 months demonstrated that, despite 
differences in the two boroughs, there were also 
many similarities in ensuring safeguarding outcomes 
of residents are met. The Peer Review team feedback 
was that staff from both boroughs were supported in 
safeguarding activity. It was acknowledged that service 

user engagement across the Bi-Borough was very good, 
and the Peer Review team were impressed with the 
ambitions of the Local Account Group in supporting the 
Councils.

Members of the London ADASS Peer review team and 
the Local Account Group

 ● What is working well: Partnership
There was clear evidence of: a focus on high risk groups, 
through approaches to hoarding, homelessness, rough 
sleepers and modern slavery; and a good level of 
partnership response across council departments and 
with statutory partners in working with both individuals 
and at a strategic level. The Quality Assurance Team 
were noted to be making a positive difference, 
enhancing market oversight and improvement work. 

 ● Areas for consideration 
It was noted that it would be helpful to review the 
governance arrangements of the Board. 

However, we are motivated to continue to learn from others how to 
make safeguarding adults better for residents.

Information used to inform the development day came 
from various sources including: 

London ADASS Peer Review of Bi-Borough 
Safeguarding arrangements recommendation:  
To review the governance arrangements and align the 
vision and values for safeguarding across the Councils;

The Safeguarding Adults at Risk Audit tool 
(SARAT) 2018-19, which was completed by all 
partners, to provide assurance to the Safeguarding 
Adults Executive Board (SAEB) that all partners are 
compliant with safeguarding, following the introduction 
of the Care Act 2014; 

Next Steps
The Board held a Development Day with members and the Local 
Account Group to set the Board agenda for the next 3 years 

Local and National Safeguarding Adult Reviews: 
The Board commissioned a Safeguarding Adult Review 
(SAR) in 2018/19. The findings from the SAR gave us the 
opportunity to explore more closely the areas shared 
with the Local Children’s Safeguarding Board (LSCB), 
such as ‘Think Family’, Transitions and Liberty Protection 
Safeguards. 

P
age 114



10      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      11

The Safeguarding Adults Executive Board  
and Workstreams 2019 -2022

Chairs’ Group

Better Outcomes  
for People

Case Review and 
Serious Case Review  

Group (Sec 44*)

Community  
Engagement 
Prevention

Developing  
Best Practice

Capacity and Positive Risk Taking (MCA) T&F Group

Local  
Account  
Group

Safeguarding Adults  
Executive Board (Sec 43*)

Health and Wellbeing Board

Independent 
Chair

Local 
Safeguarding 

Children’s 
board
(LSCB)

Community 
Safety 

Partnerships
(VAWG)

Safeguarding Adults 
Reference Group 

(SARG)

Safeguarding Adults Executive Board -High Level Statement of Intent 2019-20 
 

Working Together across 
agencies & between Adults and 

Children’s Services 
 

Capacity and Positive Risk Taking Awareness and Support Governance 

Think Family: To jointly raise 
awareness and develop guidance 
and tools 
 
Transition Group: Joint workshop 
with operational staff to develop 
sound pathways for young adults 
into adult services which are relevant 
to need this may mean statutory or 
voluntary organisations. 
 
SAEB and LSCB: Joint Board Event 
to review work and share 
experiences  
 
Lead group or agency  

• Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Partnership 
(LSCP) 

• Safeguarding Adults 
Executive Board (SAEB) 
 

Liberty Protection Safeguards: Help 
prepare the Safeguarding Adults 
Executive Board Partnership for LPS  
 
 
 
 
Multi-agency Quality Assurance: 
Partnership Audit of Mental Capacity 
Audit practice  
 
Rough-sleeping and Safeguarding  
 
Partnership awareness of Legal 
Literacy: Development of Interagency 
protocols related to Court of Protection  
 
 
 
Developing good partnership practice 
around managing risk and defensible 
decision making 
 
 
 
Lead group or agency  

• Capacity and Positive Risk-
Taking Sub-group  

 
 
 

Prevention “Raising Awareness of 
Safeguarding”: Increase service users by 
experience involvement in SAEB activity  
 

• Co-designed events for seldom 
heard service user groups  

• Multi-agency leaflets -Review  
• Train the Trainer-Refresh 

 
 
Learning from SAR’s and DHR’s 
Raising awareness of usefulness of High-
Risk Panels 
 
Lead group or agency  
 

• Community Engagement group 
• Safeguarding Adults Reference 

Group  
• Local Account Group  

Governance review: 
 

• Legal Indemnity Insurance  
• Membership review  
• Finance review  
• Service User Engagement 
• Review Our Values  
• Cycle of Quality Assurance 

function  
 
 
 
 
 
Lead group or agency  
 

• Safeguarding Adults Executive 
Board (SAEB) 
 

IT systems and Information 
Sharing 

 
• Statement from the SAEB to 

reinforce obligations 
• Focus on best practice in 

recording 
Lead group or agency  

 
• Developing Best Practice 

Group 

Advocacy 
 

• Re-commissioning  
• Workforce development 
• Public Awareness 

 
Lead group or agency  

• Adult Social Care Commissioning 
• Developing Best Practice Group  

Variability in referral rates across 
partnership: Consistency in responses 
Bi-Borough Board to align local practice 
and pathways 
 
Workstreams: 

• Better Outcomes for People  

 

Statement of Intent 2019 – 2022

Service User Involvement  

2. The new strategic plan or statement of intent: Statement of Intent 2019 – 2022 

The outcome of the development day was two-fold 

1. A new governance structure with greater emphasis placed on service user engagement in the workings of 
the Board: The Safeguarding Adults Executive Board and Workstreams.

“I am able to make choices about 
my wellbeing”

We have had an ambitious year in which we have 
combined our approaches to working with service users 
by having a service user by experience group and the 
Local Account Group. This ensures that there is service 
user involvement in all areas of the Board’s work.

Service users by experience 
The Safeguarding Adults Reference Group 
was re-launched with the support of our community 
engagement subgroup. The group is now focussed 
on co-producing safeguarding training and delivering 
events to raise awareness of safeguarding adults.

This is the groups explanation of how stages 
of co-production work in practice using the 
analogy of a cake.

Coercion is telling someone that they will have cake.

Educating or informing is telling someone about the 
look and flavour of the cake that they will be given, but 
there is no choice.

Consultation or engagement is about asking people 
what type of cake they would like and why - but this 
might be ignored.

Co-design is like people deciding what flavour the cake 
should be and how it should be decorated… but that 
is it.

“our views are important, and our 
voices heard”

Co-production is: 
1.  deciding whether cake is needed (or would 

something else be better)

2.  deciding on the flavour of the cake and the 
decoration, 

3. working out how to make the cake, 

4. baking it,

5. trying it to find out how it is

6. working out what could be done better in the future.

CREATING A SAFE AND 
HEALTHY COMMUNITY 

P
age 115



12      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      13

In March 2019 members from the Safeguarding Adults 
Reference Group delivered a short presentation to the 
Board on their ideas on what service user events in 
the community should look like. Their proposals were 
supported, and these events are now being co-produced 
with the community engagement group.

The Local Account Group 
In July 2018 the Bi-Borough Local Account Group 
launched their Ambition Plan. Within this plan it was 
agreed that the Local Account Group will input and 
support the priorities of the Safeguarding Adults 
Executive Board. This has meant that feedback from 
service users and carers groups is heard at every Board 
meeting and through the subgroups. In 2019/20 the 
Local Account Group will co-produce a Service User 
Feedback Form for adults involved in the safeguarding 
adults process. 12 months after the form has been 
launched and in line with the Local Account Group 
Ambition Plan, we will support the Local Account Group 
to analyse the feedback and present the findings to 
the Board, with identified learning from a service user 
perspective. 

“The contribution and support from both the 
Local Account group and The Safeguarding 
Adults Reference Group has been invaluable. 
It is inspirational to work such a highly 
motivated and enthusiastic group”
Head of Service, Safeguarding and Workforce 
Development Team, Bi-Borough Adult Social Care

“We are often approached by 
organisations who say they want to 
co-produce with us and then they 
allow us to ‘decorate the cake’! This 
year the Safeguarding Adults Executive 
Board have worked with members and 
instilled confidence about what co-
production really is…that our views are 
important and our voices heard”
Chief Executive, Action Disability 
Kensington & Chelsea

Community Engagement

“This year the Community Engagement Group 
have commenced a Safe at Home Programme 
which will include a national universal video 
accessible to all home care and health 
agencies. It will be a helpful guide on scams 
and security and safety issues in the home”
Chairs of the Community Engagement Group

As well as putting on awareness-raising events to 
help people spot scams and creating links with local 
organisations and community groups to spread 
the message about how to stay safe, here is the 
Community Engagements Group message to residents: 

Everyone has the right to live in safety, free from abuse 
and neglect.

Abuse and neglect can occur anywhere: in your own 
home or a public place, while you are in hospital or 
attending a day centre, or in a college or care home.

You may be living alone or with others. The person 
causing the harm may be a stranger but, more often 
than not, you’ll know and feel safe with them. They’re 
usually in a position of trust and power, such as a health 
or care professional, relative or neighbour.

Far too often this could be someone stealing money 
or other valuables. Or it might be that someone 
appointed to look after your money on your behalf is 
using it inappropriately or coercing you to spend it in a 
way you’re not happy with. Internet scams and doorstep 
crime are also common forms of financial abuse.

People and organisations worked together to deliver 
the Community Engagement Group event in February 
2019 raising awareness of how residents can stay ‘Safe 
at Home’. The focus of this event was to raise awareness 
and provide information on:

	● Home fire safety

	● Home Improvement Agency Services available in 
Westminster 

	● Trading standards and scam information 

The next page includes example of the information that 
was provided at the ‘Safe at Home’ event.

You said: 
I want to know how to stay safe in 
my own home

We did:
This year the Community 
Engagement Group have 
commenced a Safe at Home 
Programme which will include a 
national universal video accessible 
to all home care and health 
agencies. It will be a helpful 
guide on scams and security 
and safety issues in the home.

P
age 116



14      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      15

Penfold Community Hub - 2.30-4.30pm 
60 Penfold Street, London, NW8 8PJ

safe at home  
event  

monday  
25 february

Westminster Home 
improvement Agency

	 Occupational	therapy	
equipment	and	home	
improvements

	 Slips,	trips	and	falls

London Fire BrigAde

	 Information	on	fire	safety		
in	your	home

	 Home	fire	safety	visits

trAding stAndArds

	 Information	on	Scams

	 How	to	spot	bogus	callers

	 How	to	spot	bank	scams

	 Call	blocking	devices

the safeguarding adults  
executive board

courage
compassion  
accountability

safeguarding adults executive board 
community engagement group

Presentations commence at 2.45pm promptly

You said: 
You are willing to work with me

We did: 
In 2018/19 the London Fire carried 
out  3,334 Home Fire Safety Visits 
across the Bi-Borough in 2018/19

We were told what happens 
during a home fire safety visit 
by a member of the London 
Fire Brigade
Firefighters or trained staff will visit the home and 
offer advice based on individual needs, this includes 
information on how to prevent fires, the importance of 
smoke alarms to detect a fire and having escape plans 
in the event of a fire. They will also fit smoke alarms if 
required.

Prevention: 

	● Understand the main causes of fire in the home and 
how to prevent them. 

	● Identify fire hazards in the home and know how to 
reduce the risk of a fire happening. 

	●  Reduce the risk of a fire happening at night by having 
an appropriate bedtime routine.

Detection: 

	● Identify the function and importance of a smoke 
alarm in home fire safety, as smoke generated by fire 
can kill people and is just as dangerous as fire. 

	● Every home should have at least one smoke alarm 
fitted on each floor level, and ideally one in every 
room a fire could start.

	● Smoke alarms should be tested once a week

	● LFB can provide specialist smoke alarms for people 
with hearing or visual impairments. 

	● Understand that the Fire Brigade carry out Home Fire 
Safety Visits and that they can be requested via the 
Brigade website

Escape: 

	● Know that fire should only be tackled by firefighters as 
they use special equipment and protective clothing. 

	● Prepare and practice a fire escape plan, making sure 
everyone in the home knows what to do if there is a 
fire. 

	● Understand how to call 999 and when it is appropriate 
to do so. 

Our Trading Standards Lead 
Officer told us about Door 
step scams 
Doorstep scams take place when someone comes to 
your door and tries to scam you out of your money or 
tries to gain access to your home. Doorstep scammers 
aren’t always pushy and persuasive, they may seem 
polite or friendly. So, if you’re not expecting someone 
it’s important to be vigilant when you answer the door, 
especially if you live on your own.

A victim of Doorstep Crime: 

Alfred’s Story

Earlier this year Alfred received an unexpected 
knock at the door from a roofer claiming to be 
doing some work for a neighbour nearby and 
who noticed they have some loose tiles on the 
roof. The roofer claimed that they have some 
left-over materials and he could do the work 
quickly and for a discount. He offered to fix the 
tiles for £50-100 cash. Alfred agreed but once the 
work started more problems are found with the 
roof and the bill keeps on increasing. Alfred felt 
very intimidated and pressurised by the roofer 
and agreed to them doing more work and the 
increased costs. Alfred told his Daughter who 
called the police who opened an investigation 
into the matter.

The Outcome:

The roofer is now being prosecuted for 3 cases of 
doorstep crime in the same street.

P
age 117



16      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      17

Financial Abuse, Better Outcomes for People

Financial Abuse is another name for stealing or 
defrauding someone of goods and/or property. It is 
always a crime but is not always prosecuted. Sometimes 
the issue is straightforward, for example a care-worker 
stealing from an older person’s purse, but at other 
times it is more difficult to address. This is because 
very often the person alleged to have caused harm can 
be someone’s son or daughter. A common issue that 
comes to the Boards attention through safeguarding 
are relatives attempting to justify their actions on the 
basis that they are simply obtaining their inheritance in 
advance by the misuse of Lasting Powers of Attorney. 

Financial abuse/harm can happen because the older 
person can be seen as an easy way of getting money, 
particularly if they are dependent or confused. Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & 
Rescue Services have recently published a report 
advising that the police and the Crown Prosecution 
Service (CPS) need to prepare for the growing challenges 
of helping and keeping safe an ageing population. Many 
older people lead active and safe lives. Not all older 
people are vulnerable, but they are more likely than 
other groups to be living with some form of physical or 
mental ill health. Too many older people are socially 
isolated and lonely and may leave their homes only 
rarely. 

“It’s important to remember that these 
criminals are incredibly sophisticated and 
prepared to put a huge amount of effort into 
conning people out of their money. Scams 
make victims part with their money and 
personal details by intimidating them or 
promising cash, prizes, services and fictitious 
high returns on investment. It’s important to 
remember that no matter what type of scam, 
all scams are crimes.
	● Approximately 3.2 million people (1 in every 15) fall 
victim to scams each year. 

	● The average age of a scam victim is 75. 

	● Scams cost the UK economy between 5 and 10 billion 
pounds each year. 

	● Only 5% of these crimes are ever reported. 

Trading Standards

Trading Standards Top Tips on how to Stay Safe 
at Home 

	● Don’t buy at the door 

	● If you think work needs doing around the home get 
quotes from other businesses that are members of 
a Trading Standards trusty trader scheme or use the 
vetted business on the free online directory from 
Which? magazine, or from Age UK. 

	● Use a security chain/ spy hole at the front door when 
you receive any unexpected calls – many Councils 
have a Home Improvement Agency Service and for 
those on certain benefits or pensioners they may be 
able to have these installed for free

	● If the caller claims to be from a utility company to 
read the meter, ensure you have set up an agreed 
password in advance and the callers has given this

	● Never let anyone into your home unless you are 
satisfied who they are

	● Ask them to show you identification and 
independently verify they are calling from Company 
they claim to be

	● Never leave valuables, money or bank cards lying 
around

	● Do not donate to alleged charities at the door

	● Contact the Citizens Advice Consumer Service if you 
would like help.

Assisting residents to stay ‘Safe at 
Home’
Age UK Kensington & Chelsea assists residents 
who are aged 55 and over to maintain their 
independence, making the tasks of daily living a 
bit easier. The aim of the ‘Safe at Home’ service 
is to reduce the risk of falls in the home, reduce 
the risk of harm from other hazards in the home, 
improve health, wellbeing and peace of mind by 
ensuring that the home environment is safe for 
the resident.

Our DIY service provides support to clients 
helping them with those little tasks around the 
house that can make a huge difference to their 
quality of life. Those tasks go from changing a 
lightbulb to assemble a flat-pack so corridors 
are clear of clutter helping to avoid falls. We also 
fit spyholes and door chains to help people stay 
safer at home. 

Community Engagement Manager, Age UK 
Kensington & Chelsea

Better outcomes for People
The main purpose of the Better Outcomes for 
People (BOP) sub-group is to provide evidence 
that gives the Safeguarding Adults Executive 
Board (SAEB) assurance that it is delivering its 
prime responsibility of preventing abuse and 
increasing the safety and well-being of adults 
who have experienced harm across the Bi-
Borough. 

The BOP identifies outcome measures for the SAEB’s 
strategic priorities; identifies sources of information; 
collects and analyses relevant information; and reports 
to the Board and member agencies, as required. 

In 2018/19 the Board tasked the BOP Better to complete 
a local analysis of safeguarding and crime. 

We wanted to know, under our restorative 
justice agenda:

	● What percentage of safeguarding concerns were 
crimes?

	● How many were reported to the police?

	● How many resulted in prosecutions? 

The group established that:

	● About 1 in 3 Safeguarding concerns were classified as 
crimes / potential crimes;

	●  These concerns differed from others, not so much 
in terms of the personal characteristics of the adult 
at risk, as in the type of harm or abuse alleged as in 
the type of harm or abuse alleged. Financial abuse 
featured more highly and the source of risk was more 
likely to be from non-professionals; 

	●  The majority (74%) of these concerns were raised with 
the police (some later in the pathway);

	●  The majority of safeguarding enquiries were 
completed in under 90 days but those raised with the 
police were slightly less likely to have been completed 
in this time (70%:79%)

P
age 118



18      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      19

	●  There was little difference between the groups in 
terms of the identification of risk and the impact 
of the enquiry on risk, but those raised with the 
police were slightly more likely to have ended at the 
individual’s request and slightly more likely to have 
ended with the risk remaining;

	● We were unable to identify the number resulting in 
prosecutions.

CHART DEMONSTRATES ABUSE TYPE

Financial abuse occurred in 60% of cases in a 
number of ways, including:

	● Taking cash / bank card / belongings directly;

	● Taking money from cashpoint;

	● Taking money via bank transactions / bank transfers 
(including scam calls);

	● Taking money from post-office account;

	● Blackmail;

	● Burglary;

	● Being asked for money by care worker (and paying); 
and

	● Overcharging (at local restaurant).

“The abuse that vulnerable adults 
can suffer is often hidden from view. 
In the Bi-Borough we work closely 
together with our multi-agency 
partners and external organisations 
to identify and support those who 
may be victims. When incidents or 
concerns are reported to us, we 
endeavour to conduct a thorough 
investigation and where possible, 
bring those who abuse and mistreat 
vulnerable people to justice”.

Safeguarding Lead 
Metropolitan Police Service 
Co-Chair of the Better Outcomes for 
People subgroup

MAKING SAFEGUARDING 
PERSONAL 

Financial Abuse, Dementia Friends 

You said: 
I want to be able to make choices 
about my well-being

We did: 
Here are two case examples of 
how the work of the Board is 
helping to protect residents from 
Financial Abuse

How we supported Elsie to maintain her 
financial independence

“I have lived on my own since my sister 
died last year. We lived together for over 60 
years, we went through everything together, 
including the blitz. I remember those days 
when we ran hand in hand to the underground 
tunnels in Bethnal Green to stay safe in from 
the raids. We moved to west London after the 
War, we had lost our home and had relatives 
here.

I have carers who come to help me about 
2 times a day as I have difficulties getting 
to the bathroom as my sight is rather poor 
nowadays. I have a neighbour who has been 
helping me to pay my bills since my sister 
died. My neighbour is my only friend and I 
trust her, so I let her take my bank card to 

withdraw money the pay my bills and then she 
pays it all through her account for me. 

I told my social worker about this and she 
seemed concerned that my bills were high. 
I gave her all my paperwork to look at and 
she said that my neighbour withdraws more 
money than the bills cost. 

I was very upset about this. I may have poor 
sight but I’m not a bad judge of character and 
I can’t believe that my neighbour would steal 
from me. I always tell her to take a little extra 
to buy a treat for the kids as she does all my 
shopping as well, I never have to worry about 
what I need, and I depend on her. 

Over the next few weeks I had many visits 
from my social worker who talked to me 
about safeguarding. I explained to her that I 
always tell my neighbour to keep any change 
from the bills and that I wanted to keep my 
friendship with her as she visits me regularly 
and makes me lovely cups of tea and we sit 
down and chat for hours most evenings and 
the children visit me too. They call me Aunty 
Elsie. 

My social worker supported me to set up my 
direct debits for all my bills and set up regular 
online shopping which includes some treats 
that I like to buy for my neighbour and her 
children. “

The outcome:

“My social worker listened to what I wanted 
to happen next and helped me to sort out 
everything I needed”

P
age 119



20      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      21

Here is the Voice of another resident:

 “My care workers were not supporting me 
properly and some of the residents I lived 
with were always borrowing money from me 
and causing me problems. My social worker 
helped me to sort out my problems in a way 
that suited me and helped me to maintain 
relationships that were important to me”

No Decision about me without me

This story demonstrates how Making 
Safeguarding Personal put Mohammed’s best 
interests at the heart of discussions 

“My family have always helped to manage my 
finances. I came from a very wealthy family, 
we never needed to worry about money, so 
I was surprised when my family kept telling 
me I didn’t have enough money for the things 
that I liked. I like to have afternoon tea and 
my grand-daughter used to take me to the 
Ritz every Sunday but she says we can’t always 
afford to go, and she is always arguing with 
my family about wanting to take me there. 
They have ramps in place for my wheelchair 
and they all know me there as I have been a 
regular there for years. I told my social worker 
when she visited who then had a safeguarding 
meeting about this and introduced me to 
another lady who is now my advocate.  My 
social worker told me she completed a mental 
capacity assessment and said 

“I lacked capacity to make informed decisions 
regarding my money and where I live due to 
my dementia” 

The police came to see me to execute a 
warrant as part of an investigation into 
allegations of financial abuse made by my 
grand-daughter. My grandson had Lasting 
Power of Attorney over my finances and 
welfare decisions, but the investigation 
showed that he was spending all my money. 
This made me very sad at first, but I am now 
on holiday in a lovely care home following 
something called a best interests decision 
meeting.”

The outcome:

“With the help of my social worker, the police 
and my advocate I am changing my will 
and getting everything back into order. I get 
confused sometimes, but they help me to 
understand and I don’t have to worry about 
not having money any more. My grand-
daughter now visits me regularly and takes 
me out shopping once a month and to the Ritz 
for afternoon tea.”

Dementia Friends
As part of Mental Health Awareness Week, the Adult Social Care (ASC) and 
Public Health team staff conference: ‘With Health in Mind’ took place in 
2019. The focus: to raise awareness of mental health issues in the workplace 
and community and to de-stigmatise mental health issues and encourage 
open discussion. Linda O’Sullivan from the Alzheimer’s Society conducted a 
Dementia Friends training workshop.

Watch the team’s video 

Dementia Friends is open to anyone of any age to join. A Dementia Friend 
learns about how dementia affects a person and uses that understanding 
to make a real difference for people affected by dementia. To find out more 
and get involved, visit www.dementiafriends.org.uk

P
age 120



22      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      23

Creating a Safe and Healthy Community Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) 

Rough sleeping and 
Safeguarding 
The last 3 years have seen a significant increase and 
change in profile of deaths of people across the ‘rough 
sleeping pathway’, which includes rough sleepers on 
the street through to those in hostels and supported 
accommodation. The Safeguarding Adults Team in 
Westminster have supported a review of all individual 
deaths in 2018 and agreed that, given the increase in 
deaths there was a need for a more comprehensive 
and standardised approach to reviews following deaths 
of rough sleepers, to keep track of trends and to look 
for and share lessons learned, with a multi-agency 
approach and within a clear governance structure. 

The circumstances in which the Safeguarding Adult 
Board might arrange a Safeguarding Adult Review 
are set out in the Care Act 2014 and apply equally to 
someone who was sleeping rough. Safeguarding Adults 
Services in Westminster takes all deaths of people on 
the street seriously. Our responsibilities under the Care 
Act 2014 ensure that we will make enquires irrespective 
of the persons ‘ordinary residence’. We agree that it is 
important that the risks of living on the streets are not 
compounded by agencies failing to provide a timely and 
appropriate service response in the locality where a 
person is sleeping rough and is at risk of harm or abuse.

Safeguarding Adults Services in Westminster have been 
working closely with the Rough Sleeping commissioning 
team to develop a new pathway to support people who 
are rough sleepers and those who are in hostels and 
supported housing who may be at high risk and eligible 
for safeguarding under the Care Act 2014. All deaths are 
reviewed within this new pathway to see if they meet the 
referral criteria for a safeguarding adult review under 
Section 44 criteria of the Care Act 2014.

The Enhanced Vulnerabilities 
Forum 

The enhanced vulnerabilities forum in 
Westminster was set up in August 2018 
to discuss rough sleepers and clients 
accessing the rough sleeping pathway, 
that present with high risk health and 
mental health concerns. The principal 
focus is on people who have “fallen 
through cracks” and/ or been very 
resistant to change.

These monthly meetings review actions 
taken by practitioners, propose and track 
solutions, as well as escalate cases that 
are deemed to require further review 
or that may need statutory decisions 
appealed. In addition, specific trends 
and/or risks to the wider cohort of 
people who are rough sleeping are 
reviewed and escalated, including 
a review of deaths across the rough 
sleeping pathway.

This year Making Every Adult Matter 
(MEAM) was launched in Westminster 
The Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) coalition is 
made up of the national charities Clinks, Homeless Link 
and Mind. People facing multiple disadvantage face 
a combination of problems including homelessness, 
substance misuse, learning disabilities, contact with the 
criminal justice system and mental ill health. They can 
‘fall through the gaps’ between services and systems, 
making it harder for them to address their problems and 
lead fulfilling lives.

The MEAM Approach is a framework to help local areas 
develop effective, coordinated services for people facing 
multiple disadvantage, and promote lasting, embedded 
change to local systems. 

What are the benefits of being in a 
MEAM area:
Westminster applied to become a MEAM area and were 
selected in Nov 2018.   Four strands of project work have 
been identified so far:

	● Improving support for adults with autism in 
Westminster facing multiple disadvantage; 

	● Improving join up between probation and 
homelessness services;

	● Improving join up between council and partner 
agencies in relation to treatment resistance alcohol 
users; and 

	● Improving psychiatric hospital discharge planning for 
homeless patients.

P
age 121



24      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      25

Community Safety – Violence Against Women and Girls Modern Slavery and Exploitation

Making the transition to adulthood is difficult 
for everyone but can be especially challenging 
for young people who are vulnerable or leaving 
care.

Maria had a difficult transition into adulthood and 
found stability in a co-dependent relationship and 
had been the subject of physical and emotional 
abuse by her partner for several years. Following a 
safeguarding adults enquiry, which was undertaken 
in conjunction with a police investigation, Maria 
was able to remain in her own home and feel safe 
from abuse from her partner. The case was very 
complicated and overwhelming for Maria at times, as 
there were interviews, care and support assessments 
with social workers, legal advice, advocacy, court 
actions and several meetings with the police. 

The outcome:

As a result of the above, Maria’s partner was prosecuted 
for assaults on her and he left their home with an 

injunction to prevent his return. Maria was able to 
remain in the home she loved and, once she was 
convinced that her partner could not return to abuse 
her, she felt safe and was able to develop her own 
relationships and interests. 

Violence against women and Girls (VAWG) is a 
strategic priority for the Royal Borough of Kensington 
and Chelsea and Westminster City Council. VAWG is a 
form of discrimination and a violation of human rights 
and links strongly to adult safeguarding. 

Data shows that 17 referrals were made to 
the Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference 
and 13 referrals from Adult Safeguarding were 
made to the Angelou Partnership, the main 
commissioned VAWG service in the Bi-Borough. 

It is estimated that 1 in 4 women in the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea will experience domestic abuse. 
1 in 5 will experience stalking and 1 in 3 will experience 
sexual violence. Additional vulnerabilities mean that 
this number is likely to be higher for some groups, 
such as those with care and support needs who may 
require safeguarding adult services. With this in mind, 
work is being done to strengthen the adult safeguarding 
response to Violence Against Women and Girls.

Joint working protocols were reviewed this year between 
the Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Strategic 
Board and the Safeguarding Adult Executive Board. 
The joint working agenda is driven by seven strategic 
priorities which include ongoing communication, 
prevention and awareness-raising activities, creating a 
menu of options for survivors and their children and 
continuing to strengthen the coordinated community 
response. Joint working is focused on ensuring there 
is preventative, immediate and long-term support for 
survivors and their children. 

Modern Slavery and Exploitation is a key area for the 
VAWG Strategic Partnership and the Safeguarding 
Adult Executive Board and work in this area took place 
throughout 2018-19.

You said: 
My recovery is important

We did: 
The Angelou Partnership support 
women and girls affected by 
domestic violence and abuse

Modern Slavery is an umbrella term for human 
trafficking and servitude. It is used when 
somebody is forced or coerced into doing 
something and another person gains from this 
exploitation. It affects an estimated 40 million 
men, women and children worldwide.  136,000 
individuals are estimated to be in modern 
slavery here in the UK. 

Tackling Modern Slavery is a priority for the Bi-Borough 
and is a vital part of our Violence Against Women and 
Girls strategy, while acknowledging it affects men and 
boys as well.

We have a multi-agency partnership group, whose 
objectives are to raise awareness of modern slavery 
and exploitation, resulting in an increase of victim 
identification; to provide necessary support to enable 
survivors of trafficking to recover; to build communities, 
which are resilient to human trafficking; and to ensure 
perpetrators are brought to justice.

In June 2018 we partnered with the charity STOP THE 
TRAFFIK to employ a Modern Slavery and Exploitation 
Partnership and Community Coordinator. One of the 
roles of the Coordinator is to deliver training to raise 
awareness of modern slavery and the support available 
for victim/survivors. 300 multi-agency staff were trained 
in the period between April 2018- March 2019. Prior 
to the training, 47.8% of attendees agreed with the 
statement, “I am confident I could respond appropriately 
if I suspected a case of modern slavery”. Following the 
training, 96.7% agreed with the statement. This increase 
of over 100% demonstrates that front-line professionals 
are better equipped with skills to identify and report.

In order to support staff to do this, we developed a 
Modern Slavery Adult Referral Pathway. The pathway 
sets out the roles and responsibilities of staff if a 
victim/survivor of modern slavery is identified, along 
with the National Referral Mechanism (NRM) process. 52 
professionals across Adult Social Care and Housing were 
trained on how to sensitively conduct NRM interviews 
and complete the forms ahead of the launch of the 
pathway.

Since the development of the pathway, we have seen an 
increase in referrals to the National Referral Mechanism. 
By knowing the options available to victim/survivors 
of modern slavery and understanding the process, we 
can help them access the support they deserve.  Data 
collection is in its infancy but will be  provided in next 
years report for 2019-20

“We cannot stop what 
we cannot see”
Modern Slavery & Exploitation 
Partnerships and Community 
Coordinator, Community Safety Team 

P
age 122



26      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      27

The vision of safeguarding 

“ is to achieve the best possible 
outcomes for children and 
vulnerable adults through 
ensuring that their voices are 
heard, and that early intervention 
ensures their safety and wellbeing. 
This will be achieved through 
effective, united multi agency team 
working and engendering a culture 
where safeguarding is at the 
forefront of our care”

Modern slavery is a crime and a 
violation of fundamental human 
rights. It takes various forms, such 
as slavery, servitude, forced and 
compulsory labour and human 
trafficking, all of which have in 
common the deprivation of a 
person’s liberty by another in 
order to exploit them for personal 
or commercial gain.
We are committed to improving our 
practices to combat slavery and 
human trafficking.

LEADING, LISTENING AND 
LEARNING 

The Care Act 2014 states that the Board must 
conduct a Safeguarding Adults Review in 
accordance with Section 44 of the Act

Safeguarding Adult Reviews  (SARS)

Safeguarding Adult Reviews are about learning together 
and improving how adults are protected from abuse of 
all kinds.

This year we have been working on:

1. Local Improvements for referral with a focus on fatal 
fires, deaths of people who are rough sleeping or 
homelessness, to ensure that:

	● there is a clear process for referral; 

	● Triaging of cases for potential referral takes place at 
organisational level; and 

	● Partnership support is available to organisations in 
the referral process with clear rationale if the referral 
is not accepted. 

2. Embedding Learning from SAR’s into practice: A series 
of workshops were launched aiming to:

	● Raise awareness of the Safeguarding Adults Review 
process;

	● identify opportunities to draw on what works and 
promote good practice;

	● sustain and embed learning into ongoing service 
improvements such, as the 7 mins briefing model. 

7-minute briefings are based on a technique borrowed 
from the FBI. This is based on research, which suggests 
that seven minutes is an ideal time span to concentrate 
and learn. Learning for seven minutes is manageable in 
most services, and learning is more memorable as it is 
simple and not clouded by other issues and pressures.

7-minute briefings have been created as a learning 
aid for use in supervision, team meetings, or just as a 
reminder of the key issues around a theme or current 
issue.

The following page describes 2 examples of how the 
7 -minute learning is being used to aid learning .

The Care Act 2014: SARS - what they 
are and what they aren’t

They should not: They should be:

	● Reinvestigate or 
apportion blame

	● Only focus on finding 
out what happened

	● About ‘learning 
lessons’

	● Understanding 
why the incident 
happened

You said: 
We want you to listen

We did: 
We did: The Safeguarding Adults 
Case Review Group considers the 
recommendations and lessons 
learned from Enquiries and 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) 
and where relevant, from Children’s 
Serious Case Reviews and Domestic 
Homicide Reviews.

P
age 123



28      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      29

LeDer 7-Minute Briefing
The Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) 
programme was established to support local areas to 
review the deaths of people with learning disabilities, 
identify learning from those deaths, and take forward 
the learning into service improvement initiatives.  It was 
implemented at the time of considerable spotlight on 
the deaths of patients in the NHS, and the introduction 
of the national Learning from Deaths framework in 
England in 2017. The programme is led by the University 
of Bristol and commissioned by the Healthcare Quality 
Improvement Partnership (HQIP) on behalf of NHS 
England.

Our Safeguarding Adults Case Review Group has 
developed a 7-minute briefing highlighting key areas 
and learning points.

Safeguarding Adults Case Review Group 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

2

3

45

6

1

LeDeR 

Learning from deaths programme now 
completed it’s second year and as more 
deaths are reported and reviewed more 
learning outcomes can be shared. 

Learning into Action network (LiAN) will  
be hosting resources and information 
connected to learning from mortality  
reviews. 
 
 End November 2017, 1311 deaths  

reported  
 14%: 178 deaths in London.  
 <8% reviews completed.   
 Females dying 29.3 years earlier and 

males 22.8 years earlier than the  
general population. 

 

Learning point 1.  Inter-agency 
collaboration and communication 

Carers’ Competencies: eg: discharging 
patients with catheters without 
confirmation that carers have the skill 
set to manage these patients. 

Place of discharge noted as ‘nursing 
home’ instead of supported living 
accommodation. 

More use of Hospital Passports – 
patients to arrive with copy or send 
electronically so that information 
available. 

Learning point 3.  
Understanding and  
application of the  
Mental Capacity Act 2005 
 
Capacity for decision making not 
correctly recorded.   
Best interest decisions not always 
followed correctly:  

 may miss speaking to all who 
know the patients 

 may miss involving IMCAs if the 
person is unbefriended 

DNAR’s not completed / recorded 
correctly.   

Learning Point 2.  Awareness of the needs 
of people with learning disabilities. 

Call for mandatory training:  Government 
has announced its consultation on learning 
disability training for all health and care 
staff. Responses due by 12 April 2019 

Causes of death 
(Learning into Action Bulletins) 

 
Pneumonia +  Aspiration pneumonia: 17% 

(Issue 1, July 2018)  
 

Sepsis: 11% 
(Issue 2, September 2018) 

 
Dementia 

Epilepsy 

Constipation 
(Issue 4, Jan 2019: Dying for a poo)  

LeDeR Steering Group 

Local area Contact (LAC) Peter Beard 
allocates the LeDeR reviews and chairs this 
group. 

Group considers the learning points and 
sets actions for follow up in the 
community or hospitals. 

LeDeR: 7 minute review 
February 2019 

In 2018-19 2 cases were accepted by the Group as 
meeting the Section 44 Safeguarding Adults Review 
criteria.  

An Appendix of the cases presented and reviewed by the 
group is found at the back of this report in APPENDIX 1.

We used the 7-minute learning model to share learning 
from a recently commissioned Safeguarding Adults 
Review for the case of Mr X.

P
age 124



30      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      31

Adult Safeguarding in Action 2018/19

WHAT HAS THE BOARD 
BEEN DOING? 

  

The Board has been working this year to ensure that we 
can demonstrate Adult Safeguarding in Action and the 
impact this has on our partnership.

	● The following section provides examples of specific 
work our  partners have been engaged with to include: 
Think Family within a community health setting 

	● Person centred care for learning disabilities patients 
in a hospital setting

	● Dignity Champion project work in which the 
experiences of patients , staff  are collected to 
provide insights to help improve quality of care being 
delivered

Developing Best Practice
The Developing Best Practice subgroup has produced a 
guidance booklet to help people working directly with 
adults at risk of abuse or neglect to understand how to 
raise concerns. This booklet supplements the London 
Multi-agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures. 

It is the responsibility of everyone to recognise 
suspected or actual abuse and to take appropriate 
action in line with the procedures in this document.

“Staff have found this handbook to be 
both an essential and effective aid to all 
safeguarding work”
Deputy Director Patient Experience Imperial College 
Healthcare NHS Trust

Think Family 

The Central London Community 
Healthcare NHS Trust Safeguarding 
Team supports the Trust in fulfilling its 
statutory duty to safeguard children, 
young people and adults at risk 
from experiencing harm or abuse. 
We encourage our staff to take a 
personalised and ‘think family’ approach 
when assessing risk, planning safe care 
and acting on or escalating concerns.

In August 2018 we introduced a single 
point of contact (SPOC) with ‘duty’ 
safeguarding staff available to ensure 
frontline staff and managers have 
access to timely advice and support 
in managing urgent or complex 
safeguarding cases. 
Associate Director of Safeguarding, Central 
London Community Healthcare NHS Trust

Person Centred Care

The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust 
works hard to ensure that all adults are cared 
for in a safe, secure and caring environment; 
that all services have safeguarding at their 
core, and that staff are supported and trained 
appropriately to manage safeguarding issues 
where they arise.

During the last year, we have launched our 
new Learning Disabilities policy and pathways, 
which supports to identify and flag patients 
with learning disabilities coming into the 
Trust and the pathways of care to ensure 
reasonable adjustments can be made to meet 
their health and support needs. 
Head of Adult Safeguarding 
The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust

Making Safeguarding Personal

To safeguard individuals in a way that 
supports them in making choices and having 
control in how they choose to live their lives 
is a core objective and key priority for all 
members of staff who work with adults within 
the Trust. All staff are given training to help 
them to identify adults who may require 
safeguarding and work with other highly 
experienced colleagues to share information 
as needed and make referrals to other 
agencies – such as Social Services – to ensure 
those adults are protected. As a Trust we are 
committed to ensuring that all patients, are 
cared for in a safe and secure environment. 

We do this by having named professionals 
in post who lead on issues relating to 
safeguarding and ensuring staff are trained 
in safeguarding – including at director level – 
and this is annually refreshed. 
Director of Nursing, West Middlesex Hospital 

Healthwatch Central West London’s Dignity 
Champion project continues to be an 
essential part of our local engagement with 
health and care services in the boroughs of 
Kensington and Chelsea, and Westminster City 
Council. Using our statutory power as a local 
Healthwatch, we collect the experiences of 
patients, staff, carers and relatives in publicly 
funded health or care services. These insights 
help us to develop recommendations that 
improve the quality of care being delivered.
Chief Executive Officer, Healthwatch Central West 
London

P
age 125



32      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      33

London Ambulance Service (LAS)

In 2018/2019 the London Ambulance Service 
NHS Trust (LAS) has continued to ensure the 
safeguarding of children and “adults at risk” 
remains a focal point within the organisation 
and the Trust is committed to ensuring all 
persons within London are protected at all 
times.

The Safeguarding Team have worked 
hard to support staff, monitor and review 
safeguarding practice and raise the profile 
of safeguarding during 2018/19 and have 
undertaken a number of audits and 
established several review groups to assure 
practice. The Trust serves a population of 8.78 
million, covering 8,382 square miles and is 
made up of 32 boroughs. The Trust responds 
to over 5000, 999 calls every day and in 
2018/19 we raised safeguarding concerns for 
an average of 2.1% of incidents received. The 
Trusts 111/ Integrated Urgent Care services in 
SE and NE London also raised safeguarding 
referrals and concerns via the Trusts reporting 
process

Central North West London NHS Foundation 
Trust is committed to making sure that 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare 
of adults at risk is embedded across every 
directorate and in every aspect of the Trust’s 
work

All staff have a duty to be alert to potential 
safeguarding concerns and are expected 
to be aware of and implement the Trust’s 
safeguarding policies and procedures and 
work in partnership with other agencies to 
help safeguard those at risk.
Associate Director of Quality, Safeguarding & Safety 
and Security

WHAT ARE THE NUMBERS 
TELLING US? 
This section brings together information on the safeguarding concerns that were received by the two boroughs in the 
period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. The table and charts below highlight key statistics and show what happened to 
the concerns after they had been received, from the follow-up enquiry, where appropriate, to outcome

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Impact
of enquiry on 
identified risk

Completed
enquries where
risk identified

Enquiries 
completed/
in progress

Leading to
safeguarding
enquiry/other

pathway

Safeguarding
concerns received

Population 18+
with/without

care and support
needs

Without care and support needs

With care support

Safeguarding concerns

Other pathway

Safeguarding enquiry

In progress

Completed enquiries

Other outcome

Risk identified

Remains

Removed reduced

The Safeguarding Journey – from raising of safeguarding concern to outcome of 
safe guarding enquiry

The safeguarding journey
Raising of safeguarding concern

	● In 2018-19 we received across RBKC and WCC a total of 1,031 concerns about cases of potential or actual harm or 
abuse. This is equivalent to three concerns for every 1,000 adults in the general population, or, we estimate, 38 for 
every 1,000 adults with care and support needs

	● The great majority of concerns (897) met the threshold for a safeguarding enquiry. They involved 789 adults at 
risk; 69% were aged 65+ and 62% were women. Those concerns that did not meet the threshold were followed up 
in other ways for example by referral to the social care management team, the customer services team, trading 
standards offices, domestic abuse support agencies, or the police

Resulting safeguarding process

	● Of the concerns that met the threshold for a safeguarding enquiry over half (518, or 58%) were classified as s42 
enquiries in that the person was experiencing or at risk of harm or abuse and had care and support needs which 
prevented them from protecting themselves

	● The focus of all safeguarding enquiries is to establish what the adult at risk would like to happen in relation to the 
risk and what needs to be done to achieve this

P
age 126



Data set for 2018-19  looking at who makes a referral ,threshold, location of harm 
and outcomes for the adult at risk 

34      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      35

The outcome of the safeguarding process

	● In over half (382, or 55%) of the enquiries which were completed in 2018-19, a clear risk of harm or abuse was 
identified.  In the great majority of these cases (82%) the risk of harm was assessed by the social worker as having 
been removed or reduced by the end of the enquiry.  This may have involved actions such as increased monitoring 
of the adult at risk or disciplinary action

	● In the remaining cases the risk was judged to have remained.  Commonly this was when the inquiry involved a 
family member and the adult was accepting of the risk and did not wish any specific action to be taken.

Health care staff 29%

Social care staff 29%

Family member/ Friend/Neighbour/ Self 11%

Police 5%

Housing 4%

Education/Work 1%

CQC 1%

Other 6%

Not known 14%

Source of Referral

Other enquiry 42%

Section 42 enquiry 58%

Type of enquiry

Own home 61 %

Care home 13%

Extra care/sheltered housing 7%

Hospital 6%

In the community 4%

In a community service 2%

Other 4%

Not known 3%

Location of harm

Neglect/ Act of omission 29%

Financial 21%

Physical 19%

Psycological 14%

Domestic 7%

Sexual 3%

Institutional 3%

Self neglect 2%

Discriminatory 1%

Modern day slavery 1%

Type of harm

Yes, asked and outcomes expressed 65%

Yes, asked and no outcomes expressed 14%

No not asked 19%

Making safeguarding personal

Fully achieved 60%

Partley achieved 30%

Not achieved 6%

Not Known 4%

Making safeguarding personal

The majority of incidents (61%) occurred in the adult at risk’s 
own home. About a quarter occurred in care settings

Just over 40% of concerns were followed up under safeguarding 
even though they did not meet the threshold for a s42 enquiry

The majority of incidents (61%) occurred in the adult at risk’s 
own home. About a quarter occurred in care settings

In about 80% of completed enquiries the adult at risk, or their 
representative, was asked about the outcomes they wanted to 
achieves but in 14% of cases no desired outcomes were expressed

Where the adult at risk, or their representative, expressed a 
desired outcome, in nine out of ten cases the outcome desired 
was assessed as having been fully or partially achieved

Self-neglect is under-represented among the allegations of 
abuse raised as this is followed-up under a separate pathway

The Safeguarding Adults Board must arrange a Safeguarding Adults Review when an adult in its area dies or 
there is a near miss as a result of abuse or neglect and there is concern that partner agencies could have 
worked more effectively to protect the adult . 

The Safeguarding Case Review Group reviewed the 2 cases below and determined that they met the statutory 
criteria for a SAR.

Date case to SACRG Emerging themes from Safeguarding Adults Reviews

1 27 July 2018 This is a ‘near miss’ case involving a person (Mr O) who was discharged 
from hospital. This review highlighted that Mr O presented well in 
terms of his functioning. While there were underlying tendencies to 
self-neglect, these were not always apparent, and it would have been 
helpful if services that supported Mr O had a greater awareness of 
his vulnerabilities and tendency to self-neglect. The safeguarding 
investigation identified the need for greater communication between 
agencies. The learning for organisations included the importance of 
creating robust handover and information on specific cases prior to 
staff changing or leaving their role. Early learning from this case has 
helped to develop clearer lines of communication between adult social 
care and housing.  This review also highlighted the need for closer 
working between agencies and people, who may not require formal care 
services, but would benefit from some monitoring in the community to 
safely support their choices, rights and freedoms.

Outcome: It was agreed a Learning Lessons Review (LLR) was the most 
appropriate methodology review to promote effective learning and 
improvement action to explore the way organisations are working 
together. The review will be completed in 2019 and the learning will 
be disseminated to all members of the SAEB. This Safeguarding Adults 
Case Review Group will ensure that a seven-minute learning briefing 
is disseminated, and practice changes are embedded by the relevant 
agencies.

APPENDIX 

P
age 127



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      3736      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

Date case to SACRG Emerging themes from Safeguarding Adults Reviews

2 21 November 2018

Mr P

This case concerned a man (Mr P) who had complex care and support 
needs, complex physical co-morbidities. Mr P exhibited challenging 
behaviour and had fluctuating mental capacity. Challenging behaviours 
impacted upon carers ability to support Mr P . He would self -neglect, 
increased is alcohol intake making him susceptible to falls and started 
to self medicate and overuse pain killers .This led to an increase in 
hospital admissions on at least 6 occasions in 1 year.

Outcome: A Learning Lessons Review was undertaken to consider how 
agencies worked together to safeguard a man with complex care and 
support needs. The key focus of the review was to consider if there were 
‘checks and balances’ in the planning and delivery of care to assure safe 
systems are in place and if not to explore risk to address systems issues 
or unsafe practice.

Professionals worked closely to produce an Action Plan. The action 
plan includes new guidance and escalation policies for local nursing 
homes, promotion of joint working and changes to bariatric pathways in 
community care settings.

Abuse
Harm that is caused by anyone who has power over 
another person, which may include family members, 
friends, unpaid carers and health or social care workers. 
It can take various forms, including physical harm 
or neglect, and verbal, emotional or sexual abuse. 
Adults at risk can also be the victim of financial abuse 
from people they trust. Abuse may be carried out by 
individuals or by the organisation that employs them.

Accountability
When a person or organisation is responsible for 
ensuring that things happen, and is expected to explain 
what happened and why.

Adult at risk
An adult who is in need of extra support because of 
their age, disability, or physical or mental ill-health, 
and who may be unable to protect themselves from 
harm, neglect or exploitation.

Advocacy
Help to enable you to get the care and support you 
need that is independent of your local council. An 
advocate can help you express your needs and wishes, 
and weigh up and take decisions about the options 
available to you. They can help you find services, make 
sure correct procedures are followed and challenge 
decisions made by councils or other organisations.

Autonomy
Having control and choice over your life and the 
freedom to decide what happens to you. Even when 
you need a lot of care and support, you should still be 
able to make your own choices and should be treated 
with dignity.

Best interests decision
Other people should act in your ‘best interests’ if you 
are unable to make a particular decision for yourself 
(for example, about your health or your finances). The 
law does not define what ‘best interests’ might be, but 
gives a list of things that the people around you must 
consider when they are deciding what is best for you. 
These include your wishes, feelings and beliefs, the 
views of your close family and friends on what you 
would want, and all your personal circumstances.

Carer
A person who provides unpaid support to a partner, 
family member, friend or neighbour who is ill, struggling 
or disabled and could not manage without this help. 
This is distinct from a care worker, who is paid to support 
people.

Challenging behaviour
Challenging behaviour may cause harm to the person 
or to those around them, and may make it difficult for 
them to go out and about. It may include aggression, 
self-injury or disruptive or destructive behaviour. It is 
often caused by a person’s difficulty in communicating 
what they need - perhaps because of a learning disability, 
autism, dementia or a mental health problem. People 
whose behaviour is a threat to their own wellbeing or to 
others need the right support. They may be referred by 
their GP to a specialist behavioural team. The specialist 
team will work on understanding the causes of the 
behaviour and finding solutions. This is sometimes known 
as positive behaviour support.

JARGON BUSTER

This is Our Safeguarding Jargon Buster using plain English definitions of the most commonly used words and phrases in 
this annual report.

P
age 128



38      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19      39

Deprivation of liberty safeguards 
Legal protection for people in hospitals or care homes 
who are unable to make decisions about their own 
care and support, property or finances. People with 
mental health conditions, including dementia, may not 
be allowed to make decisions for themselves, if this is 
deemed to be in their best interests. The safeguards 
exist to make sure that people do not lose the right to 
make their own decisions for the wrong reasons.

Dignity
Being worthy of respect as a human being and being 
treated as if you matter. You should be treated with 
dignity by everyone involved in your care and support. If 
dignity is not part of the care and support you receive, 
you may feel uncomfortable, embarrassed and unable 
to make decisions for yourself. Dignity applies equally to 
everyone, regardless of whether they have capacity.

Human trafficking
When someone is dishonest to you about the job you 
are interested in and you travel to a place and find out 
that you have been lied to. But you have paid money to 
get there and find out you now need to pay this money 
back before you are allowed to leave. 

Learning Lessons Review
Safeguarding Adults Boards must arrange for there to 
be a review of a case involving an adult in its area with 
needs for care and support if there is reasonable cause 
for concern about how the SAEB, members of it or other 
persons with relevant functions worked together to 
safeguard the adult, and the adult is still alive, and the 
SAEB knows or suspects that the adult has experienced 
serious abuse or neglect. Each member of the SAEB 
must co-operate in and contribute to the carrying out of 
a review under this section with a view to identifying the 
lessons to be learnt from the adult’s case, and applying 
those lessons to future cases.

Liberty Protection Safeguards
In July 2018, the government published a Mental 
Capacity (Amendment) Bill, which passed into law in May 
2019. It replaces the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) with a scheme known as the Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (although the term is not used in the Bill 
itself).

Making Safeguarding Personal 
(MSP)
It means that you are asked what you want to do about 
the incident of abuse and how you may be supported in 
making yourself safe. It helps you to take control and it 
gives you choice. 

Mental Capacity Act 2005
A law that is designed to protect people who are 
unable to make decisions about their own care and 
support, property or finances, because of a mental 
health condition, learning disability, brain injury or 
illness. ‘Mental capacity’ is the ability to make decisions 
for yourself. The law says that people may lose the right 
to make decisions if this is in their best interests. 

Near miss
Something that is not supposed to happen and is 
prevented before serious harm is caused.

Outcomes 
In social care, an ‘outcome’ refers to an aim or objective 
you would like to achieve or need to happen - for 
example, continuing to live in your own home, or being 
able to go out and about. You should be able to say 
which outcomes are the most important to you, and 
receive support to achieve them.

Proportionality
Doing what is needed, without intruding into people’s 
lives any further than is necessary to meet their needs 
or keep them safe. It is an important principle in the 
Care Act 2014

Prevention
Any action that prevents or delays the need for you 
to receive care and support, by keeping you well and 
enabling you to remain independent

Think Family
A Think Family approach is the steps taken by 
practitioners to identify wider family needs which extend 
beyond the individual they are supporting.

Transitions
This Term relates to the transition between children’s 
and adults’ services. Young people, who receive social 
care, often still need support when they turn 18. 
‘Transition’ is the period of time when young people are 
moving from childhood into adulthood.

Council services for adults are different from those 
for children, so it’s important that young adults get 
the services they need to live a full life. This is a very 
important stage in a young person’s life because they 
need to make plans for their future care arrangements 
which will help them live as independently as possible.

P
age 129



Making  
Safeguarding Personal

I am able to make choices about my own well-being

Creating a Safe and  
Healthy Community

I am aware of what abuse looks like  
and feel listened to when it is reported

I am kept up-to-date and  
know what is happening

I want to feel safe in my own home
My choices are important
My recovery is important

You are willing to work with me

Leading, Listening  
and Learning

We are open to new ideas
We are a partnership of listeners

We give people a voice
We hold each other to account

We want to learn from you

The Board will continue to be guided by what people are telling us is important to them, as 
contained in the “house”.
We continue to work in the coming year on the three key areas:

	● Making Safeguarding Personal 

Working alongside our service user groups to develop further ways to hear the voice of the adult at risk on the Board 
and at a local level:

1. Service user feedback form implementation and audit 
2. Marketing of Safe at home videos at a local and national level 
3. Review of Train the Trainers programme delivered by service users and Community Champions

	● Creating a safe and Healthy community 
1. Preparation for implementation of the Mental Capacity Act (Amended) 2019 Liberty Protection Safeguards across 

the Partnership
2. Feedback from joint working group with safeguarding and community safety partnerships on prevention of 

repeat victimisation of older people 
3. Understanding what good Quality Assurance looks like at Board Level 

	● Leading listening and Learning
1. Programme of workshops jointly developed with the Local Safeguarding Children’s Partnership to include: 

Transitions & Think Family
2. Launch of learning programme from safeguarding adults review and other reviews and exploring ways to better 

embed learning into front line practice 
3. Partnership response and evaluation of Safeguarding Adults Risk Assessment Tool 

WHAT THE BOARD WILL BE 
WORKING ON IN 2019/2020

P
age 130



Westminster
T 020 7641 2176
E adultsocialcare@westminster.gov.uk

Kensington and Chelsea 
T 020 7361 3013
E socialservices@rbkc.gov.uk

©
 K

en
si

ng
to

n 
an

d 
Ch

el
se

a 
Co

un
ci

l (
de

si
gn

@
rb

kc
.g

ov
.u

k)
 –

  J
an

ua
ry

 2
02

0 
 F

ile
 re

f: 
67

9.
2

mistreated?
bullied?
hit?
neglected? 
hurt?
exploited?
silenced?

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Westminster Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 

RBKC Health 
& Wellbeing Board 

 
Date: 05 February 2020 

 
Classification: General Release  

 
Title: 
 

Draft Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 
Annual Report 18-19 
 

Report of: 
 

Jenny Pearce, LSCB Independent Chair 

Wards Involved: N/a 
 

Financial Summary:  N/a 
 

Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

Emma.Biskupski@rbkc.gov.uk  

 
 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report is a report of the 

work of the multi-agency safeguarding children partnership across Hammersmith 

& Fulham, Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster. It gives an overview of the 

work of the Board during 18-19, including our key priorities, learning from case 

reviews and multi-agency audits. 

 

2. Key Matters for the Board 

2.1 The LSCB annual report is presented for information.  

 

3. Background 

3.1 Local Safeguarding Children Boards are required to publish an annual report of 
their work. The LSCB covering Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington and 

Page 133

mailto:Emma.Biskupski@rbkc.gov.uk


Chelsea, and Westminster has completed the annual report detailing our work 
against our key priorities:  
 

 reducing the harm of domestic abuse and coercive control 

 tackling peer on peer abuse (including child sexual exploitation)  

 hearing the voice of children and young people.  
 
3.2 The report gives an overview of the multi-agency training that we provide to the 

children’s workforce across Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington and Chelsea 
and Westminster.  

 
3.3 The report also notes the work of our Child Death Overview Panel that reviews 

the child deaths, both expected and unexpected across the three local 
authorities, and the future changes expected this year in the development of a 
larger CDOP footprint.  

 
3.4 This is the last annual report of the Local Safeguarding Children Board in its 

current form, as from October 2019, the LSCB was replaced by the Local 
Safeguarding Children Partnership. This is in line with the statutory guidance in 
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 which states that the named 
Safeguarding Partners (the Local Authorities, the Clinical Commissioning Groups, 
and the Police Basic Command Unit) must set out their local multi-agency 
safeguarding children partnership arrangements.  
 

 

4. Options / Considerations 

4.1 The LSCB Annual Report is presented for information.  

 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 n/a 

 
6. Financial Implications 

6.1 n/a 

 
 

 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 

Background Papers please contact:   

 Emma Biskupski /LSCP Business Manager  

Email: emma.biskupski@rbkc.gov.uk  

Telephone: 07779 348 094 

 

Page 134



 

APPENDICES: 

None 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:   

None 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT  

2018-2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 137



 

2 
 

Table of Contents 
 

Introduction from the LSCB Independent Chair       p3 

The Local Picture           p4 

Local Safeguarding Data 2018-2019        p5 

Governance and Structure          p6 

LSCB Priorities 2018-2019          p10 

o Priority 1: Reducing the Harm of Domestic Abuse and Coercive Control 

o Priority 2: Tackling Peer on Peer Abuse (including Child Sexual Exploitation) 

o Priority 3: Hearing the Voice of Children and Young People 

 

Quality Assurance           p18 

Learning from Case Reviews         p20 

LSCB Multi-Agency Training         p22 

Child Death Overview Panel         p25 

LSCB Website and Social Media         p28 

Appendix 1: LSCB Membership and attendance      p30 

Appendix 2: LSCB Budget          p32 

Glossary            p33 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 138



 

3 
 

Introduction from the LSCB 

Independent Chair 

Welcome to this year’s Local Safeguarding Children Board 

(LSCB) annual report for 2018-2019.  

This was an important year as changes in legislation and 

related statutory guidance for safeguarding children set out 

the need to develop the new safeguarding children 

partnership arrangements that must be in place from 

October 2019.   

 

We have worked to consult with key stakeholders to 

consolidate the work of the LSCB, and to ensure that we are 

ready to implement the new changes.  

The legislation requires the Police, local Authority and 

Health Commissioners to lead safeguarding children 

arrangements which will then be scrutinised by an 

independent scrutineer. This means that the title of my role 

will change from Independent Chair to Independent 

Scrutineer. 

 

Addressing these changes has been a productive exercise and plans are in place to build on the 

strong partnerships that already exist to safeguard children. With the LSCB becoming the Local 

Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP), we will retain quarterly partnership meetings with the 

wide body of agencies holding responsibility for safeguarding children, ensuring that this shared 

responsibility is embedded in practice across all agencies.  

 

In my role as Independent Chair, I have noted and am encouraged that all our local partners want 

to keep hold of the strong partnership relationships so that information sharing and regular 

updating on safeguarding concerns can continue.  

 

Over the year our work has addressed a number of safeguarding concerns, including the 

continued recognition of the impact of the tragedy of the fire at Grenfell Tower. We have worked to 

our three safeguarding children priorities, addressing peer on peer abuse, the impact of domestic 

abuse and engaging with children and young people.  Examples of this work are outlined within 

the report. Very sadly we have worked with a number of cases involving knife crime and will be 

following up on some through learning events and case reviews. As across the country, knife 

crime, peer on peer violence and the criminal exploitation of children is a significant problem, 

raising the need for strong multi-agency partnership working. To facilitate this we have set up an 

LSCB subgroup looking specifically at ‘Safeguarding Adolescents’. This, alongside other 

subgroups, reports to the quarterly safeguarding children board meetings, ensuring that all 

partners learn from and engage with the ongoing safeguarding concerns across the three 

boroughs. The work of the LSCB will continue as we transition into the new arrangements and I 

look forward to continuing to work with colleagues to work towards safeguarding children now and 

in the future.  

Independent 
Chair 
Jenny Pearce 

Page 139



 

4 
 

The local picture 

 

Hammersmith and Fulham  

 
Approximately 35,150 children and young people aged 0 to 19 years live in Hammersmith and 
Fulham. This is 19% of the total population in the area.  
 

 
 

  0-17          18 and over  
 
 
 

Kensington and Chelsea 

 
Approximately 29,801 children and young people aged 0 to 18 years live in Kensington and 
Chelsea. This is less than 19% of the total population in the area.  
 

 
 

  0-18          19 and over 
 

 

Westminster 

 
Approximately 44,465 children and young people aged 0 to 19 years live in Westminster. This is 
less than 19% of the total population in the area.  
 

 
 

  0-18          19 and over 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

The three most deprived wards with large child populations 

Page 140



 

5 
 

Local Safeguarding Data 2018/2019 

 

6141 Referrals to Children’s Social Care (1668 LBHF / 2234* RBKC / 2239 WCC) 

271 Children were subject to a Child Protection Plan (159 LBHF / 51 RBKC / 61 WCC) 

Neglect and Emotional Abuse are the most frequent reason for children being placed on a Child 

Protection Plan in 2018-2019 

Domestic Abuse continued to be the main parental risk factor leading to children becoming 

subject of a Child Protection Plan, and Neglect, Mental Health, Alcohol and Substance Misuse are 

also significant factors.  

553 children were Looked After (251 LBHF / 93 RBKC / 209 WCC) 

Peer on peer is most common model of CSE but online grooming and exploitation is also a 

concern.  

1 serious incident notification made to the National Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel, 

which will be a Serious Case Review in Hammersmith and Fulham 

106 face to face multi-agency safeguarding children training workshops attended by 1760 

delegates 

5 Designated Safeguarding Lead for Schools Training Sessions  

5 Designated Safeguarding Lead for Schools Networking Forums 

3 Safeguarding Training workshops for School Governors 

1 Safeguarding Training workshop for Tri-Borough Music Hub, attended by 55 music tutors 

attending schools in all three boroughs. 

61 schools in Hammersmith and Fulham, 97% were rated Good or better 

39 schools in Kensington and Chelsea, 100% rated Good or better 

59 schools in Westminster, 93% rated Good or better 

 

 

 

*The children’s services bespoke case management system in RBKC records all contacts and referrals about children 

so the referrals data appears higher. The case management systems in LBHF and WCC are able to distinguish 

between contacts and referrals.   

Page 141



 

6 
 

Governance and Structure 

All local authority areas were required by law to have a Local Safeguarding Children Board and 

ours spans the three local authorities of Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington and Chelsea and 

Westminster. This is a statutory partnership established following the Children Act 2004, and 

follows the ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015’ statutory guidance and the revised 

statutory guidance in ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’, which was published in July 

2018.  

Our LSCB is chaired by an Independent Chair, Jenny Pearce. The Board meetings take place 

quarterly, as do the subgroup meetings.  

The main functions of the LSCB (as per Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015) were to:  

• Develop policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in 

the local area 
• Communicate the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, raising 

awareness of how this can be best done and encouraging all to do so 

• Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of what is done by the local authorities and 

their Board partners individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children  

• Participating in the planning of services for children in the local area 

• Undertaking reviews of serious cases and sharing the lessons learnt.  

 

Development of the new Local Safeguarding Children Partnership  

The future of the multi-agency safeguarding partnership was reviewed by the Board, in light of the 

revised statutory guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’, published in July 2018 

following the new Children and Social Work Act that received Royal Assent in 2017. This sets out 

the new framework for the delivery of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements which the 

Safeguarding Partners were required to publish in June 2019, ahead of implementation by 

October 2019.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Independent Chair held a number of meetings with the local authority Chief Executives, 

Directors of Children’s Services, Police and Clinical Commissioning Group, as well as wider 

partners to develop the new model. This development work continued through to October 2019, 

when the new Local Safeguarding Children Partnership held its inaugural meeting. The agreed 

structure for the LSCP can be found on p11.  

Safeguarding Partners  

A safeguarding partner in relation to a local authority area in England is defined under the 
Children Act 2004 (as amended by the Children and Social Work Act, 2017) as:  
(a) the local authority  
(b) a clinical commissioning group for an area any part of which falls within the local authority 
area  
(c) the chief officer of police for an area any part of which falls within the local authority area  
 
 

 

SafeguardinThe aims 
The purpose of the campaign is to help business owners and their employees identify 
potential victims of child sexual exploitation and, where necessary, alert police officers to 
intervene prior to any young person coming to harm. 

What’s involved 
Businesses such as hotels, licensed premises and taxi companies are being provided with 
awareness training to help them recognise the signs of child sexual exploitation. They are 
directed to call 101, quoting ‘Operation Makesafe’, should they suspect suspicious behaviour 
or activity on their premises or in their vehicles.g partners  
A safeguarding partner in relation to a local authority area in England is defined under the 
Children Act 2004 (as amended by the Children and Social Work Act, 2017) as:  

Page 142

https://www.met.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/caa/child-abuse/child-sexual-exploitation/


 

7 
 

 

The new Local Safeguarding Children Partnership will retain the three key priorities from the Local 

Safeguarding Children Board which can be found on page 10. 

In addition, the new partnership aims to build stronger relationships and joint working opportunities 

with other strategic partnerships across the three local authorities, including:  

• the Community Safety Partnerships – tackling serious youth violence and knife crime and 

sharing the learning from Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs).  

 

• the Violence Against Women and Girls Partnership – tackling domestic abuse and harmful 

practices 

  

• the Health and Wellbeing Boards 

 

• the two Safeguarding Adults Boards – developing a ‘Think Family’ approach, and work 

around transitional safeguarding as we know that young people can still be vulnerable when 

they turn 18.  

We plan to host some joint learning events between the Local Safeguarding Children 

Partnership and the two Safeguarding Adult Boards on these two topics.   

Page 143



 

8 
 

LSCB structure until September 2019 

 

P
age 144



 

9 
 

LSCP Structure from October 2019 

 

P
age 145



 

10 
 

LSCB Priorities 2018-2019 

The new LSCB Chair and Board members agreed to retain the current three key 

priorities for our work across the partnership.  

These include:  

 

 

Priority 1 – Reducing the Harm of Domestic Abuse and Coercive 

Control 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Police and the Local Authority Safeguarding Leads for schools worked together 

to begin planning the roll out of Operation Encompass. This is a scheme whereby 

the Police in the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) contact schools to notify 

them of specific domestic abuse concerns that may have arisen overnight. This 

would allow the schools to provide the appropriate pastoral care for children 

following an incident that they may have witnessed or heard at home.  

 

Reducing the 
harm of 

domestic 
abuse and 
Coercive 
Control

Tackling Peer 
on Peer Abuse

• including child 
sexual 

exploitation and 
serious youth 

violence

Hearing the 
voice of 

children and 
young people 

What is Domestic Abuse?  

Any incident of controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between 

those aged 16 or over who are, or have been intimate partners or family members 

regardless of gender or sexuality. The abuse can encompass, but is not limited to: 

psychological, physical, sexual, financial, emotional.  

Controlling behaviour is a range of acts performed by the abuser and designed to make 

their victim subordinate and/or dependent.  

Coercive behaviour is an act or pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and 

intimidation or other abuse that is used by the abuser to harm, punish or frighten their 

victim.  
 

 

 

 

What is Domestic Abuse?  

Any incident of controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between 

those aged 16 or over who are, or have been intimate partners or family members 

regardless of gender or sexuality. The abuse can encompass, but is not limited to: 

psychological, physical, sexual, financial, emotional.  

Controlling behaviour is a range of acts performed by the abuser and designed to make 

their victim subordinate and/or dependent.  

Page 146



 

11 
 

The LSCB formally endorsed the roll out of Operation Encompass in January 2019.  

The Children and Health Operational Group (CHOG), a shared subgroup of the 

LSCB and the Violence Against Women and Girls Partnership has led on the 

awareness raising of domestic abuse across the partnership. Its role is to encourage 

the implementation of the Co-ordinated Community Response (CCR) model in 

children and health agencies.  

The CHOG Coordinator left on 31.03.2018 and there was a gap whilst recruitment 

decisions were made. The new coordinator started in October 2018 and since then, 

key successes include:  

• the subgroup meetings have been revised and well attended 

• the subgroup has agreed a theory of change and a data set to review.  

• the subgroup has also reviewed the new Pathfinder project across the three 

boroughs.  

• Domestic abuse training was provided to 49 staff at Royal Brompton Hospital 

• The CHOG coordinator has attended the Westminster Early Help Strategy 

Launch 

• The CHOG coordinator has co-delivered a workshop on domestic abuse and 

children at the Hammersmith & Fulham Partnership Group 

• Supported the planning for the potential launch of the Safe and Together 

Model across the partnership 

In addition, the VAWG partnership was successful in a bid to be part of the National 

Pathfinder project, leading innovative approaches to tackling violence against 

women and girls in the health economy, in acute health trusts, mental health trusts 

and community based IRIS programmes in GP practices.  The Pathfinder project will 

help to identify good practice and develop guidance in the form of a ‘toolkit’ which will 

enable others to achieve a model response to domestic abuse in health settings.   

Planned work for 2019-2020 

 

The Safeguarding Children Partnership will continue to monitor the roll out of 

Operation Encompass across schools, including schools in the independent sector.  

The Safeguarding Children Partnership will explore the possibility of using the Safe 

and Together Model. This child-centred model provides a framework for multi-

agency practitioners to work alongside survivors of domestic abuse, and better 

intervene with perpetrators, in order to keep the child/ren safe and together with the 

non-abusing parent.  

  

Page 147



 

12 
 

Priority 2 – Tackling Peer on Peer Abuse (including Child Sexual 

Exploitation)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contextual Safeguarding Learning Event for the LSCB: At the July LSCB Board 
meeting, Dr Carlene Firmin from the Contextual Safeguarding Network and the 
University of Bedfordshire was invited to share her presentation on contextual 
safeguarding to the partnership. Contextual safeguarding is an approach to 
understanding and being able to respond to young people’s experiences of 
significant harm outside of their families, for example within their peer groups, in 
schools, online and in their neighbourhoods.  Additional spaces were made available 
so that key practitioners from across the partnership could also attend to learn more 
about this approach.  

What is Child Sexual Exploitation? 

Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where an individual 

or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate, or deceive 

a child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual activity a) in exchange for 

something the victim needs or wants and/or b) for the financial advantage or 

increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may have been sexually 

exploited even if the sexual activity appears consensual. Child sexual exploitation 

does not always involve physical contact. It can also occur through the use of 

technology.  

 

What is Child Sexual Exploitation? 

Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where an individual 

or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate, or deceive 

a child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual activity a) in exchange for 

something the victim needs or wants and/or b) for the financial advantage or 

increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may have been sexually 

exploited even if the sexual activity appears consensual. Child sexual exploitation 

does not always involve physical contact. It can also occur through the use of 

technology.  

 

What is Child Sexual Exploitation? 

Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where an individual 

or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate, or deceive 

What is Peer on Peer Abuse? 
Peer on peer abuse occurs when a young person is exploited, bullied and / or harmed 
by their peers who are the same or similar age; everyone directly involved in peer on 
peer abuse is under the age of 18. ‘Peer-on-peer’ abuse can relate to various forms of 

abuse (not just sexual abuse and exploitation), and it is important to note the fact that 
the behaviour in question is harmful to the child perpetrator as well as the victim. 
There is no clear definition of what peer on peer abuse entails. However it can be 
captured in a range of different definitions:  
Domestic Abuse: relates to young people aged 16 and 17 who experience physical, 

emotional, sexual and / or financial abuse, and coercive control in their intimate 

relationships;   

Child Sexual Exploitation: captures young people aged under-18 who are sexually 

abused in the context of exploitative relationships, contexts and situations by a person 

of any age - including another young person;  

Harmful Sexual Behaviour: refers to any young person, under the age of 18, who 

demonstrates behaviour outside of their normative parameters of development (this 

includes, but is not exclusive to abusive behaviours);  

Serious Youth Crime / Violence: refers to offences (as opposed to relationships / 

contexts) and captures all those of the most serious in nature including murder, rape 

and GBH between young people under-18.  

 

 

What is Peer on Peer Abuse? 
Peer on peer abuse occurs when a young person is exploited, bullied and / or harmed 
by their peers who are the same or similar age; everyone directly involved in peer on 
peer abuse is under the age of 18. ‘Peer-on-peer’ abuse can relate to various forms of 

abuse (not just sexual abuse and exploitation), and it is important to note the fact that 
the behaviour in question is harmful to the child perpetrator as well as the victim. 
There is no clear definition of what peer on peer abuse entails. However it can be 
captured in a range of different definitions:  
Domestic Abuse: relates to young people aged 16 and 17 who experience physical, 

emotional, sexual and / or financial abuse, and coercive control in their intimate 

relationships;   

Child Sexual Exploitation: captures young people aged under-18 who are sexually 

abused in the context of exploitative relationships, contexts and situations by a person 

of any age - including another young person;  

Harmful Sexual Behaviour: refers to any young person, under the age of 18, who 

demonstrates behaviour outside of their normative parameters of development (this 

includes, but is not exclusive to abusive behaviours);  

Serious Youth Crime / Violence: reference to offences (as opposed to relationships / 

contexts) and captures all those of the most serious in nature including murder, rape 

and GBH between young people under-18.  

 

 

What is Peer on Peer Abuse? 
Peer on peer abuse occurs when a young person is exploited, bullied and / or harmed 
by their peers who are the same or similar age; everyone directly involved in peer on 

Page 148



 

13 
 

Following this, the local authorities convened a contextual safeguarding working 
group to review and pilot tools to promote a contextual safeguarding approach to 
their work.  
 
Safeguarding Adolescents Subgroup: 
This year, the LSCB convened a new Safeguarding Adolescents Subgroup. Over the 
past year, the subgroup has considered the following:  

• a mapping exercise to understand the different forums across the three local 
authorities where children and young people are discussed and whether there is 
a way to rationalise these.  

• A bid to the Contextual Safeguarding Network for support in developing our 
approach to Contextual Safeguarding. Ultimately, this expression of interest was 
not successful, however, it did lead to our involvement in the Beyond Referrals 
Project, working with four schools to develop appropriate responses to harmful 
sexual behaviours. 

• A thematic Learning Review from Croydon LSCB on vulnerable adolescents 

• A report from the National Working Group for Sexually Exploited Children and 
Young People report on sexual exploitation and the transition between children’s 
and adults’ services.  

• Feedback from young residents about local youth services 
 
Operation Makesafe: 
In February 2019, the Police and CSE leads, along with Designated Nurses, health 

and voluntary sector partners collaborated to deliver CSE training and awareness 

raising sessions at two conferences for local hotels across the three local authorities, 

as well as taking part in Operation Makesafe, a Police-led initiative to test CSE 

awareness in hotels which was run for the third time in March 2019.  

Taith Project:  

The three local authorities and partners have worked to roll out the Taith project, in 

partnership with Barnardo’s. This is a trauma informed service that aims to work with 

young perpetrators of harmful sexual behaviour, to reduce offending behaviours and 

provide opportunities for therapeutic support. Referrals to the Taith project in all 

three boroughs have increased over the past year.  

MASE (Multi-agency Sexual Exploitation Panel): The MASE Panel covering the 

three boroughs meets monthly, chaired jointly by the Police and Local Authorities. 

This is attended by the Local Authority CSE Leads and multi-agency partners. MASE 

meetings focus on victims, perpetrators and locations of concern, and themes as per 

the London CSE Protocol published in June 2017. This year, planning began to 

extend the remit of MASE to include child exploitation and gang involvement, and 

multi-agency partners were consulted on how this might work effectively, to aid in 

mapping trends and disrupting harmful behaviour.  

Safeguarding Adolescents at Risk Panel (SARP): SARP was launched in June 

2019 to merge all panels of at-risk young people to one comprehensive multi-agency 

panel. SARP aims to streamline our current safeguarding practices and support 

better identification of risk and information sharing for some of our most vulnerable 

children and young people in Hammersmith and Fulham.  

One Life No Knife Projects:  

Planning began for an engagement event for parents and carers to discuss knife 

Page 149



 

14 
 

crime and serious youth violence in Hammersmith and Fulham, in preparation for an 

event that we aimed to host in the summer of 2019. Regrettably, difficulties in 

securing a suitable venue and date to accommodate key stakeholders led to a delay 

and we are now hoping to host this in the spring term of 2020.  

  

Page 150



 

15 
 

 

 

 

In order to build on the One Life, No Knife work that was undertaken in Kensington 

and Chelsea last year, in February 2019 the police Basic Command Unit hosted a 

friendly football match between young people in Kensington and Chelsea and 

officers. The aim was to help build better relationships between young people and a 

key statutory service and share some important safeguarding messages with our 

young residents in the borough. The young players beat the police officers with the 

final score being 14 goals to 2! 

Following this, the Safer K&C Partnership, together with the Royal Borough of 

Kensington and Chelsea and the Police hosted an opportunities fair for young 

people. This brought together a variety of employers and education providers, to 

showcase local opportunities for young people to consider. The employers present 

included British Airways, the British Army, the BBC, Chelsea Football Club, Queens 

Park Rangers Football Club, the London Fire Brigade and Chelsea and Westminster 

Hospital.  The education providers who attended included Hammersmith & West 

London College, Imperial College, Thames Valley University and St Charles College. 

A total of 92 people attended, 60 of whom were young people. 

A further engagement event for parents and carers, and young people, is also 

planned for 2020.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Flyers for the One Life, No Knife events in Kensington and Chelsea. 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 

Page 151



 

16 
 

  

 

 

 

Background: 
Operation Makesafe was a policing test purchasing initiative 

to identify hotels susceptible to being locations for Child 

Sexual Exploitation (CSE). The Operation was derived from 

intelligence that hotel rooms are used by perpetrators. 

Raising Awareness of CSE with local hotels: 

To ensure the findings were translated into meaningful action 

and change, two CSE conferences, hosted in a local west 

end hotel were planned and organised. The Head of 

Safeguarding in the Metropolitan Police Service at the time, 

and the Assistant Director of Family Services from 

Hammersmith & Fulham opened the conferences. Barnardo’s 

Nightwatch Scheme, Local Authority CSE leads, specialist 

sexual offences investigators and police licensing officers 

also spoke at the conferences. The events also included very 

powerful testimony from survivors of CSE. 

Around 100 hotel owners, managers and supervisors from 

hotels across the three local authorities attended the 

conferences, which took place on the 4th and 11th of February 

2019. 

The conferences won ‘hearts and minds’ leading to hotels 

across the three local authorities being less receptive to 

perpetrators of CSE.  

To end the event, attendees from the hotels were invited to 

sign a ‘Statement of Intent’ for their establishment to: 

• Challenge guests where signs of CSE were apparent. 

• To only accept bookings with official identification. 

• To support the Police and report anything suspicious. 

• To implement training for their staff to spot signs of 
exploitation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Operation 
Makesafe 

This is a Police-led operation to 

target child sexual exploitation 

(CSE) across the three local 

authorities in order to: 

- to test local hotels’ recognition 

and response to possible CSE 

situations from the Operation 

Makesafe training that they had 

previously received.  

- to share the findings with the 

hotels to identify opportunities 

for learning,  

How we did it: 

Each hotel was visited after 

school, with different pairings of 

adult and child (Police Cadets). 

The main objective of the adult 

was to try and book a hotel 

room for them and the child 

and to pay for this using cash. 

The adults were encouraged to 

give indicators of CSE during 

the booking process if the 

opportunity arose, such as 

being reluctant to provide ID, 

asking if the room would be 

available for only a few hours, 

and to talk for the child if they 

were spoken to by staff. 

Following this, the hotel staff 

and general manager were 

debriefed by Police CSE 

officers and multi-agency 

partners. 

The latest operation took place 

across three evenings in March 

2019, following the two CSE 

awareness conferences for 

hotels held in February 2019.  

This year, we noted an 

improved response from hotels 

to CSE concerns, compared to 

when the Operation was run 

the previous year.  

 

 Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Case Study 
 

Page 152



 

17 
 

Planned work for 2019-2020 

Beyond Referrals Project: LSCB Partners are keen to develop a greater 

understanding about Contextual Safeguarding and hope to pilot some work with four 

schools in Westminster and Kensington and Chelsea with the Beyond Referrals 

project, in partnership with the University of Bedfordshire. This pilot aims to support 

schools to be able to address harmful sexual behaviours in their settings.  

 

 

Priority 3 – Hearing the voice of children and young people 

  

Our safeguarding self-assessments (Section 11 audits) give some feedback about 

how partner agencies use opportunities to hear from children and young people.  

Multi-agency and single agency audits consider the voice of the child in case work. 

This year, our Safeguarding Adolescents subgroup considered the voice of children 

and young people in relation to safety and security. They told us that they wanted to 

see youth workers visible in their communities, to have access to advice and 

information regarding personal safety, to have access to safe spaces for young 

people and help for young people to steer them away from committing crimes.   

Planned work for 2019-2020 

The Partnership will re-advertise for the role of Children and Community 

Engagement Officer. 

We also want to build on the One Life No Knife events for young people and 

potentially expand these across all three boroughs.   

 

Other projects:  

Review of Child Protection Conferences and options for alternative 

pathways: 

This year, a project began to review the child protection conference system through 

a systemic lens and to consider whether there are different ways to doing things that 

would being greater benefits to families. The review sought to answer the following 

questions:  

• What is the quality of our overall engagement with, and treatment of, families 

Page 153



 

18 
 

at the early stages of the child protection process?  

• Do families experience our engagement with them as helpful?  

• What are families’ and professionals’ specific experiences of Danger 

Statements?  

• To what extent has the child protection conference system adopted systemic 

ways of thinking, working and positioning in respect of families?  

• Are there alternative pathways to the CP conference route for some families?  

Work began to consult with families and multi-agency professionals to help shape 

proposals. We aim to pilot new approaches in a small number of cases next year.  

 

Quality Assurance  

Serious Youth Violence and Exploitation audit:   

During 18-19, the LSCB completed a multi-agency audit on Serious Youth Violence 

and exploitation, looking at our responses to 5 young people in each borough who 

were considered to be involved in violence or at risk of exploitation.  

We held a multi-agency full day workshop took place in October 2019 which was well 

attended by a range professionals and agencies, in order to discuss the emerging 

findings and make recommendations for practice.  

 

The recommendations for practice include:  

• We need to develop ways of streamlining and effectively managing large 

professional networks around young people. 

• Where young people are in hospital having suffered a serious injury, we 

should always consider holding the Strategy Meeting at the hospital in order 

to promote effective information sharing. 

• Placement planning for young people aged sixteen plus should consider the 

full range of vulnerability and risk factors and should address how these will 

be responded to and mitigated against either by the identified placement or 

support around the placement.  

• When undertaking an assessment or investigation, social workers and their 

managers should always ask themselves which health professionals or 

services might be best able to contribute information or help their thinking.  

• Where CAMHS have not been able to engage with a family, feedback should 

be given to the other agencies involved. Where either Early Help or Social 

Care are already involved, the Team around the Family should review the 

plan to consider this. 

• When working with a young person involved in violence or at risk of exclusion 

we should always think about younger siblings and future vulnerability or risk.  

• Significant information should be fed back to GPs by social workers and other 

health professionals (e.g. school nursing). This should include the outcomes 

of any assessment or investigation 

 

 

Page 154



 

19 
 

Strategic recommendations include: 

• The Placements and Fostering and Adoption teams should be included in the 

strategic groups planning and monitoring our responses to Contextual 

Safeguarding. This is so that we make sure we are sourcing and using 

placements with the right expertise where young people are involved in 

violence and exploitation. 

• Forums and panels should be combined wherever possible to consider inter 

connected risks and vulnerabilities rather than specific issues in isolation (e.g. 

Missing, Exploitation, Serious Violence etc.)  

• CAMHS to consider their approach with families who find it difficult to engage  

• The Vulnerable Children’s Collaborative (RBKC & WCC) should consider 

strategies for re-integration to mainstream school for children in alternative 

education provision so that the Collaborative has oversight and influence of 

practice in this area.  

• Address how we can secure better police involvement in multi-agency 

auditing 

Missing Children audit:   

The LSCB also reviewed the single agency audit by Children’s Services on Children 

Missing that was completed in April 2018. This was a review audit to examine 

practice following a previous audit in October 2017. This audit found that practice 

had improved around the use of ‘grab packs’ (which is a two-page document with all 

the key details of young people who frequently go missing). There was also more 

consistency around the quality of return home interviews undertaken.  

 

Safeguarding Self-Assessments (Section 11 Audit) findings: 

Page 155



 

20 
 

The section 11 audits, a safeguarding self-assessment, are a useful way to check 

the safeguarding arrangements within agencies and provide the Board with 

assurance that agencies are doing what they can to ensure the safety and welfare of 

children.  

This year, self-assessment audits were requested from private health care providers 

across the three local authorities. Providers were able to demonstrate having 

appropriate safeguarding policies, governing structures and safer recruitment 

procedures in place. Some providers were able to demonstrate some good work in 

engaging children and young people.  

In addition, preparations were started to re-launch the audit using an online survey 

tool (Survey Monkey), with the ambition to extend the survey beyond safeguarding 

leads and managers, to front line practitioners in order to give the Partnership more 

comprehensive feedback from the multi-agency workforce.    

 

Learning from Case Reviews 

The Case Review Subgroup is made up of multi-agency partners including Police, 

Health and Local Authorities and in 2018-19 was chaired by the LSCB Independent 

Chair. In 2018-19 the subgroup met and reviewed: 

• 5 Serious Case Reviews published by other LSCBs. Issues explored included: 

- How to create safe working cultures within organisations, effective 

arrangements for responding to allegations/concerns about adults in positions 

of trust, alongside child focused commissioning practices by national 

organisations responsible for contracts within the secure estate (Medway STC 

SCR, Medway LSCB).  

 

-The importance of young people’s individual needs and vulnerabilities being 

recognised and addressed in thorough assessments and interventions to 

provide the right support to children at risk of criminal exploitation.  The 

importance of recognising that young people can be both victim and 

perpetrator.  (‘Chris’ SCR, Newham LSCB) 

 

-the complexities of working with non-compliant, chaotic, mobile and 

duplicitous families, where completing meaningful social work assessments is 

difficult and the voice of the child is not always captured. The role and 

influence of a baby’s father remained unclear to professionals as information 

wasn’t shared (Child C SCR, Barking & Dagenham LSCB). 

 

- The importance of considering ‘safeguarding first’ in relation to managing 

school attendance and of having more than one emergency contact (ideally 

three adults, which could include friends, family, neighbours) on file for 

children that is easy to access by relevant staff. The importance of staff 

actively considering the wider context of a child’s life when a child’s 

whereabouts are unknown and understanding how to escalate concerns. 

(‘Chadrack Mbala-Mulo’, City and Hackney LSCB) 

 

Page 156



 

21 
 

-The importance of offering appropriate counselling for parents/carers 

whenever a child is diagnosed with a disability and that professionals explore 

their understanding and views towards such disability. That professionals 

actively consider parents/carers individual cultural background and attitudes 

towards the provision of services. That there is a consistent process for 

identifying the key professional in a case and that professionals have the 

confidence to raise child protection concerns on open cases and escalate 

concerns. (Family A, Kingston LSCB). 

 

• 3 local cases not meeting the threshold for serious case review but where 

local learning was shared. Issues considered included:  

o responding to a complex case featuring fabricated and induced illness 

o the importance of hospital staff considering the possibility of non-

accidental injuries and not delaying safeguarding procedures. 

o the importance of strategy meetings including relevant health staff, 

especially where a child in an in-patient in hospital and listening to the 

voice of the child. Importance of discharge planning meetings being 

well coordinated to ensure patient safety.  

 

• Information regarding the new Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel and 

the new requirements for commissioning Child Safeguarding Practice 

Reviews, to replace Serious Case Reviews, once the LSCB has transitioned 

to the new safeguarding children partnership arrangements. Once the 

transition has taken place, the Safeguarding Partners have more flexibility to 

decide whether or not to commission a Local Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review.  

 

• The terms of reference for the National Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Panel’s first national thematic review on adolescents in need of state 

protection from criminal exploitation.   

At the end of the year, the LSCB was sadly notified of one fatal incident involving 

knife crime. This case will progress to a Serious Case Review.   

 

LSCB partners have also contributed to a Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR), 

originally commissioned in December 2017 for Kensington and Chelsea, to learn 

from the case of a vulnerable adult where there was a near miss incident. One of the 

issues from this case is the importance of practitioners being able to consider a 

‘Think Family’ approach in their work, regardless of whether they work primarily with 

adults or children. This is an area of work that we hope to embed further across the 

multi-agency workforce, together with both Safeguarding Adults Boards.  

Future plans:  

The Case Review Subgroup plans to review how we conduct Rapid Reviews and 

better disseminate the learning from cases using a new 7 minute briefing template. 

 

 

Page 157



 

22 
 

LSCB Multi-Agency Training 

The LSCB training programme was coordinated by our LSCB Multi-Agency Trainer 

with support from the Learning and Development Subgroup. Between April 2018 and 

March 2019, the LSCB delivered 106 face to face training workshops through the 

LSCB training programme. A total of 1760 delegates attended the workshops from a 

range of agencies across the partnership, including many in the voluntary sector. 

Across all of our workshops offered, there was a dip in the number of workshops 

booked. This is likely linked to a change in how bookings were made in the last 

quarter of the year. The overall attendance at training (across all workshops) was 

68%, though attendance rates for our core safeguarding workshops was higher, at 

72.7%. 

The LSCB training programme raised just over £20,000 in revenue this financial 

year, a mix of fees for attendance from practitioners in the private sector (60%) as 

well as fees for non-attendance and late notice cancellations (40%).  

The LSCB training programme was split into three main sections:  

 

Mandatory training: this features our three core training workshops which are the 

Introduction to Safeguarding Children (1/2 day), the one-day Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding and Child Protection Workshop and the half day Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding and Child Protection Workshop Refresher.  

Specialist training: this features a variety of more specialist topics including 

Safeguarding Children and Domestic Abuse, Child Sexual Exploitation, Support and 

pathways for children who have been raped or sexually assaulted, Safeguarding 

Children and Gang Awareness, Private Fostering Workshops, Staying Safe Online, 

and Harmful Practices.  

Managerial training: this features training such as our Meet the LADO workshop 

and the Safer Recruitment workshop accredited by the Safer Recruitment 

Consortium, and Safer Recruitment Refresher workshops.  

Further details about our training offer can be found on the link below: 

www.rbkc.gov.uk/lscbtraining 

 

The LSCB conducted a training needs analysis in order to help inform the design 

and commissioning of the training. This involved the LSCB Trainer consulting with 

partners about their training needs, in order to help us to understand what the 

emerging needs may be and if we need to expand on or deliver new training topics. 

This year, safeguarding adolescents was a topic that was requested. The LSCB 

Trainer coordinated two development sessions with multi-agency practitioners from 

all three boroughs from health, children’s social care and youth offending teams; to 

create a workshop outline which will be finalised for the 2019-2020 training 

programme.  

The LSCB has hosted three workshops this year to share the learning from Serious 

Case Reviews, as this was a priority from the previous year. The attendance for 

these workshops has been lower than we would like, so we are exploring the 

possibility of hosting shorter lunchtime learning sessions in different workplaces to 

Page 158

http://www.rbkc.gov.uk/lscbtraining


 

23 
 

increase the take-up next year.  

Wherever possible, the LSCB has asked local partners to deliver or co-deliver the 

training workshops so that local knowledge and expertise can be shared. For 

example, the delivery of our core training, the ‘Multi-agency Safeguarding and Child 

Protection’ workshop, has been co- delivered by the LSCB trainer and four different 

social workers, three voluntary sector practitioners from Standing Together Against 

Domestic Violence, and one police officer. There has been a reduction in support to 

co-deliver our core workshops from some health partners due to a lack of availability, 

however, we will continue to explore further co-delivery options in the future.  

The LSCB monitors the feedback from LSCB training workshops. At every workshop 

we deliver, we ask delegates to rate the workshop experience, as well as whether 

the learning outcomes have been met.  

 

Delegates are asked to rate their knowledge and understanding of the learning 

outcomes before the workshop and after. They are also asked to rate the training 

experience overall. Below are some quotes from the question “How will this training 

impact on your practice?” and the “Additional Comments” text box from two of the 

core training workshops and one managerial workshop:  

 

Introduction to Safeguarding Children Workshop: 

• By being more aware of signs of abuse by making the environment safer for 

children and to be aware of the local authorities to report to. 

• Allow me to notice signs of concern and act accordingly 

• The knowledge and updated procedures are very key and will help greatly in 

my role. I can transfer the skills to other roles/volunteering roles 

• Keeping vigilant when it comes to the safety of a child. Will be used every day 

when I am working with children - in school and on our site (museum/gallery)  

• More awareness of what to look out for & how to go about reporting it. I run a 

volunteer programme (architects going into school) so key points can also be 

included in their training. 

• Very good & dynamic 

• Great Training 

• Course as a whole was very informative and I would recommend to a 

colleague. 

 

Page 159



 

24 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Multi-agency Safeguarding and Child Protection Workshop: 

• Really useful day to meet other non-health agency workers. I will be sharing 

all this information with my colleagues.  

• The training fulfilled my expectations of refreshing my knowledge in all 

aspects of child protection. It was also good to update my knowledge. 

• Great engaging and informative training really glad I came. 

• Thank you, very good training with loads of relevant information to take back 

to setting. 

• Is great to have such a diverse group to discuss factors with. Very good with 

references and support groups & organisations. Need to see how it works in 

practice. 

• A significant impact on my knowledge and understanding of all aspects of 

safeguarding & referrals. Learning from the presenters but also the 

participants has increased my wider knowledge & understanding, also my 

confidence. 

• Very informative, I feel equipped to take on the role of deputy safeguarding 

lead at school. 

• I felt that the day should be turned on its head. Almost all the important 

information was presented after lunch with a lot to get through in a short 

period of time. A very knowledgeable & charismatic facilitator who held the 

room very well. 

• Some parts of the training were lengthy… would be helpful to be more 

succinct/ concise to keep people's attention.  

 

Meet the LADO 

• Much better awareness of when to refer - if come across where it would be 

relevant to do so. 

• Improve my understanding & confidence in working with the LADO & in-house 

safeguarding team. 

• Awareness of LADO's role and to follow policy/procedure for referral or 

seeking advice. Will be revisiting all London CP procedures. 

 

 

The Learning and Development Subgroup has attempted to monitor the impact of 

the training courses that we deliver via the LSCB training programme, however, this 

has remained a challenge due to the very low numbers of responses that we have 

received. Delegates are asked to share feedback at the end of each workshop about 

how what they’ve learnt will impact on their practice. We also send a smaller number 

of delegates a follow up email survey (via Survey Monkey) to check the impact three 

Page 160



 

25 
 

to six months following their attendance at training. We have noted that still only a 

small percentage of delegates complete this.  

The LSCB Learning and Development Subgroup will challenge this further with line 

managers in 2019-20.  

Future plans:  

In 2019-2020, the Learning and Development Subgroup are keen to support the 

following:  

• Workshops regarding the changes that the local authorities are making to the 

child protection conferences in all three boroughs. 

• Workshops on contextual safeguarding and safeguarding adolescents 

• Workshops on Modern Slavery and Child Trafficking 

• Updating the core ‘Multi-agency Safeguarding and Child Protection’ workshop 

with new scenarios and exercises and updated course handbook.  

In addition, in 2019-2020, the Learning and Development Subgroup will also need to 

review the effectiveness of the current learning management system (LMS) that we 

use for workshop bookings. This new LMS was launched in December 2018 as a 

result of the local authorities purchasing a new cloud-based human resource 

management system. The LSCB training team currently has to coordinate bookings 

across one LMS for Hammersmith & Fulham, and another LMS for the Royal 

Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster which is time consuming. In 

addition, feedback from multi-agency partners suggests that it is not user friendly for 

practitioners to use as they are not directly employed by the local authorities. This 

has had an impact on the numbers of practitioners being able to book or cancel 

training workshops in a timely manner. The new LMS also does not provide the 

LSCB with the data we would like to be able to monitor the take up of safeguarding 

training across the multi-agency workforce.  

 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

The LSCB is responsible for:  

• Collecting and analysing information about each child death with a view to 

identifying: 

o Any case giving rise to the need for a review  

o Any matters of concern affecting the safety and welfare of children in 

the area of the LSCB  

o Any wider public health or safety concerns arising from a particular 

death or from a pattern of deaths in the area. 

• Putting in place procedures for ensuring that there is a coordinated response 

by the authority, their Board partners and other relevant persons to an 

unexpected death.  

Note: The responsibility for determining the cause of death rests with the Coroner or 

the doctor who signs the medical certificate of the cause of death.  

The process for reviewing child deaths includes:  

Page 161



 

26 
 

o an overview of all child deaths up to the age of 18 years (excluding those 

babies that are stillborn and planned terminations of pregnancy carried out 

within the law)  

o A multi-agency rapid response meeting which is convened following an 

unexpected child death in order to make initial enquiries and co-ordinate 

support to the bereaved family.  

 

 

 

 

Attendance at the panel from professionals across the range of core membership 

organisations has generally been very good. There have been difficulties securing 

regular public health representation due to interim staff being in post following the 

disaggregation of the three-borough public health team. In their absence, the panel 

has been chaired by the LSCB Business Manager.  

 

The panel has reviewed child deaths that have occurred across the three local 

authorities, identifying factors that may have contributed to the deaths along with any 

modifiable factors. The timing of the reviews is subject to the number of cases 

relating to a particular theme and other processes such as case reviews, police 

investigations or an inquest occurring.  

 

Child Death Notifications: 

In 2018-19, the CDOP Panel received 40 child death notifications in total, one of 

which was a late notification, identified from Inquest schedules, which was not sent 

to the CDOP by the Coroner at the time of the child’s death in 2016.  

30 of the notifications were for children ordinarily resident across the three local 

authorities, and 10 notifications were about children who normally reside overseas.  

 

Unexpected Child Deaths: 

In 2018-19, a total of 14 deaths (47%) were unexpected and required a rapid 

Modifiable factors are defined as those, 

where, if actions could be taken 

through national or local interventions, 

the risk of future child deaths could be 

reduced.  

Following an unexpected death, a rapid 

response meeting is normally held 

within 5-7 days of the death occurring. 

This is chaired by the Designated 

Paediatrician for Child Death.  

folocborough.  

Page 162



 

27 
 

response meeting to be held. This is a significant increase on previous years.

 

Over half the unexpected deaths in 2018-19 occurred in children over the age of 10 

years, with just under a quarter occurring in infants under 1 year. This is in contrast 

to 2017-18 where 58% of unexpected deaths were in children under 1 year of age.  

 

Learning from child death reviews:  

Relevant learning is cascaded via the health networks in our LSCB area, with the 

intention that learning from local and national child reviews is incorporated into 

practice, training and supervision.  

Trends and learning identified that may have implications nationally are shared 

through the national CDOP network.  

The future of CDOP and transition to new arrangements 

Following the publication of the new ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’ 

in July 2018, and alongside this, new guidance  ‘Child death review: statutory and 

8%

15%

8%

15%31%

23%

Percentage of Unexpected Deaths 
by Age Group 

<28 days 29 -364 days 1 yr - 4 yrs

5 yrs - 9 yrs 10 yrs-14yrs 15 - <18 yrs

Page 163

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/758992/Child_death_review_statutory_and_operational_guidance_England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/758992/Child_death_review_statutory_and_operational_guidance_England.pdf


 

28 
 

operational guidance (England)’ in October 2018, work has been undertaken to help 

shape a new CDOP service covering the eight north west London boroughs, 

including: Brent, Ealing, Harrow, Hillingdon, Hounslow, Hammersmith & Fulham, 

Kensington and Chelsea, and Westminster.  

This is because the new statutory guidance requires CDOPs to cover a geographical 

footprint that would enable a minimum of 60 cases to be reviewed per year. Funding 

was secured from the Early Adopters funding stream from the DfE for a project 

manager to help the eight north west London CDOPs to collaborate and develop this 

new service.  

The above guidance sets out the full process that follows the death of a child who is 
normally resident in England. It builds on the statutory requirements set out in 
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 and clarifies how individual 
professionals and organisations across all sectors involved in the child death review 
process should contribute to reviews. The guidance sets out the process in order to: 

• improve the experience of bereaved families, and professionals involved in 
caring for children 
and  

• ensure that information from the child death review process is 
systematically captured in every case to enable learning to prevent future 
deaths 

The new guidance places an emphasis on the Joint Agency Response, which will 

include home visits by a Child Death Review clinician and senior police officer, as 

well as bereavement support with the introduction of a new key worker role.  

Going forward, CDOP will no longer report directly to the Safeguarding Children 

Partnership, and instead will report to the Local Authorities and Clinical 

Commissioning Groups.  

LSCB Website and Social Media 

The LSCB website statistics show that the most viewed webpages are still the LSCB 

Training Pages and Safeguarding Contacts Pages. Work to update the LSCB 

microsite has been held back due to larger web projects being undertaken in the 

local authority which hosts the pages. However, in 2019-2020, further work is 

planned to reflect the upcoming changes from the LSCB to the new Local 

Safeguarding Children Partnership (with logos being updated) and a scrolling 

carousel of new items on the front page which will signpost visitors to the website to 

updated content.   

Further projects to develop in the upcoming year will be a range of Seven Minute 

Briefings for practitioners, to help share key safeguarding messages to safeguarding 

partners.  

The LSCB maintains a social media presence on Twitter (@LSCBx3). We have 

grown our following to 574 followers and continue to use this platform to amplify 

messages about national safeguarding campaigns such as Safer Internet Day and 

local initiatives such as our One Life, No Knife events for children and young people, 

as well as promoting multi-agency training opportunities.  

Page 164

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/758992/Child_death_review_statutory_and_operational_guidance_England.pdf


 

29 
 

 

Page 165



 

30 
 

Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership and Attendance 

 

LSCB Main Board Attendance 

2018-19 
    

Role 

17th April 

2018 

17th July 

2018 16-Oct-18 22-Jan-19 

LSCB Chair 
y y y y 

Executive Director of Children’s 

Services (Tri and later Bi-borough) y y y y 

Director of Family Services (H&F) 
y y y y 

Director of Family Services (RBKC) 
y y y y 

Director of Family Services (WCC) 
y y y y 

Director of Schools (Asst Director) 
y y y 

y 

(delegate) 

Head of Safeguarding & Quality 

Assurance,  RBKC & WCC y y y y 

Head of Safeguarding & Quality 

Assurance LBHF y y n y 

LSCB Business Manager 
y y y y 

Director of Adults Safeguarding (or rep) 
y y y y 

Housing 
y y n y 

Police Basic Command Unit (BCU) 
y y y y 

Probation 
y y y n 

Community Rehabilitation Company 
n y y y 

Page 166



 

31 
 

CAFCASS 
n n n n 

Prisons 
n n n n 

Ambulance Service 
n n n n 

Voluntary Sector 
n y y y 

Lay member 
y y y y 

NHS England 
n n n n 

Health CCGs 
y y y y 

Designated Doctor  
n n y y 

Designated Nurse 
y n y y 

Head of Safeguarding, CLCH 
n y y y 

CLCH Director of Nursing 
n n n n 

Imperial Director of Nursing 
y y y n 

Chelwest Director of Nursing 
y y n n 

WLMHT/West London NHS Trust 
y n y y 

 

Page 167



 

32 
 

Appendix 2 – LSCB Budget  2018/2019 Outturn           

    LBHF RBKC WCC Total   

  CONTRIBUTIONS           

  
Sovereign Borough General Fund -79,169 -60,740 -77,710 -217,619 

Excluding corporate overhead 
recharges 

  Metropolitan Police -5,000 -10,000 -5,000 -20,000   

  Probation -2,000 -2,000 -2,000 -6,000   

  CAFCASS -550 -550 -550 -1,650   

  London Fire Brigade -500 -1,000 -1,500 -3,000   

  CCGs (Health) -20,000 -20,000 -20,000 -60,000   

  Total Partner Income -28,050 -33,550 -29,050 -90,650   

  Training income -6,956 -6,956 -6,956 -20,867   

  Total Funding -114,175 -101,246 -113,716 -329,136   

  EXPENDITURE           

  Salary expenditure 66,003 66,003 66,003 198,009   

  Independent Chair 5,745 5,745 5,745 17,235   

  Training 1,240 1,240 1,240 3,720   

  Other LSCB costs 877 877 877 2,632   

  Total expenditure 73,865 73,865 73,865 221,596   

  Final outturn variance -40,309 -27,380 -39,850 -107,540   

  BALANCE SHEET           

  Reserves Brought Forward -45,216 -129,650 -81,499 -256,365   

  Adjustment in year           

  Contribution to LSCB balance sheet accounts  -40,309 -27,380 -39,850 -107,540   

  Reserves to take forward -85,525 -157,030 -121,350 -363,905   

  

Notes: All costs to be shared equally between the three boroughs, with the exception of serous case 
review expenditure, if any, which is funded from the LSCB reserves in the relevant local authority. 
       

  
  

       

P
age 168



 

33 
 

Glossary:  

Glossary of terms 

Barnardo’s Taith model A service to raise awareness of harmful sexual behaviours 
and help young people through a structured intervention to 
build a positive future. It aims to reduce offending 
behaviours and provides opportunities for therapeutic 
support.  

CAFCASS Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service 

CAMHs Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

CDOP Child Death Overview Panel: a statutory panel for 
reviewing information on all child deaths, looking for 
possible patterns and potential improvements in services, 
with the aim of preventing future deaths.   

Children Anyone who has not yet reached their 18th birthday. The 
fact that a child has reached 16 years of age, is living 
independently or is in further education, is a member of the 
armed forces, is in hospital or in custody in the secure 
estate, does not change their status or entitlements to 
services or protection. 

Child protection Part of safeguarding and promoting welfare. This refers to 
the activity that is undertaken to protect specific children 
who are suffering, or are likely to suffer, significant harm. 

Child Sexual Exploitation  Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It 
occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of an 
imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a 
child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual 
activity (a) in exchange for something the victim needs or 
wants, and/or (b) for the financial advantage or increased 
status of the perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may have 
been sexually exploited even if the sexual activity appears 
consensual. Child sexual exploitation does not always 
involve physical contact; it can also occur through the use 
of technology. 

Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) 

A clinically-led statutory NHS body responsible for the 
planning and commissioning of health care services for 
their local area.  

Community Rehabilitation 
Company (CRC) 

A private law enforcement agency that works alongside the 
National Probation Service to support offenders to 
complete their probation orders.  

Community Safety Partnership Community Safety Partnerships were set up under the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998. They are made up of 
representatives from the police, local authorities, fire and 
rescue authorities, health and probation services, who 
work together to protect their local communities from crime 
and to help people feel safer. They address issues 
including anti-social behaviour, drug and alcohol misuse 
and re-offending.  

Contextual Safeguarding 
Network 

Network from the University of Bedfordshire that brings 
together practitioners, researchers and policy makers who 
are committed to protecting young people from harm 
outside the home.  
www.contextualsafefuarding.org.uk  
 

Page 169

http://www.contextualsafefuarding.org.uk/


 

34 
 

Co-ordinated Community 
Response 

An inter-agency approach for responding to domestic 
abuse, to help local police, law enforcement agencies, the 
courts and wider community to support victims and 
survivors of domestic abuse.  

DfE Department for Education – central Government 
department. 

Designated Safeguarding Lead A practitioner, usually part of the management team, who 
takes the lead on safeguarding children matters in their 
team/agency. 

Domestic Homicide Review 
(DHR) 

A multi-agency review of the circumstances in which the 
death of a person aged 16 or over has or appears to have 
resulted from violence, abuse or neglect by a person to 
whom they were related, or with whom they were, or had 
been, in an intimate personal relationship, or a member of 
the same household as themselves  

Early Help  Also known as early intervention, is the support given to a 
family when a problem first emerges. It can be provided at 
any stage in a person’s life. Early help services can be 
delivered to parents, children or whole families, but their 
main focus is to improve outcomes for children.  

FGM Female Genital Mutilation – a harmful practice where the 
female genitalia are deliberately cut, injured or changed, 
but there is no medical reason for this to be done.  

GBH Grievous bodily harm 

IDVA Independent Domestic Violence Advisor 

IRIS IRIS is a general practice-based domestic violence and 
abuse (DVA) training support and referral programme, 
including training and education and enhanced referral 
pathway to specialist domestic abuse services.  

IGU  Integrated Gangs Unit: a multi-agency unit, aiming to 
reduce serious youth violence. It consists workers from the 
local authorities, Met Police, Probation and St Giles Trust, 
a mental health nurse and employment coach, working 
together to support young people aged 10-24 who are 
involved in group violence, or on the periphery of gangs. 
The team also works with neighbouring boroughs to tackle 
cross border gang violence. 

LADO Local Area Designated Officer: Local authorities should 
have designated a particular officer, or team of officers to 
be involved in the management and oversight of 
allegations against people who work with children. Any 
such officer, or team of officers, should be sufficiently 
qualified and experienced to be able to fulfil this role 
effectively, for example qualified social workers. 
Arrangements should be put in place to ensure that any 
allegations about those who work with children are passed 
to the designated officer, or team of officers, without delay 

LSCB                                        
                                

Local Safeguarding Children Board – a statutory 
partnership to coordinate the work  

LSCP Local Safeguarding Children Partnership (replaces the 
LSCB from October 2019)  

MARAC Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference: a victim 
focused information sharing, and risk management 
meeting attended by all key agencies, where high risk 
cases domestic abuse cases are discussed.  

Page 170



 

35 
 

MASE Panel Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation Panel: a multi-agency 
panel to develop a strategic overview of child sexual 
exploitation and reduce the risk of harm to children and 
young people at risk.  

MOPAC Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

Multi Agency Safeguarding 
Hub (MASH) 

The MASH is a team made up of co-located staff from 
Children’s Social Care, Police and Health from across the 
three boroughs with links to Probation, Housing and Youth 
Offending Teams. The MASH provides the capacity, skills 
and the practical arrangements to collect, analyse and 
securely store the information held by all partners about 
children and families that is relevant to an assessment of 
safeguarding risk. It does this in defined timescales that 
reflect the level of risk identified.  

Private Fostering 
Arrangements 

Private fostering is an arrangement made where someone 
other than the child’s immediate family is looking after a 
child for longer than 28 days. Examples of private fostering 
situations include: children with parents working or 
studying elsewhere; children whose parents are overseas; 
children on holiday exchanges.  
Private fostering arrangements should be notified to the 
relevant local authority children’s social care team.  

Section 11 Audit A Self-Assessment audit to allow partner agencies to 
demonstrate how they meet key safeguarding standards.  

Serious Case Reviews (SCR) A statutory review, required under Working Together to 
Safeguard Children 2015 when abuse or neglect of a child 
is known or suspected; and (b) either — (i) the child has 
died; or (ii) the child has been seriously harmed and there 
is cause for concern as to the way in which the authority, 
their Board partners or other relevant persons have worked 
together to safeguard the child.  

Safe and Together Model  This child-centred model provides a framework for multi-

agency practitioners to work alongside survivors of 

domestic abuse, and better intervene with perpetrators, in 

order to keep the child/ren safe and together with the non-

abusing parent.  

Safeguarding Partner A safeguarding partner in relation to a local authority area 
in England is defined under the Children Act 2004 (as 
amended by the Children and Social Work Act, 2017) as:  
(a) the local authority  
(b) a clinical commissioning group for an area any part of 
which falls within the local authority area  
(c) the chief officer of police for an area any part of which 
falls within the local authority area.  

Standing Together Against 
Domestic Violence (STADV) 

Standing Together support organisations, including the 
Police, criminal justice partners, social services, healthcare 
workers and charities, to identify and respond effectively 
together to domestic abuse.  

Think Family  A Think Family approach is the steps taken by practitioners 
to identify wider family needs which extend beyond the 
individual they are supporting.  
 

Transitions This Term relates to the transition between children’s and 

Page 171



 

36 
 

adults’ services. Young people may still need support 
when they turn 18. 'Transition' is the period of time when 
young people are moving from childhood into adulthood.  
Services for adults are different from those for children, so 
it's important that young adults get the services they need 
to live a full life.  

Violence Against Women and 
Girls Partnership (VAWG) 

A local strategic partnership that overseas the response to 
domestic abuse and harmful practices such as FGM.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES AND ACTIONS ARISING
	5 Dementia Plan
	05b - DEMENTIA HANDBOOK_V10-6
	05c - DEMENTIA FOLDOUT_V3-3
	05d - Appendix - Dementia Overview Jan 19

	6 Local Account Group Update
	7 NHS Long-Term Plan Response Update
	8 CNWL CAMHS Education and Health Care Plans Update
	08b - CNWL CAMHS Action Plan

	9 Safeguarding Reports
	09b - Safeguarding Adult Executive Board Report_20182019_FINAL
	09c - Cover Note Children's Safeguarding Report
	09d - DRAFT LSCB ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 v4


